

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Rehabilitation Sciences

College of Health Sciences

2020

# BIOPSYCHOLOGICAL PREDICTORS OF PAIN AND FUNCTION IN PATIENTS WITH ROTATOR CUFF CONDITIONS

Nicole Cascia University of Kentucky, cascianicole@gmail.com Author ORCID Identifier: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4600-6849 Digital Object Identifier: https://doi.org/10.13023/etd.2020.243

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

#### **Recommended Citation**

Cascia, Nicole, "BIOPSYCHOLOGICAL PREDICTORS OF PAIN AND FUNCTION IN PATIENTS WITH ROTATOR CUFF CONDITIONS" (2020). *Theses and Dissertations--Rehabilitation Sciences*. 64. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/rehabsci\_etds/64

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the College of Health Sciences at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Rehabilitation Sciences by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

### STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

### **REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE**

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Nicole Cascia, Student Dr. Timothy Uhl, Major Professor Dr. Esther Dupont-Versteegden, Director of Graduate Studies

# BIOPSYCHOLOGICAL PREDICTORS OF PAIN AND FUNCTION IN PATIENTS WITH ROTATOR CUFF CONDITIONS

DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Health Sciences at the University of Kentucky

By

Nicole G. Cascia

Lexington, Kentucky

Co-Directors: Dr. Timothy L. Uhl, Professor of Physical Therapy

and Dr. Carolyn M. Hettrich, Professor of Orthopedics

Lexington, Kentucky

Copyright © Nicole G. Cascia 2020 https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4600-6849

#### ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

#### BIOPSYCHOLOGICAL PREDICTORS OF PAIN AND FUNCTION IN PATIENTS

#### WITH ROTATOR CUFF CONDITIONS

Predicting worse patient-reported outcomes in those with Rotator Cuff (RC) conditions is dependent on examining both biological and psychological impairments. In order to help determine which biopsychological factors are associated with pain and function in patients with RC related conditions and to determine who may be at an increased risk for worse outcomes after Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty (RSA), biopsychological associations between patient demographics, scapular motion, humeral motion, RC tear size, pain associated psychological distress, and function were clinically evaluated to investigate prediction models for pain and function. The central hypothesis is that in a group of patients with symptomatic Cuff Tear Arthropathy (CTA), increased scapular motion and increased psychological distress will predict worse American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon (ASES) pain and function one-year after RSA. In 50 patients with RC tears, we used the pain, function, and the total outcome components of the ASES to examine which biopsychological factors are associated with each component of the ASES score. Additionally, 17 patients with CTA were examined to determine which biopsychological factors predicted each final score of the ASES one year after RSA. The principle finding of this study is that a multivariate approach examining clinical biopsychological factors in patients with RC tears is necessary to better understand clinical components leading to ASES pain, function, and total scores.

KEYWORDS: Rotator cuff, Biopsychological, Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty, Cuff Tear Arthropathy, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon

Nicole G. Cascia

04/17/2020

Date

## BIOPSYCHOLOGICAL PREDICTORS OF PAIN AND FUNCTION IN PATIENTS WITH ROTATOR CUFF CONDITIONS

By

Nicole G. Cascia

Dr. Timothy Uhl Co-Director of Dissertation

Dr. Carolyn Hettrich Co-Director of Dissertation

Dr. Esther Dupont-Versteegden Director of Graduate Studies

04/17/2020

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The following dissertation benefited from the insights and direction of several people. First, my Chair, Dr. Tim Uhl, exemplifies the high-quality scholarship to which I aspire. In addition, Dr. Cale Jacobs and Dr. Nick Heebner provided timely and instructive comments and evaluation at every stage of the process, allowing me to complete this project on schedule. Dr. Philip Westgate was a critical committee member in that he gave perspective to the project that allowed it to reach its greatest potential. Next, I wish to thank Dr. Carolyn Hettrich who supported me in all aspects of the project along with personal and professional support outside of the project. I would also like to thank Dr. Scott Mair for helping support this project. Each individual provided insights that guided and challenged my thinking, substantially improving the finished product.

In addition to the technical and instrumental assistance above, I received equally important assistance from my family and friends. My parents provided on-going support and were essential to the completion of this project. My friends, Travis Scheadler and Izzy Gillis, were supportive and provided me with a helping hand when in need. I would also like to thank Tyler Lemaster for his love, encouragement and patience throughout the entire process. Finally, I wish to thank all subjects involved in my studies who remain anonymous for confidentiality purposes.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS iii
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
Chapter 1. Introduction
1.1 Background 1
Chapter 2. Review of the Literature
2.1 Functional Role of the Rotator Cuff
2.2 The Biopsychological Model
2.3 Psychological Constructs in Orthopaedics
2.4 Biomechanics of the Shoulder Complex
2.5 Surgical Treatment
2.6 Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty Outcomes
Chapter 3. Biopsychological Factors Associated with Worse Pain and Function in Patients with Rotator Cuff Tears
Introduction74
Material and Methods
Results
Discussion
Conclusion
Chapter 4. A Biopsychological Model for Predicting Worse Pain and Function After a Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty for Cuff Tear Arthropathy
Introduction
Methods104
Results
Discussion
Conclusion 124
Chapter 5. Summary 125

Synthesis and Application of Results	127
Appendices	130
Appendix A. Bivariate correlations of independent and dependent variables	130
Appendix B. Shoulder Arthroplasty Therapy	132
References	142
VITA	163

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Study Characteristics	34
Table 2.2 Results for Psychological Predictors of Postoperative Outcomes	40
Table 2.3 Validity of EasyAngle against 3D Motion Analysis	48
Table 2.4 Intra-rater reliability of the EasyAngle	49
Table 2.5 Inter-rater reliability of the EasyAngle	50
Table 3.1 Intra-rater reliability of the EasyAngle	81
Table 3.2 Patient Clinical Characteristics	89
Table 3.3 Final multiple linear regression model for ASES Pain	92
Table 3.4 Final multiple linear regression model for ASES Function	92
Table 3.5 Final multiple linear regression model for ASES Total	93
Table 4.1 Intra-rater reliability of the EasyAngle    1	08
Table 4.2 Patient Clinical Characteristics 1	14
Table 4.3 Final multiple linear regression models for ASES Pain, Function, and Total      Score      1	15

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1 Scapular anterior-posterior tilt measurements during arm flexion task
Figure 3.2 Scapular internal-external rotation measurements during arm flexion task 85
Figure 3.3 Scapular upward-downward rotation measurements during arm flexion task 86
Figure 3.4 Scapular internal-external rotation measurements during shoulder rotation by the side task
Figure 4.1 Scapular upward-downward rotation measurements during arm flexion task

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### 1.1 Background

The prevalence of rotator cuff (RC) tears increases with age and with a rising trend of an ageing population, the importance of research in this area will continue to rise.1 Since the surgical rates of RC repairs has risen 200% over the recent years, it is imperative that research continues to seek out evidence that will inform clinical treatment decisions in this patient population.2,3 If RC tears are left untreated they can lead to glenohumeral osteoarthritis (GHOA) and eventually result in a Cuff Tear Arthropathy (CTA).4,5 Unbalanced muscle forces occur in the presence of a large rotator cuff tear causing progressive degeneration of the articular cartilage and subchondral bone at the glenohumeral joint.6 GHOA is characterized by progressive wear on the glenoid and humeral bone.7 Further degradation of the RC tear results in more serious mechanical disruption at the shoulder joint resulting in CTA.4 Three main descriptive features of CTA are 1) RC insufficiency, 2) glenohumeral articular changes, and 3) superior migration of the humeral head.8 CTA is a painful and debilitating condition that negatively disrupts a patients quality of life. Therefore, monitoring and assessing patients with RC tears at risk for CTA is warranted to optimally manage this chronic condition.

Shoulder motion requires an intricate balance between mobility and stability to achieve functional upper extremity motion.<sup>9</sup> Passive stability is provided by capsuloligamentous structures within the joint while dynamic stability includes the use of muscle-activity, including the RC, to help prevent unbalanced forces.<sup>10,11</sup> This complex

system is necessary for maintaining normal shoulder motion but renders the joint prone to injury and difficult to treat. Preoperative shoulder motion is one major factor that can affect outcomes after surgical repair of the RC.12 Functional recovery after nonoperative or operative treatment is dependent on the current status of shoulder motion which is why it tends to be the focus of rehabilitation regimens.13,14 Motion in the shoulder is not limited to movement of the humerus but also depends on the contribution of scapular motion against the thoracic cage.15 Assessing and quantifying scapular motion is necessary to objectively understand how its multidimensional movement patterns can affect upper extremity function in the presence of a RC tear.

The scapula provides a stable base of support allowing for efficient shoulder function to occur in accordance with coordinated activity of the RC and surrounding muscles.<sup>16</sup> Motion of the scapula during humeral elevation occurs in three planes, 1) coronal, 2) sagittal, and 3) transverse.<sup>17</sup> To quantify triplanar motion of the scapula, 3-Dimensional (3D) biomechanical analysis are most commonly used but these devices are not clinically friendly, require extensive training, and are costly.<sup>17-20</sup> Scapular assessment is clinically used as an indicator for shoulder pathomechanics but is typically assessed in only one or two planes due to limitations in current reliable and valid measurement devices available.<sup>21-28</sup> Visual observation of the scapula is a clinically common reliable method that has been validated against 3-dimensional testing for identifying scapular movement patterns but is limited to a 2-level (yes/no) classification..<sup>29-32</sup> This 2dimensional classification limits the 3-dimensional quantification of scapular motion.

In patients with RC tears, scapular motion has been shown to be directly affected by RC tear size.10,33-35,36,37 Scibek et al. found that as RC tear size increases, so does scapular upward rotation during arm elevation.33 The author suggests this is due to scapular compensation needed to execute arm elevation. Furthermore, the literature supports that scapular compensatory motion exists in patients with symptomatic RC tears compared to those without pain, resulting in greater scapular motion during arm elevation.38,39 Unfortunately, these identified biological measurements of the scapula in patients with RC tears have all been conducted using 3D motion analysis or 3D modeling software. Moreover, these scapular measurements have only been assessed during arm elevation which limits biomechanical understanding of scapular motion to one single arm movement. Clinical data of scapular motion and measurements taken during other important functional arm movements, such as shoulder external rotation, are necessary for a clinician to comprehensively understand how scapular motion contributes to shoulder dysfunction.

Injury to the shoulder due to a RC tear not only alters the anatomical system but also changes an individual's psychology in response to the injury.40,41 Disability of the shoulder due to a RC tear can lead to an inability to do work or perform activities of daily living, such as household tasks, which has further implications on psychological stability.42 The biopsychological model has been supported in the literature as a model that helps guide treatment decisions, inform medical practice, and optimizes outcomes.43-46 Kroner-Herwig et al. used the biopsychological model and found that pain and sex held the highest prognostic values for predicting the recurrence of headaches and back pain in young adults.43 In orthopaedics, it is common that functional outcomes after treatment are limited to measurements of biological functions but this disregards a patient's emotional well-being in regards to their physical activity.47 Patient reported outcome measurement tools are used to quantitatively inform clinicians about the health status of a patient that considers both an individual's biological and psychological state.48

A reliable, valid and responsive outcome measure used in patients with RC related conditions to determine shoulder pain and function is the American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon (ASES) assessment form.49 The ASES contains sections for self-report of pain and functional measures created for patients with shoulder pathologies. 50 In patients with RC conditions, the ASES has acceptable internal consistency (0.64), construct validity (p < 0.05), responsiveness to change (1.16), and acceptable floor (0%) and ceiling effects (0%). Kocher et al also found appropriate criterion validity (p < 0.05) between the total ASES score and the physical functioning, role-physical, and bodily pain domains of the Short Form-12 scale but not with the role-emotional, mental health, vitality, and social function domains.49 In patients undergoing shoulder surgery for a RC tear, the ASES has been preoperatively associated with established psychological assessment forms. Thorpe et als1 reported that ASES scores were significantly worse in patients with low psychological functioning compared to high psychological functioning reported by the Pain Self-Efficacy questionnaire (PSEQ) (p < 0.001), Pain Catastrophizing Scale questionnaire (PCS) (p < 0.001), Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK-11) (p < 0.001), and the Depression Anxiety and Stress Scale (p < 0.001). The author did not report the correlation value, making interpretation of correlation unknown.

Potter et al<sub>52</sub> found preoperative ASES differences (p < 0.001) when comparing between RC patients with and without distress assessed by the Distress and Risk Assessment Method form. Moreover, preoperative ASES scores have been shown to correlate with the physical component score of the Short-Form 36 (rho = 0.405) prior to shoulder arthroplasty.<sup>53</sup>

The experience of pain is shaped by both biological and psychological factors.<sup>54</sup> Pain does not correlate with severity of tear size (p > 0.25) but does negatively impact a patient's ability to maintain normal motion.<sup>55</sup> Unfortunately, the author did not report the correlation value which can make interpretation of correlation difficult. Minagawa et al. screened 664 individuals during a health care check-up and identified two times as many people with an asymptomatic RC tear compared to a symptomatic RC tear.<sup>56</sup> This highlights the complexity of RC conditions and that physical findings should not solely guide clinical decision making. Psychological distress related to pain catastrophizing<sup>51</sup>, fear avoidance beliefs<sup>57</sup>, kinesiophobia<sup>51</sup>, depression<sup>58</sup>, anxiety<sup>58</sup>, and pain self-efficacy<sup>51</sup> have been shown to be associated with lower preoperative patient reported scores but only depression (p < 0.001)<sup>58,59</sup> and anxiety (p = 0.001)<sup>58</sup> have been reported with high significance to predict less improvement in shoulder function after shoulder surgery.<sup>51,52,58-62,63</sup>

While psychological factors have been predictive of preoperative pain and postoperative outcomes in other shoulder injury patient populations, the role of these factors on patients undergoing reverse total shoulder arthroplasty for cuff tear arthropathy has not been assessed. The Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcomes Yellow Flag (OSPRO-YF) form was developed to provide clinicians with a clinical tool used to comprehensively screen psychological impairments that are correlated with musculoskeletal conditions.<sup>63</sup> The OSPRO-YF has been validated to generate 11 painassociated psychological distress scores in patients with musculoskeletal related shoulder pain.<sup>64</sup> These 11 psychological impairments include items taken from previously validated outcome tools for depression (PHQ-9), anxiety (STAI), anger (STAXI), fear avoidance beliefs for physical activity (FABQ-PA), fear avoidance beliefs for work (FABQ-W), pain catastrophizing (PCS), pain related fear of movement (TSK-11), pain related anxiety (PASS-20), pain self-efficacy (PSEQ), rehabilitation self-efficacy (SER), and chronic pain acceptance (CPAQ).<sup>63</sup> To optimize treatment outcomes, the literature supports that it is important to assess each one of these psychological components.

Treatment of RC related conditions is dictated by the patients age, severity of symptoms, radiographic findings, medical comorbidities, and patient characteristics.65 When GHOA is associated with a massive rotator cuff tear, the center of rotation of the joint migrates upward and joint stresses become off-centered leaving the patient with CTA.66 Surgical treatment of CTA has grown in the last decade as surgical options have expanded, and new surgical techniques have been introduced.4 A total shoulder arthroplasty (TSA) is commonly used for patients with an intact rotator cuff, whereas a reverse shoulder arthroplasty (RSA) is reserved for patients with severe GHOA and CTA along with having a considerable amount of pain.4 Improved function after RSA is

typically a secondary goal of the surgical procedure and is less predictably achieved than pain relief.4

RSA was initially proposed in Europe in the 1970's and later re-conceptualized by Grammont in the 1980's.67,68,69 This alternative surgical design reverses the shoulder anatomy by replacing a portion of the proximal humerus with a concave polyethylene socket and then implanting a half globe metal ball into the glenoid socket.<sup>70</sup> The Food and Drug Administration did not approve RSAs as a surgical option in the United States until 2003.71 Since the approval, indications for RSA have continued to expand and include various degrees of cuff deficiency along with inflammatory arthritis, fracture sequelae, failed hemiarthroplasty, and infection.70 The 2011 Nationwide Inpatient Sample dataset reported 21,692 RSA cases out of the 66,485 patients who underwent a shoulder arthroplasty in that year.71 RSA is currently a well-established and effective surgical treatment for CTA since it addresses arthritis on both humeral and glenoid sides of the joint. Recent systematic reviews have found that long-term studies in general will report significant improvements in shoulder range of motion and patient reported function after RSA for CTA but each study has described clinical impairments in their results.72,73 For example, 5 of the 7 studies reported by Ernstbrunner et al failed to restore shoulder external range of motion postoperatively.72 Petrillo et al reported complications at 17.4% after RSA and were due to multiple factors such as prosthetic loosening, fractures, and dislocations.73

#### Problem

Predicting worse patient-reported outcomes in those patients' undergoing RSA for CTA is dependent on examining both biological and psychological impairments. The ability to measure scapular motion objectively in the clinic is novel and potentially impacts patient-reported outcomes in patients with RC tears or CTA. The literature has failed to assess critical psychological constructs of pain related anxiety, pain related anger, self-efficacy associated with physical rehabilitation, and behavioral aspects of coping with pain in those with RC tears. Moreover, psychological constructs have not been preoperatively examined in patients undergoing RSA for CTA to help with predicting worse patient-reported outcomes. The inadequate clinical assessment of painassociated psychological factors and lack of clinical measures in scapular motion makes it difficult to determine which biopsychological factors are more associated with pain or function thus making prediction of outcomes difficult for clinicians who treat patients with CTA. In order to help determine which biopsychological factors are associated with pain and function in patients with RC related conditions and to determine who may be at an increased risk for worse outcomes after RSA, biopsychological associations between patient demographics, scapular motion, humeral motion, RC tear size, pain associated psychological distress, and function need to be clinically evaluated to investigate prediction models for pain and function. This research project is designed to investigate these gaps.

#### Specific Aims and Hypotheses

In patients with RC tears, we will use the pain, function, and the total outcome components of the ASES to examine which biopsychological factors are associated with each component of the ASES score. Additionally, in those patients with CTA, we will assess which biopsychological factors predict each component of the ASES one year after RSA. The overall objective was to examine clinical biopsychological impairments and their role on pain and function in patients with small to massive RC tears to then help investigate prediction models for reporting worse pain and function one-year after RSA for CTA. The central hypothesis was that in a group of patients with symptomatic CTA, increased scapular motion and increased psychological distress would predict worse patient-reported shoulder pain and function one-year after RSA. To test our central hypothesis, the following specific aims were conducted.

# Specific Aim 1: Examine the association between clinical biopsychological impairments with pain, function, and total ASES score.

This aim will test three hypotheses: 1) the combination of increased scapular anterior tilt during an arm flexion task and increased FABQ-PA will be significantly associated with lower ASES pain scores, indicating more pain 2) the combination of increased scapular upward rotation during an arm flexion task and decreased scapular external rotation during shoulder rotation by the side task will be significantly associated with lower ASES function scores, indicating worse function 3) the combination of increased scapular upward rotation during an arm flexion task and increased FABQ-PA scores will be significantly associated with lower total ASES scores, indicating worse

pain and function. Significant findings suggest that in patients with a rotator cuff tear, physical and psychological factors are critical in explaining patient reported pain and function than a single factor. These results can then be used by health care providers to perform a more comprehensive examination of patients function that includes both psychological screening and clinical assessment of scapular motion to better examine a patients health status.

Separate multiple linear regressions with a forward stepwise approach will be used to determine which combination of the factors will be most associated with patient reported pain, function, and total ASES scores. A significant association between FABQ-PA and ASES pain scores would indicate that a patient's fear avoidance behaviors of physical activity can directly influence how pain is experienced. Higher psychological distress can have negative implications in how well a patient responds to treatment. An initial treatment of behavioral therapy may help in reducing the amount of pain reported but future studies would be needed to determine this. A significant association between scapular motion compensation and ASES function scores would indicate that scapular motion contributes to the level of function a patient with a rotator cuff tear is reporting. Thus, clinical scapular motion should be considered a principal evaluative tool which has not been previously. As ASES scores are often used to represent a patient's level of function both pre and post-operatively, identifying these relationships will begin to indicate the role biopsychological factors have on patient reported pain and function at any time point. The outcome of this aim will support the use of clinically examining both physical and psychological factors along with guiding future research in the application of a biopsychological focused treatment approach to improve pain and function.

# Specific Aim 2: Investigate a biopsychological model for predicting worse pain, function, and total ASES score one-year after RSA for CTA.

The goal of the second aim is to establish which preoperative clinical biopsychological factors will predict patients who report worse pain, function, and total ASES scores one-year after RSA. This aim will test the following hypotheses: 1) increased FABO-PA at initial evaluation will be most predictive of worse ASES pain scores, 2) increased scapular upward rotation at initial evaluation during an arm flexion task will be most predictive of worse ASES function scores, and 3) the combination of increased scapular upward rotation during an arm flexion task and FABO-PA at initial evaluation will be predictive of worse total ASES scores one-year after RSA. Since it is the patient's subjective impression of their health status that is most important to the success of treatment it was decided that the ASES assessment score at 1 year would be most appropriate to use. A multiple linear regression will be utilized to determine which variables significantly contribute to reporting worse pain and functional outcomes oneyear after RSA. Our biopsychological prediction model will allow physicians to adequately make clinical decisions and tailor preoperative treatment according to the severity of the pathology, pathomechanics, and psychological state of the patient. Surgical intervention certainly is impactful on patients but determining success or failure without better understanding the role of a patients physical and psychological well-being may not tell the complete story of a poor or successful surgical outcome in the eyes of the patient. Furthermore, our prediction model will be used to guide future intervention studies by providing researchers with specific biological and psychological impairments

that need to be addressed prior to surgery in order to improve postoperative functional outcomes.

#### **Operational Definitions**

Biopsychological model: A perspective in which the study of the interconnection between physical features and human behavior is sought to understand their role on health and disease.

Biological: Physical factors that include rotator cuff tear size, range of motion of the scapula and the humerus in multiple planes.

Psychological: Behavioral factors that include depression, trait anxiety, anger, fear-avoidance beliefs for physical activity, fear-avoidance beliefs for work, pain catastrophizing, pain-related fear of movement, pain-related anxiety, pain selfefficacy, self-efficacy for rehabilitation, chronic pain acceptance behavior.

Percent scapular motion: The amount of scapular motion contributing to total arm elevation calculated by dividing degrees of scapular motion by degrees of arm elevation.

<u>Cuff Tear Arthropathy (CTA):</u> The combination of rotator cuff insufficiency, glenohumeral joint degeneration, and superior migration of the humeral head as evidence by radiographic or MRI findings.4

Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty: Prosthesis designed to medially transfer the center of rotation of the humerus and lengthen the deltoid.74 Key design elements:

1) Medially glenosphere

#### 2) Lateralized humeral component

#### Assumptions

It will be assumed that:

- 1. All clinical measurements taken used the same techniques throughout each time point
- All participants were truthful in their responses to the patient reported outcome measure, The American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons assessment form
- 3. Assumptions associated with a multiple linear regression analysis

#### Limitations

- 1. No randomization of participants
- 2. Limited sample size

#### Delimitations

- 1. Participants were taken from a sample convenience at an outreach orthopaedic clinic
- 2. One surgeon used the same surgical technique with all operative patients
- The use of a single prosthetic design consisting of a medialized glenosphere with a lateralized humeral component
- 4. Each RC tear was measured by a single musculoskeletal radiologist specialist
- 5. No strength measurements were use in any of the prediction equations

# Chapter 2: Review of the Literature Introduction

Rotator cuff conditions are considered one of the main underlying issues in elderly patients with shoulder pain and can lead to significant functional limitations.5,75,76 The literature has highlighted the importance of evaluating physical and psychological components in the management of rotator cuff related disorders.76-80 However, there are important physical and psychological measurements that still have not been clinically addressed in this patient population thus limiting the effectives of the examination process. The purpose of this literature review is to 1) describe the role of the rotator cuff muscle group for arm function, 2) discuss current evidence regarding how scapular kinematics are measured and affected by a rotator cuff condition, 3) explain the biopsychological model and how it relates to a critical patient reported outcome measure, the American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons assessment form, 4) report existing research pertaining to currently known psychological constructs that are associated with patient reported outcomes in individuals who have rotator cuff related conditions, and 5) describe the epidemiology, indications for surgery, biomechanical effects, and surgical outcomes of a Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty in patients preoperatively diagnosed with cuff tear arthropathy.

#### 2.1 Functional Role of the Rotator Cuff

The rotator cuff (RC) is a group of four different muscles that each contribute to the dynamic stability of the glenohumeral (GH) joint.10 These four muscles include the supraspinatus, infraspinatus, teres minor, and subscapularis.81 Their attachments begin on the scapula and insert onto the humerus. When functioning properly, the RC assists in

rotating the humerus with the help of the deltoid and other surrounding muscles to allow for functional arm movements.<sup>82</sup> This force coupling mechanism acts to draw the humeral head toward the glenoid to optimize deltoid force while the arm is abducting.<sup>83</sup> Moreover, the RC helps inhibit GH joint superior translation, activates before global muscles to allow for joint stability, and contributes to joint compression.<sup>84</sup> During frontal plane arm elevation the humerus will elevate and progressively externally rotate while the scapula is upwardly rotating, posteriorly tilting, and externally rotating. Since there is no single fixed center of rotation (COR) of the GH joint, the RC must continuously work together to neutralize forces.<sup>10</sup> A biomechanical study found that the direction and force applied by the RC muscle group is dependent on the position of the arm in space.<sup>10</sup> For example, Otis et al determined that during arm elevation the supraspinatus facilitates abduction and then external rotation at 60 degrees of arm elevation.<sup>85</sup>

#### Dysfunction of the Rotator Cuff

RC related disorders are one of the main underlying issues contributing to shoulder pain and dysfunction.<sup>76</sup> In an in-vivo study measuring compression of the RC, subjects were instructed to hold a 1-kg weight during arm elevation.<sup>86</sup> The results demonstrated that the amount of subacromial pressure on a RC was 1.5 times greater when the arm was in a high angle elevated position compared to at mid-range and by the side.<sup>86</sup> These mechanical features are important to understand and consider during clinical examination of a patient with shoulder pain and dysfunction that may be due to dysfunction in the RC. The supraspinatus and infraspinatus are reported as the most commonly injured RC muscles.<sup>87</sup> When lesions occur in these muscles, cadaveric studies

found that distribution of load across the shoulder will change.<sup>10</sup> A few studies in patients with RC tears found that the upper trapezius (UT) was overactive.<sup>83,88,89</sup> An overactive UT can cause excessive scapular upward rotation which then results in superior translation of the GH joint's COR, thus leading to impingement of the RC.<sup>83,88,89</sup> Therefore, this may explain why increased scapular upward rotation is observed in the presence of a RC lesion.

If a partial thickness tear exists, the tendon is predisposed to further damage and is at an increased risk for progressing into a full-thickness tear.90 This progression further compromises the stability of the GH joint and will lead to superior translation of the humeral head.91,92 Superior migration is a critical biomechanical consequence that can be found radiographically and is a sign for RC deficiency.93-95 Keener et al determined that a tear size >175 mm2 had a very strong correlation ( $r = 0.98 \pm 1.8$ ) with superior humeral head migration when compared to <175 mm2 ( $r = -0.08 \pm 1.3$ ).39

#### Magnetic Resonance Imaging of the RC

Evaluating the integrity of a RC is commonly conducted using Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) due to its capabilities in multiplanar imaging and contrasting of the soft-tissue.96 An MRI assists in measuring various characteristics associated with a tear to the RC such as determining dimensions of the tear, thickness, retraction and shape.97 All of these characteristics can influence treatment decisions and help surgeons determine if a tear is repairable.4 Furthermore, MRI's can also be used to assess osseous abnormalities in the presence of a RC tear which can change the route of treatment.98 A large systematic review and meta-analysis in 2015 determined the diagnostic accuracy of MRI's in the characterization of RC disorders.<sup>99</sup> Results indicated that the sensitivity for full-thickness or partial tear diagnoses ranged between 0.84-0.96, while specificity ranged between 0.84-0.95.<sup>99</sup> These findings help support the use of an MRI in the diagnosis of any RC tear size. In the presence of a massive RC tear or cuff tear arthropathy that constitutes surgical correction, important aspects for planning preoperative procedures include examining the severity of the RC tear, articular cartilage, and fatty infiltration of the RC muscles on an MRI.<sup>100</sup>

#### Cuff Tear Arthropathy

Cuff tear arthropathy (CTA) encompasses structural pathological characteristics of the GH joint that result from a dysfunctional RC.<sup>101</sup> One of the three main key physical features that characterizes CTA is superior migration of the humeral head.<sup>4</sup> The other two features include glenohumeral osteoarthritis and an irreparable RC.<sup>4</sup> CTA was initially described by these characteristics in 1983 by Neer et al.<sup>102</sup> He proposed that after a large RC tear, biomechanical factors within the shoulder are changed and eventually lead to degeneration of the GH joint.<sup>102</sup> Unbalanced forces between the dynamic stabilizers of the deltoid and RC muscles are the primary mechanical factors leading to osteoarthritic changes and superior migration associated with CTA.<sup>4</sup> These structural changes provide clinicians with parameters for accurate diagnosis followed by helping to make appropriate decisions for route of treatment.

Although a patient may present with these structural changes, other clinical factors should be involved in the evaluation of a patient with symptomatic CTA since multiple factors influence the assessment and management of a shoulder condition.<sup>103</sup>

Moreover, age, symptoms, activity level, and available shoulder motion should also be considered when attempting to influence care in this patient population.8 Risk factors for CTA that have been reported in the literature include being a female104, advanced age56, high shoulder activity105, shoulder trauma106, and smoking107. Schumaier et al previously noted that it is not always clear which factors are the most critical when deciding treatment measures for CTA.108 However, the literature has suggested that psychological and social factors are just as critical as physical measurements when deciphering treatment options.

#### 2.2 The Biopsychological Model

The interrelationship of physical conditions and psychological factors is complex. The biopsychological model is a multidimensional approach to holistically understand a patient's health and help predict health status.<sup>43-45,109</sup> For example, Kroner-Herwig et al used this model to predict headaches and backpain in young adults.<sup>43</sup> The impetus of this model is to move away from a simple disease or biomedical model and transition towards a more comprehensive and patient-oriented approach when assessing a health condition. It is widely accepted that multiple physical and psychological avenues can influence an individual's health status. This is a more realistic model for healthcare providers to use within an orthopaedic or rehabilitation practice to contribute to the understanding and treatment of an individual's health condition.

More recently within the shoulder orthopaedic literature, there has been an emphasis placed on health-related quality of life and a patient's psychological status as these factors can influence course of treatment.<sub>61,110-114</sub> A psychologically informed

practice in which patients are pre-surgically screened for psychological conditions is recommended by The United States Preventative Services Task Force for patients undergoing back surgery and we believe should also be recommended for patients prior to undergoing shoulder surgery.<sup>115</sup> Biological and psychological factors can be clinically assessed but this model has yet to be utilized as a means for better understanding the complex relationship between physical and psychological factors in patients with RC tears. It is crucial that clinicians within orthopaedic and rehabilitation practices utilize reliable, valid, and responsive patient reported outcome questionnaire's and screening tools that are meaningful to the decision-making process.

#### Patient Reported Outcome Measure

The patients perspective plays a crucial part during a health assessment and will greatly influence the impact of treatment.<sup>116</sup> Patient reported outcome (PRO) measures are used by clinicians to help assess activity limitations and participation restrictions rated by the patient.<sup>117,118</sup> They are also commonly used to detect short and long-term changes in symptoms and functional disability, which in turn can help improve the efficiency of treatment.<sup>119</sup> Healthcare providers who administer PROs allow the patient to feel more involved in their treatment since the perspectives of their function are being recorded as an interest to the provider.<sup>120</sup> The importance of using reliable and valid self-assessment outcome measures has continued to increase as greater emphasis is placed on patient satisfaction and quality of life outcomes after surgical interventions.<sup>121</sup>

Objective measures of range of motion (ROM) and strength are traditionally used to determine the impact of a shoulder condition on functional capacities but more

research is supporting the use of PROs as an outcome measure that is more relevant and reflective of a patients functional capacity.122 A study by Harreld et al in patients undergoing shoulder arthroplasty assessed objective and subjective clinical measures and found little correlation with how a patient perceives their function and how they objectively perform when measuring ROM and strength.53 Since structural integrity of the RC and a patient's physical presentation have been shown to not always correlate, it is imperative to assess the patients subjective experience using a PRO.123 In patients with a RC condition it is important that the outcome measure includes shoulder-specific questions. Efforts were made early on by the Research Committee of the American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons to standardized measures of patient reported shoulder outcomes through the development of the American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon (ASES) assessment form in 1993.50,124

#### The American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon form

The ASES is reliable, valid and responsive in patients with RC tears.<sup>49</sup> The popular use of ASES is further supported by previous literature that investigated the use of the ASES and reported it as one of the most frequently utilized scoring systems for the shoulder in North America and Europe.<sup>117</sup> The ASES assesses patient-rated shoulder pain and function in which the higher the score, the more functional the patient is said to be.<sup>125</sup> Psychometric properties of this assessment form are imperative to recognize prior to use. For example, the test-retest reliability of the ASES was assessed and found to be good with an ICC of 0.94, placing confidence in using the questionnaire overtime.<sup>49</sup> For patients with RC conditions, the ASES has acceptable internal consistency (0.64),

construct validity (p < 0.05), acceptable responsiveness to change (1.16), and acceptable floor (0%) and ceiling effects (0%).49 Furthermore, appropriate criterion validity (p < 0.05) between the total ASES score and the physical functioning, role-physical, and bodily pain domains of the Short Form-12 scale have been determined.49

The form can be administered within 5 minutes and consists of two main subscales of the total score that are able to be scored separately: 1) Pain and 2) Function.125,126 Pain is scored by a visual analogue scale (VAS) ranging from 0 (no pain at all) to 100 (pain as bad as it can be).126 The second subscale is an assessment of reported function which asks a list of 10 questions pertaining to common daily activities. These questions are rated on a 4-point Likert scale from 0-3 by the patient based on their ability to complete the activities. A 0 indicates an inability to do the activity, reporting a 1 indicates that the activity is very difficult to perform, a 2 is indicative of the activity being somewhat difficult, and a 3 represents no difficulty in the ability to do the activity.126 The 10 functional questions include: 1) Put on a coat, 2) Sleep on your painful or affected side, 3) Wash back/do up bra in back, 4) Manage toileting, 5) Comb hair, 6) Reach a high shelf, 7) Lift 10 lbs above shoulder, 8) Throw a ball overhead, 9) Do usual work, and 10) Do usual sport.126

The total score of the ASES consists of adding both the pain and function subscale together with a maximum total score of 100.126 Each subscale is calculated to be weighted at 50% of the total score.126 The pain subscale is scored by dividing the patients score by 2 and then subtracting that number from 50.126 For example, a patient who reports a 100 on the VAS scale would receive a 0 after calculating the pain score, denoting the highest level of pain. The final pain score will equal a score between 0-50.

The function subscale is scored by adding each of the 10 functional questions relating to the ability to complete an activity and multiplying the score by  $5/3_{rds.126}$  The final functional score will equal a score between 0-50.126 For example, a patient who reports a 0 (inability to do activity) on all 10 questions would receive an overall score of 0, indicating complete functional disability.

The ASES score is used frequently with surgical patients, including those who are undergoing a shoulder arthroplasty, to determine changes in pain and functional outcomes.117,127-130 A study by Wong et al used the pain and function subscales of the ASES preoperatively to predict outcomes after shoulder arthroplasty.131 The authors determined that patients who reported lower preoperative pain and function scores were more likely to have larger changes in their ASES outcome scores postoperatively.131 In 67 patients with RC tears, Piitulainen et al observed wide variations in ASES scores ranging between 12-82.112 These patients age ranged between 41-61 years old (average 54) and 57% were male. When the shoulder is functionally disabled, such as with a symptomatic RC tear, it is known that physical aspects may not be the only factors affected but also mental and social aspects. This may contribute to the wide range in reporting of ASES outcome scores and is important that physicians are aware of the multiple influencing factors in patients with RC tears. Future studies need to focus on determining these relationships and comprehensively characterizing patients who report low function versus higher function to optimize treatment outcomes.112

Ferreira Neto et al found that CTA negatively effects pain and function when assessed by the ASES.<sup>76</sup> This is currently the only study to cross-sectionally compare quality of life (QOL) (SF-12), function (ASES), and pain (VAS) in patients with CTA

and recruit age- and sex-matched asymptomatic participants for comparison. These authors found significant differences between groups in pain (p < 0.001), ASES function (p < 0.001), and QOL (p < 0.001). But interestingly, the study did not find significant differences in mental health scores assessed by the SF-12 mental component score (p =0.109). The authors suggest the non-significance observed in mental status may be the result of the complex and individualized nature of psychological distress. A debilitating disease such as CTA is more likely to negatively affect shoulder pain and function but psychological distress may be characterized more by an individual's life experiences. The authors did not attempt to correlate mental status scores with pain, function, or QOL which may could be used to help determine if this relationship exists in patients diagnosed with CTA. Understanding how these factors relate will begin to explain how they can affect one another.

#### The Experience of Pain

Pain is a subjective experience and although it is related to physical processes, individuals react to pain in various ways which is shaped by a host of psychological factors related to their experiences.<sup>54</sup> For example, there is evidence that suggests anxiety can alter pain thresholds thus predisposing a patient to experiencing pain more often.<sup>132,133</sup> Since chronic pain itself can cause or intensify anxiety, a perpetual cycle begins, which can significantly impact the course and management of chronic conditions such as shoulder osteoarthritis or CTA.<sup>132</sup> Moreover, pain acceptance has been suggested to play a crucial role in how patients cope with chronic pain.<sup>134</sup> In a cohort of 393 subjects with an atraumatic full-thickness RC tear, Dunn et al found that the amount of tendon retraction, tendons involved, and fatty infiltration of the supraspinatus were not associated with pain.55 This study shows that pain does not necessarily correlate with the severity of tissue damage. Moreover, Wylie et al examined mental health, pain, and function in patients with full-thickness RC tears and concluded that mental health has a stronger association with pain and function than the RC tear itself.135 A qualitative study analyzed the knowledge of general practitioners on psychological and social factors and found that general practitioners often miss detecting anxiety, depression and social factors in patients with shoulder conditions, such as osteoarthritiis.136

Thus, understanding the role of psychological distress, pain coping behaviors, and other psychosocial factors on patient pain and symptoms both prior to and following shoulder surgery is critical for orthopaedic surgeons during their clinical evaluation in order to optimize patient outcomes. There is a need for research to design comprehensive studies that include physical measures, psychological distress and pain in patients with common shoulder conditions such as RC tears. Capturing and evaluating these relationships will provide better understandings of patient outcomes and benefit future clinical practice guidelines.

#### Psychological Effects of Chronic Shoulder Pain

The ability to appropriately screen patients and recognize specific psychological constructs will allow orthopaedic and rehabilitation healthcare professionals to better refer and manage chronic pain conditions in the shoulder. Healthcare professionals who

treat patients with shoulder pain need to have a thorough understanding of common psychological impairments associated with musculoskeletal related shoulder pain, especially when considering surgical versus conservative treatment options. Chronic orthopaedic conditions such as, GHOA or cuff tear arthropathy (CTA), are highly debilitating and can impact the overall well-being of an individual due to the degenerative nature of the pathology.66,137-139 It has been reported that patients perceive the impact of shoulder osteoarthritis as comparable with systemic chronic medical conditions such as diabetes, myocardial infarctions and heart failure.140 A phenomenological study found that symptomatic RC tears had negative impacts on patients reported emotional, work, and social quality of life.42 Placing an emphasis on imaging and diagnosis alone may do little to address the prevention of persistent and progressive shoulder conditions.136 In a cohort of 393 patients diagnosed with an atraumatic rotator cuff tear, painful symptoms were not correlated with RC tear size.55 This highly suggests that there is a need for orthopaedic clinical practice to embrace broader principles other than physical attributes alone. As increasing evidence in the orthopaedic literature finds that disability correlates more with psychological factors, there is an increase interest in clinically measuring psychological correlates preoperatively to determine if there are risk factors for poor postoperative outcomes.<sup>112</sup>

#### 2.3 Psychological Constructs in Orthopaedics

The Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcomes Yellow-Flag (OSPRO-YF) assessment tool was developed as a systematic way for clinicians to identify 11 common pain-related psychological constructs in patients with symptomatic musculoskeletal conditions.<sup>63</sup> Psychological constructs are screened and identified as yellow flags. The literature describes yellow flags as psychological risk factors associated with disability.<sup>63,141-145</sup> The OSPRO-YF informs treatment making decisions and can guide treatment monitoring for patients determined to be at high risk for poor outcomes. The ability to comprehensively screen patients by including specific psychological constructs will allow orthopaedic physicians to better refer and manage RC tear related musculoskeletal pain.<sup>47</sup> Furthermore, this comprehensive approach can ultimately influence an orthopaedic surgeon's decision to perform surgery. We describe the 11 psychological constructs of the OSPRO-YF and reviewed the literature to determine which psychological constructs are currently the most discriminant of patient outcomes 6 months to 2-years after surgery for those with a preoperative diagnosis of a RC related condition.

#### Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcomes – Yellow Flag

The OSPRO-YF assessment tool has been validated in a cohort of patients with musculoskeletal conditions and comprises of 17 questions that allows for accurate prediction of 11 different psychological constructs spanning across 3 psychological domains which include 1) negative mood, 2) fear avoidance, and 3) positive affect/coping.64 The 17 questions provide 85% accuracy for assessing the 11 psychological constructs generated through an itemized reduction of 136 questions from 10 different validated questionnaires. These questionnaires include the 1) Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ), 2) State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI), 3) State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory (STAXI), 4) Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire for physical
activity (FABQ-PA) and 5) work (FABQ-W), 6) Pain Catastrophizing Scale (PCS), 7) Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK-11), 8) Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale (PASS-20), 9) Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire (PSEQ), 10) Self-Efficacy for Rehabilitation Outcome Scale (SER), and the 11) Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire (CPAQ).63

Each one of these questionnaires was originally created as a result of clinical and research psychologists observing specific patient quality of life complaints relating to their chronic painful conditions. These conditions were associated with general health diseases such as cardiovascular conditions or musculoskeletal diseases. Examples of quality of life complaints include indicating fear of movement, unable to return to work due to condition or anxiety related to pain. Therefore, clinicians and researchers with a scope in psychology determined that there was a need to assess these psychological symptoms via questionnaires in patients with chronic pain condition. These psychological questionnaires have the ability to comprehensively assess potential limitations in progression of relief from symptoms. Treating clinicians will then be able to intervene on these prespecified psychological symptoms and hopefully improve quality of life. Relationships between chronic pain conditions and function have already been established in the literature but the main focus has been in the low back pain literature when it comes to the utilization of these questionnaires. The creators of the OSPRO-YF have validated their questionnaire to assess patients with musculoskeletal pain conditions in the neck, shoulder, back and legs but to date has not been examined in a surgical population.146

The 11 psychological constructs include 1) depression (PHQ), 2) trait anxiety (STAI), 3) anger (STAXI), 4) fear-avoidance believes for physical activity (FABQ-PA),

5) fear-avoidance believes for work (FABQ-W), 6) pain catastrophizing (PCS), 7) painrelated fear of movement (TSK-11), 8) pain-related anxiety (PASS-20), 9) pain selfefficacy (PSEQ), 10) rehabilitation self-efficacy (SER), and 11) chronic pain acceptance (CPAQ).<sub>63</sub> Higher scores on the PHQ, STAI, STAXI, FABQ-PA, FABQ-W, PCS, TSK-11, and PASS-20 indicate elevated symptoms related to the specific psychological construct being assessed.<sub>63</sub> Higher scores on the PSEQ, SER, and CPAQ are indicative of lower levels of psychological symptoms.<sub>63</sub> Scoring of the questionnaire may consist of 11 different numerical values indicating the existence of a yellow flag. The numeric values, established by the creators of the OSPRO-Y, specify if a patient has scored high or low enough to present with a yellow flag. Yes or no responses may also be outputted after complete numerical scoring of the OSPRO-YF. The purpose of the OSPRO-YF is not to diagnose psychological conditions such as depression, but rather to allow health care providers to screen for them. Each of the individual constructs of the OSPRO-YF are described below.

# **Psychological Scales of the OSPRO-YF**

# Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)

The PHQ-9, part of the OSPRO-YF negative mood domain, is a reliable and valid measurement tool for determining symptoms of depression.<sup>147</sup> Levels of depression severity are ranked minimal, mild, moderate, moderately severe, and severe depression.<sup>147</sup> The questionnaire consists of 9 items with a potential score ranging from 0 to 27, with higher scores indicating elevated depressive symptoms.

#### State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI)

The STAI has two subscales, state and trait, that have been shown to accurately measure anxiety in geriatric populations.<sup>148,149</sup> The trait portion of the subscale was utilized in the item reduction of the OSPRO-YF to assess symptoms related to dispositional (trait) anxiety and is a part of the negative mood domain.<sup>63</sup> Trait anxiety refers to a steady tendency in responding to environmental stimulus as threatening.<sup>150</sup> This is in contrast to state anxiety where there is a transitory emotional state consisting of apprehension and nervousness. The higher the trait anxiety, the more likely an individual will experience increased elevations in state anxiety during a threatening situation which is why it is important to assess trait anxiety.<sup>148</sup> The trait portion of the STAI consists of 20 items with a potential score ranging from 20 to 80, with higher scores indicating elevated anxiety levels.<sup>150</sup>

### State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory (STAXI)

The STAXI contains two subscales, state and trait, in which the trait portion was utilized in the item reduction to assess symptoms related to dispositional anger.<sup>151</sup> The STAXI is included in the OSPRO-YF negative mood domain.<sup>63</sup> This questionnaire is commonly used in anger management programs and has been shown to be reliable in the assessment of self-reported anger experience and expression.<sup>151,152</sup> The trait portion of the STAXI consists of 10 items with a potential score ranging from 10 to 40, with higher scores indicating elevated levels of anger.<sup>63</sup> *Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire for physical activity (FABQ-PA) and work* (*FABQ-W*)

The Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire (FABQ) consists of the FABQ-PA and FABQ-W portions which were separate constructs during the development of the OSPRO-YF and were both part of the fear avoidance domain.<sup>63</sup> The FABQ was created by Waddell et al in 1993 to clinically assesses fear-avoidance beliefs about physical activity and work specific to low back pain.<sup>153</sup> The literature highly supports the idea that fear-avoidance beliefs may be a powerful psychological factor in chronic pain thus inspiring the development of the FABQ for routine clinical use.<sup>153</sup> The FABQ-PA consists of 4 items with a possible score ranging from 0 to 24 while the FABQ-W consists of 7 items with a potential score ranging from 0 to 42.<sup>63</sup> Higher scores indicate increased levels of fear-avoidance beliefs for both subscales. The FABQ was modified by the creator of the OSPRO-YF to assess patients with neck, shoulder, and knee conditions by replacing the word back with the desired body region.<sup>63</sup> Good correlations were found between the FABQ and painful anatomic regions during the OSPRO-YF validation study.<sup>63</sup>

# Pain Catastrophizing Scale (PCS)

The PCS is a part of the OSPRO-YF fear avoidance domain and assesses the amount of exaggerated negative thoughts toward an actual or anticipated pain experience along with catastrophic thoughts related to musculoskeletal pain.<sup>154</sup> Pain catastrophizing has been shown to correlate with worse treatment responses in patients with chronic pain

conditions providing good prognostic value.<sup>154</sup> The PCS has been validated and consists of 13 items with a possible score ranging between 0 to 52.<sup>154</sup> Higher scores indicate increased levels of pain catastrophizing.<sup>63</sup>

# Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK-11)

The TSK-11 assesses the degree of fear of movement and injury or reinjury and is a part of the OSPRO-YF fear avoidance domain.<sup>63</sup> Kinesiophobia, excessive fear of movement resulting from feeling vulnerable to a painful injury, has been identified as an important component of chronic pain due to associations with depression and anxiety.<sup>155</sup> The TSK is most commonly used to determine changes in fear of movement throughout patient care and after a fear-based intervention.<sup>155,156</sup> The questionnaire consists of 11 items with a potential score ranging from 11 to 44.<sup>156</sup> Higher scores indicate greater fear of movement and injury or reinjury due to pain.<sup>63</sup>

## Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale (PASS-20)

The PASS-20 is a reliable and valid assessment tool for determining pain-related anxiety in patients with chronic pain and is a part of the OSPRO-YF fear avoidance domain.63 The psychometric properties of the PASS and its clinical utility have been well established to predict pain and anxiety contribution to physical function.157 Research has demonstrated that a decrease in pain-related anxiety predicts an improvement in treatment in patients with low back pain.158 Furthermore, research in anxiety disorders have shown that avoiding fearful physical situations may lead to maintaining anxiety as a result of disuse patterns.158 The PASS-20 consists of 20 items, with a possible score ranging from 0 to 100. Higher scores indicate increased symptoms of pain-related anxiety.158

# Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire (PSEQ)

The PSEQ assesses the degree of self-efficacy beliefs in the context of pain and is a part of the OSPRO-YF positive affect/coping domain.63 Self-efficacy beliefs can be measured in patients through scales that determine how much effort an individual will expend and how long they will persist in the face of obstacles and adversities.159 The selfefficacy literature supports these beliefs as aspects in explaining chronic pain experiences.160 High PSEQ scores after pain management programs are strongly correlated with significant functional gains in chronic upper-limb pain patients.161 The PSEQ consists of 10 items, with a potential score ranging from 0 to 60. Higher scores are desirous and indicate higher levels of pain-related self-efficacy.63

## Self-Efficacy for Rehabilitation Outcome Scale (SER)

The SER assesses self-efficacy associated with performing tasks during physical rehabilitation and is a part of the OSPRO-YF positive affect/coping domain.63 Self-efficacy will allow a patient to organize and execute the course of the action needed to make improvements in their disability.162 The questionnaire increases in functional difficulty scenarios by initially assessing simple rehabilitation tasks, such as stretching, and then assessing more difficult tasks such as the ability to walk.163 The SER consists of 12 items, scores range between 0 to 120, with higher scores indicating increased levels of self-efficacy during rehabilitation.63

## Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire (CPAQ)

The CPAQ assesses the amount of pain acceptance from a functional perspective with a focus on behavioral aspects of coping with pain.<sub>63,164</sub> This questionnaire is a part of the OSPRO-YF positive affect/coping domain.<sub>63</sub> Researchers interested in the CPAQ have previously shown that patients who have higher levels in acceptance of pain are more likely to adapt and respond better to pain beyond the influence of pain-related anxiety and depression.<sub>165</sub> The CPAQ consists of 20 items, with a total score potentially ranging from 0 to 120. Higher scores indicating an increased level of pain acceptance.<sub>134</sub>

## Evidence Related to Psychological Constructs and Clinical Outcomes

A review of the literature was completed using published manuscripts that examined baseline psychological factors as predictors of outcomes in patients with RC related conditions<sup>5</sup>. Relationships between psychological factors and functional outcomes were assessed after 6-months to 2-years post-surgical intervention. Only studies in which preoperative psychological measures and postoperative outcomes were clearly defined within the text were included in this review. Since patient outcomes are inherently influenced by multiple interactions, a multifactorial approach needs to be appreciated during the design of each study. When analyzing results of a study, the use of a multivariate statistical model is most appropriate for prediction. Therefore, studies that did not include a multivariate regression model were excluded in our descriptive analysis. An outline of the six studies in which previously mentioned conditions were met are found in Table 2.1.

	zeegy enderd				
Citation	Level of Evidence	Number of Subjects	Average Age	Preoperative Diagnosis	<b>Operative</b> Intervention
Potter et al. 201552	Level 2 Prospective	70	61 ±2	Full thickness RC tear	Arthroscopic RC repair
Matsen et al. 201660	Level 2 Prospective	337	64 ±12	GHOA; CTA; capsulorrhaphy arthropathy; AVN; posttraumatic arthritis; chondrolysis; secondary OA; RA	Hemiarthroplasty; CTA arthroplasty; Ream and run arthroplasty; TSA
Koorevaar et al. 201658	Level 2 Prospective	315	52 ±16	Subacromial pain syndrome; RC tear; Instability; AC-OA; GHOA	Surgery not specifically reported
Woollard et al. 201757	Level 2 Prospective	46	46 ±10	Indicated for ASD without supraspinatus repair or supraspinatus tears < 2 cm	ASD; ASD plus arthroscopic repair of a small RC tear; ASD plus repair of a small RC tear and a labral repair or biceps tenodesis; ASD plus a labral repair
Mahony et al. 201862	Level 2 Prospective	441	67 ±9	GHOA; RC tear	TSA
Thorpe et al. 201851	Level 2 Prospective	124	Median = 54 (range, 21-79)	Partial and full thickness RC tear	RC repair

**Table 2.1**Study Characteristics

*TSA*, Total Shoulder Arthroplasty; *RC*, rotator cuff; *GHOA*, glenohumeral osteoarthritis; *CTA*, cuff tear arthropathy; *AVN*, avascular necrosis; *RA*, Rheumatoid arthritis; *AC-OA*, acromioclavicular osteoarthritis; *ASD*, Arthroscopic subacromial decompression

### Psychological Constructs and Outcomes in Shoulder Surgeries

The overall goal of health care providers is to improve patient outcomes. To date, research focusing on post-surgical outcomes based on psychological pre-surgical assessment has yielded mixed results as to whether psychosocial factors are predictive of outcomes for patients following surgical intervention. Matsen et al examined the Short Form-36 mental component score (SF-36 MCS) and self-report of anxiety/depression in a diagnostically heterogenous group of 337 patients who underwent surgery for shoulder conditions consisting of glenohumeral osteoarthritis (GH-OA), CTA, secondary OA, rheumatoid arthritis, or avascular necrosis.60 The SF-36 MCS has been validated to evaluate mental health status in patients with various health conditions. 166, 167 Using an appropriately powered (80%) multivariate model that included effects for patients lost to follow-up, anxiety/depression (p = 0.124) were not strong predictors of better 2-year postoperative outcomes assessed by the Simple Shoulder Test (SST). The SST assesses a patient's shoulder pain, function, and ability to perform activities of daily living with lower scores correlating with increased pain and decreased function. 168, 169 The authors found that the SF-36 MCS scores did not significantly change from pre to postoperative (p = 0.891). However, better 2-year outcomes were associated with shoulder problems not related to work (p < 0.001), having one point lower in baseline SST score (p < 0.001), no prior shoulder surgeries (p = 0.006), no superior displacement of the humeral head on an AP radiograph (p = 0.017), glenoid pathoanatomy (p < 0.001), and having an American Society of Anesthesiologist (ASA) Class I (p = 0.041).60 The ASA is a physical status classification scale that is used by anesthesiologist to indicate preoperative health that can help predict risk of surgery.170

In a group of 176 patients with a preoperative diagnosis of either a RC tear, GH-OA, or instability, the Four-Dimensional Symptom Questionnaire (4DSQ) was utilized to assess psychological symptoms as predictors of 1-year patient reported outcomes.58 The 4DSQ is a validated 50-item survey for orthopaedic shoulder patients that identifies distress, depression, anxiety and somatisation.171 Postoperative outcomes were determined by the Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand questionnaire (DASH), a self-report tool for upper extremity disability and symptoms.172,173 Using a multivariate logistic analysis, powered at 80% and adjusting for age, sex, and preoperative DASH scores, the 4 psychological constructs (distress p = 0.001, depression p < 0.001, anxiety p = 0.001, somatization p < 0.001) of the 4DSQ were significant predictors of less improvement in postoperative DASH scores.58 Interestingly, the authors noted that when accounting for postoperative scores of the 4DSQ, all significance was removed. Although most patients reported pain relief and better function after surgery, psychological symptoms did not change. Perhaps either pre- or postoperative treatment of psychological distress could lead to greater improvements in pain and function but future research would need to determine this.

A study investigating 2-year functional outcomes in 459 patients undergoing TSA for GH-OA used the Short Form-12 mental component score (SF-12 MCS) to preoperatively assess mental health status.<sup>62</sup> An appropriately powered (80%) multivariate analysis found that mental health status at baseline failed to statistically affect ASES outcome scores.<sup>62</sup> Statistically significant factors determined by the multivariate logistic regression model included the presence of a RC tear (p = 0.025), diabetes (p = 0.036) and a previous shoulder surgery (p = 0.047) after adjusting for race,

age, sex, and body mass index (BMI). $_{62}$  Furthermore, having a higher preoperative ASES score (p < 0.001) was associated with poor surgical outcomes. A higher preoperative ASES score being associated with poor outcomes has consistently been shown in the literature as a result of patients having a smaller window of improvement from baseline. $_{62,131,174}$  The study also determined that preoperative RC pathology negatively affected outcomes.

In a prospective cohort of 62 patients with a supraspinatus tear, the FABQ, Clinical Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D), and Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI) were used to preoperatively measure fear avoidance beliefs, depression, and anxiety, respectively.57 Postoperative outcome measurements were collected at 6-months and assessed by the Western Ontario Rotator Cuff index (WORC) and the Global Rating of Change (GROC). The WORC is an assessment tool specifically designed to evaluate patient reported function in those who have RC related conditions.175,176 The GROC ranges from -7 to +7, with a +7 indicating a large change in functional status.177,178 The CES-D has been validated and was designed to measure depression symptoms in the general population.179 The BAI reliably measures mild, moderate and severe symptoms of clinical anxiety.180,181 A univariate regression analysis was initially conducted to determine which variables had significant relationships with a successful outcome. Success was considered based off of two criteria: 1) scoring at least a 17-point improvement on the WORC score from baseline and 2) a score of at least +5 or better on the GROC. Significance was found in those with a worker's compensation case (p =0.03), dominant shoulder (p = 0.001), internal rotation strength >76% of the non-involved arm (p = 0.02), and FABQ-W <25 (p = 0.000). When these variables were included in a

final multivariate regression model, only an FABQ-W score < 25 (p = 0.005) and dominant shoulder (p = 0.009) were predictors that explained the highest variance ( $R_2 = 0.66$ ) of 6-month postoperative outcomes.<sup>57</sup>

In a cohort of 70 patients with full thickness RTC tears, the Distress Risk Assessment Method (DRAM) was measured preoperatively to identify psychological distress and determine predictors of 1-year postoperative SST scores along with ASES scores.52 The DRAM is a validated 45-item questionnaire used in orthopaedic practice that comprises of two subscales, the modified Zung (mZung) Depression scale and the Modified Somatic Perception Questionnaire (MSPQ).182-184 Patients can be identified as either normal, at risk, or distressed for levels of depression and somatic symptoms.185 After conducting a multivariate analysis, powered at 80%, the mZung (p = 0.262) and MSPQ (p = 0.0645) were not predictors of differences in 1-year SST or ASES outcome scores. The authors dichotomized the patients using the DRAM into normal and distressed groups and did not find statistically significant differences in age (p = 0.315), gender (p = 0.289), size of RC tear (p = 0.942), RC retraction (p = 0.68), ASA Classification (p = 0.359), or BMI (p = 0.593) between groups.<sup>52</sup> The results suggest that increased psychological distress preoperatively may not necessarily be a precursor for a lack of postoperative improvements in pain and function.

Patients with a partial or full thickness RC tear were prospectively followed 1year after a RC repair and were asked to complete the PSEQ, PCS, TSK-11, and Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale (DASS) psychological assessment forms.<sup>51</sup> The DASS is a 42-item validated questionnaire for measuring depression anxiety, and stress.<sup>186,187</sup> Of the 124 patients examined in this longitudinal study, 84 were distinctly clustered into a group who had good psychological functioning and 40 with poor psychological functioning defined using the median of each psychological form. Although those with lower baseline psychological function were more likely to report lower postoperative scores on the ASES, individuals who scored higher on all 4 psychological scales did not show significant differences (p = 0.984) in ASES minimal clinical important difference (MCID) scores at 1-year when compared to the lower psychological function group.<sup>51</sup> A multivariate model determined that women (p = 0.01) and workers compensation patients (p = 0.014) were greater predictors of worse pain and function while greater alcohol use (p = 0.031) and confidence in surgery (p = 0.026) were predictors of better pain and function assessed by the ASES.<sup>51</sup> The authors findings are consistent with what is most commonly reported in the literature for known preoperative predictors of outcomes in shoulder surgeries.

Table 2.2 succinctly outlines results from each of the previously described studies that had included the use of a multivariate regression analysis. The table reports all of the psychological constructs assessed preoperatively as predictor variables, patient reported outcome measurement tools used as the dependent variable, which psychological predictors were found to be predictive of worse outcomes, other clinically significant independents predictors reported, and the average postoperative follow-up time point.

Citation	Preoperative Psychological Construct	Patient Reported Outcome Measure	Psychological Construct Predictive of Worse Outcomes	Other Significant Predictors	Average follow- up
Potter et al. 201552	DRAM	SST; ASES	None	None	1 year
Matsen et al. 201660	SF-36 MCS; Self-reported anxiety and/or depression	SST	None	ASA Class; shoulder problem related to work; SST; Prior shoulder surgery; Humeral head displacement; Glenoid type	2 years
Koorevaar et al. 201658	4DSQ	DASH	Depression; Anxiety; Distress; Somatization	None	1 year
Woollard et al. 201757	FABQ; CES- D; BAI	WORC; GROC	FABQ-W	Dominant shoulder; WC; IR strength >76% of NI arm	6 months
Mahony et al. 201862	SF-12 MCS	ASES	None	Previous shoulder surgery; RC tear; Diabetes; preoperative ASES score	2 years
Thorpe et al. 201851	PSEQ; PCS; TSK; DASS	ASES	None	Women; WC	1 year

**Table 2.2** Results for Psychological Predictors of Postoperative Outcomes

DRAM, Distress and Risk Assessment Method; ASES, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons; ASA, American Society of Anesthesiologists; 4DSQ, Four-Dimensional Symptom Questionnaire; DASH, Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand; FABQ, Fear Avoidance Belief Questionnaire; CES-D, Clinical Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; BAI, Beck Anxiety Inventory; WORC, Western Ontario Rotator Cuff index; GROC, Global rating of change; FABQ-W, Fear Avoidance Belief Questionnaire-Work; SF-12 MCS, Short Form-12 Mental Component Score; RC, Rotator cuff; PSEQ, Pain self-efficacy; PCS, Pain catastrophizing; TSK, Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia; DASS, Depression, anxiety, and stress scale; IR, Internal Rotation; NI, Non-involved; WC, Workers compensation

# Summary

The literature reveals that currently assessed preoperative psychological factors are not all found to be strong predictors of postoperative patient reported outcomes in this patient population. Depression, anxiety, and FABQ-W were the only baseline predictors of poor functional outcomes after shoulder surgery.57,58 Comparable to these findings, a recent systematic review sought to determine if psychosocial factors are associated with patient-reported outcomes after treatment of a RC tear and concluded that pain and function are associated with mental health but not with postoperative patient reported outcomes.188 Previous studies have found that preoperative education about surgery, preparation for postoperative situations, and pain neuroscience education in individuals with chronic musculoskeletal pain are effective in improving postoperative outcomes and reducing the need for postoperative analgesics and suggest that preoperative expectations could be more telling than psychological distress.78,188-190 However, in contrast, Rauck et al evaluated patients undergoing Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty for CTA, GHOA, or post-traumatic arthritis and did not find an association between preoperative expectations and 2-year ASES scores using a multivariate analysis.<sup>191</sup> There is a need for clinical research to be more comprehensive in preoperative psychological assessment to truly determine if psychological distress plays a role in postoperative outcomes.

It is possible that the psychological instruments used currently in the literature may not be capturing all psychological constructs involved in patients with chronic shoulder conditions.<sup>171</sup> The OSPRO-YF is comprehensive in that it captures both negative and positive psychological components such as depression and self-efficacy

without questionnaire burden.<sup>146</sup> Furthermore, the 11 subscales of the OSPRO-YF are meaningful in that they can allow for individual tailoring of treatments. A common inference stated about psychological constructs not being predictors of outcomes was that patients with psychological disorders should not be discouraged or excluded from undergoing shoulder surgery.<sup>52,58,192</sup> These inferences should be interpreted with caution and questioned as to whether the results we are observing are strictly due to psychological factors not being predictors or if this is due to a lack of using measurement tools that are appropriately assessing all psychological constructs in these patient populations.

The differences in patient reported outcome measures, duration of follow-up, and rehabilitation protocols made comparing the significance in psychological predictors of outcomes very difficult. Although there was no consistency across studies with baseline psychological assessment tools utilized, the most commonly used shoulder functional outcome measure was the ASES. The use of the DASH has limitations because scores can be influenced by any other symptoms of joints in the upper extremity, not just the shoulder. Clinicians interested in assessing psychological constructs need to be certain the psychometric properties of the measurement tool are suited for their patient population. The psychological assessment tools reported in this literature review that are not included in the OSPRO-YF were the 4DSQ, BAI, SF-12 MCS, SF-36 MCS, CES-D, DRAM, and DASS. All of these questionnaires are valid measures of psychological symptoms but have been validated in different types of patient populations which may not be appropriate for patients with chronic shoulder related conditions such as CTA. This may explain why the majority of psychological assessment tools used were not

strong predictors of postoperative outcomes but future longitudinal research using the OSPRO-YF is needed to determine this. Fortunately, the OSPRO-YF can be appropriately applied since it had been validated in patients with orthopaedic conditions, particularly the shoulder. A review of the literature has made it evident that it is unclear which psychological constructs are influencing patient outcomes, particularly in patients with RC related conditions.

#### 2.4 Biomechanics of the Shoulder Complex

The primary purpose of the shoulder joint is to help position the arm in space, required by most functional tasks.<sup>193</sup> The shoulder complex comprises of the scapula, clavicle, and humerus. Shoulder movement requires an intricate balance between mobility and stability to achieve functional upper extremity motion.9 During arm elevation, motion occurs at the acromioclavicular joint, sternoclavicular joint, glenohumeral joint and scapulothoracic region.17 A bone pin study by Ludewig et al reported that during humeral elevation the clavicle will retract, elevate, and posteriorly rotate and the humerus will move in an externally rotated motion in forward flexion.17 The authors also analyzed scapular motion and determined that during forward flexion the scapula begins to internally rotate and then at the end of humeral elevation will start to externally rotate.17 These biomechanical studies provide clinicians with the importance and contribution of the scapula during upper extremity motion. When these structures are compromised, biomechanical faults begin to occur.194 For example, Vidt et al found that individuals with RC tears will compensate during a functional reach task by internally rotating the humerus more throughout the task.195 The literature provides a greater

amount of data on humeral kinematics but there is still lack in the depth of understanding behind scapular kinematics, especially in a clinical setting.

# Scapular Kinematics

Motion of the scapula is difficult to quantify due to the substantial amount of mobility it possesses as a result of a lack in true bony articulation with the thorax.196 The literature has consistently described three motions and anatomical planes in which the scapula will relatively move around the thorax.197 These include 1) upward/downward rotation in the scapular plane, 2) anterior/posterior tilt in the sagittal plane, and 3) internal/external rotation in the transverse plane.198,199 The scapula will rotate around an axis, also described as an instantaneous center of rotation (ICR), to accomplish each one of the three motions. Biomechanical studies have found that the scapula's axis of rotation is not fixed since there is also a translational component during motion.200-202 Since common motion trends exist around these axes, each rotation can be described in general terms. During scapular upward/downward rotation, the scapula will move around an axis perpendicular to the scapular body.199 During scapular anterior/posterior tilt, the scapula will move around an axis parallel to the spine of the scapula.<sup>199</sup> During scapular internal/external rotation, the scapula will move around a vertical axis through the medial border of the scapula.199

## Measurement Methods

Evaluation of scapular motion has gained popularity in biomechanical and clinical settings to determine the role of the scapula across many different upper extremity

pathologies. To be able to comprehensively describe motion differences between shoulder pathologies, 3D biomechanical analyses are needed. These biomechanical methods include using bone pins with sensors199, 3D motion analysis19, electromagnetic tracking systems203 fluoroscopic imaging, and computer modeling software204. Researchers have relied on these techniques to capture scapular motion to try to thoroughly understand the complex movements of the upper extremity. Although 3D biomechanical methods are some of the most accurate means of capturing scapular motion, they can be disadvantageous to a clinician interested in assessing scapular motion. Currently, clinical based studies measuring scapular motion rely on 2-D analysis or visual inspection, simplifying the complex nature of the scapula and limiting the ability to detect movement differences.24,205-207 There is still a clinical need for an accurate and reliable measure of triplanar scapular motion. These measures are valuable to the clinical evaluation processes, treatment making decisions, and helping determine changes in motion over time without the burden of a 3D motion software system. It is well established that scapular motion plays an important role in shoulder function. Due to the current lack in the clinical ability of measuring triplanar scapular motion, health care providers are potentially missing valuable information needed for a proper plan of care. Therefore, our research team established reliability and validity of an inertial measurement unit electric goniometer to measure scapular motion. This will be described later in this section.

## 3D Motion Advantages and Disadvantages

In 2005, the Standardization and Terminology Committee of the International Society of Biomechanics standardized a joint coordinate systems (JCS) for each articulating segment of the upper extremity, including the scapula.208 These 3D biomechanical testing standards yield advantages in determining precision in the position and orientation of scapular motion that cannot be accomplished using 2-D analysis.20,209 It becomes very useful when investigating and diagnosing movement impairments of the upper extremity.28 3D motion analysis carries the capabilities of capturing continuous motion over time which may be useful in determining pathomechanics throughout a range of motion versus isolating start and end positions.210 However, there are some disadvantages that must be considered when using these techniques in a clinical setting.

Disadvantages of using 3D motion analysis include the expenses associated with equipment and software, it is not easily portable, can be very time consuming, and requires an advanced skill set or years of experience to use effectively. These are not ideal features for clinical settings since it is not typical for a treating physician to be trained in the use and analysis of 3D biomechanical data associated with the application of bone pins, 3D motion cameras, electromagnetic tracking software, fluoroscopic imaging systems and computer modeling. There is also a large disadvantage in the amount of time it takes to set up a 3D motion data collection session which will pose problems to the time constraints health care providers and patients have within clinical settings. Furthermore, when it specifically comes to analyzing the upper extremity, biomechanical studies have determined that using 3D motion analysis is less reliable and valid above 120 degrees of arm elevation.<sup>19</sup>

## Reliability and Validity of Clinical Scapular Motion

Our research team sought to determine the reliability and validity of a new clinical electrical goniometer that would allow clinicians to measure scapular mobility in all three orthogonal planes. The EasyAngle electrical goniometer (Meloq AB, Stockholm, Sweden) was used on the scapula of healthy subjects in the frontal, transverse, and sagittal planes during rest, shrug, protraction, retraction, and arm elevation to 120° on two separate days by two raters. We used an acromion marker cluster with a 14-camera motion capture system to capture scapular motion. Excursion values were extracted to calculate validity between the EasyAngle and the motion capture system using root mean square error (RMSE) and average difference (AD). Rest position and excursion values were assessed across days for intra-rater and inter-rater reliability using an intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC: (2,3)). Our results found that the RMSE values between methods ranged from 6-12°, AD ranged between -10- 4° (Table 2.3). Intra-rater reliability ICC values ranged from 0.666-0.874 (Table 2.4), and the inter-rater ICC values ranged from 0.545-0.912 (Table 2.5). The EasyAngle electrical goniometer is an accurate measure of scapular excursions in all three planes. We would like to note that the reliability of the EasyAngle is best when performed by the same rater over time following standard procedures in device placement. Future research using this device will generate more meaningful clinical information.

Orthogonal Plane	Condition	EasyAngle Mean (SD)	3D Kinematics Mean (SD)	Avg. Diff	LOA	RMSE	Sig. ( <i>p</i> =0.05)
Frontal (Downward Rotation +)	Shrug	-24 (7)	-26 (10)	-2	11	6	0.027
	Elev 120*	-23 (6)	-30 (7)	-7	14	10	< 0.001
Transverse (Internal Rotation +)	Retraction	-21 (6)	-19 (7)	2	12	6	0.059
	Protraction	11 (4)	8 (7)	-3	10	7	< 0.001
	Elev 120*	-8 (5)	-6 (7)	2	13	7	0.015
Sagittal (Posterior Tilt +)	Retraction	8 (4)	-2 (6)	-10	11	12	< 0.001
	Protraction	-7 (5)	1 (6)	-1	15	11	< 0.001
	Elev 120*	18 (7)	22 (7)	4	16	9	< 0.001

Table 2.3 Validity of EasyAngle against 3D Motion Analysis

*RMSE*, Root Mean Square Error; *LOA*, Limit of Agreement \*Elev 120: Arm elevation to 120 degrees of flexion in the scapular plane (30° in frontal plane)

<sup>o</sup>All units are in degrees with exception of significance values

Orthogonal Plane	Condition	Mean Day 1 (SD)	Mean Day 2 (SD)	ICC	SEM	MDC90
Frontal	Shrug	-20 (6)	-20 (6)	0.822	3	6
(Downward Rotation +)	Elev 120*	-19 (7)	-19 (6)	0.701	4	9
Transverse	Retraction	-19 (6)	-19 (6)	0.836	2	6
(Internal	Protraction	11 (4)	11 (4)	0.846	2	4
Rotation +)	Elev 120*	-5 (4)	-5 (3)	0.628	2	5
Sagittal	Retraction	8 (6)	8 (5)	0.666	3	7
(Posterior Tilt	Protraction	-6 (7)	-7 (6)	0.724	3	8
+)	Elev 120*	18 (6)	20 (6)	0.790	3	7

**Table 2.4** Intra-rater reliability of the EasyAngle

*SD*, Standard Deviation; *SEM*, Standard Error of Measure; *MDC90*, Minimal Detectable Change at a 90% confidence interval; *LOA*, Limit of Agreement \*Elev 120: Arm elevation to 120 degrees of flexion in the scapular plane (30° in frontal plane)

<sup>o</sup>All units are in degrees with exception of ICC values

Orthogonal Plane	Condition	Mean Day 1 (SD)	Mean Day 2 (SD)	ICC	SEM	MDC90
Frontal	Shrug	-20 (6)	-20 (6)	0.822	3	6
(Downward Rotation +)	Elev 120*	-19 (7)	-19 (6)	0.701	4	9
Transverse	Retraction	-19 (6)	-19 (6)	0.836	2	6
(Internal	Protraction	11 (4)	11 (4)	0.846	2	4
Rotation +)	Elev 120*	-5 (4)	-5 (3)	0.628	2	5
Sagittal	Retraction	8 (6)	8 (5)	0.666	3	7
(Posterior Tilt	Protraction	-6 (7)	-7 (6)	0.724	3	8
+)	Elev 120*	18 (6)	20 (6)	0.790	3	7

**Table 2.5** Inter-rater reliability of the EasyAngle

*SD*, Standard Deviation; *SEM*, Standard Error of Measure; *MDC90*, Minimal Detectable Change at a 90% confidence interval; *LOA*, Limit of Agreement \*Elev 120: Arm elevation to 120 degrees of flexion in the scapular plane (30° in frontal plane)

<sup>o</sup>All units are in degrees with exception of ICC values

## Scapular Kinematics with a Rotator Cuff Tear

Research supports the association of abnormal scapular motion with inferior shoulder function, worse patient reported outcomes, and an increased risk for future shoulder dysfunction.9,24,211-215 Ludewig et al reviewed several studies that examined scapular motion and its relationship with RC related conditions such as impingement symptoms or RC weakness.<sup>196</sup> Unfortunately, the majority of these studies did not provide diagnostic imaging to accurately determine if a RC tear was present. Furthermore, although these studies examined scapular motion during humeral elevation, the plane of elevation was not consistent across studies. Furthermore, the three scapular motions, upward/downward rotation, anterior/posterior tilt, and internal/external rotation, were not consistently assessed. There are far more fewer studies that have included 3D scapular kinematics in patients with an MRI confirmed RC tear., 33-35, 36-38, 216, 217 Measures of scapular kinematics within these reports are measured using either electromagnetic tracking systems (ETS) or fluoroscopic imaging. Studies comparing these two imaging techniques for measuring motion in the body found that they both demonstrate good accuracy but ETS is more advantageous in that it provides less radiation dose.218,219 The following section will provide readers with current literature that reports on scapular kinematics in patients with a RC tear.

# Upward/Downward Rotation

Scapular upward and downward rotation have been measured using 3D motion analysis in various studies. Ueda et al recruited 10 patients with a small RC tear (L x H < 5.6cm<sub>2</sub>), 6 with a massive tear (L x H > 5.6cm<sub>2</sub>), and 14 healthy controls to compare scapular motion during humeral elevation in the scapular plane.<sub>217</sub> Average age for the small RC tear group was 62.7 years, 64.5 years for the massive tear group, and 24.7 years for the healthy group. Motion analysis was performed using fluoroscopic movies at a rate of 5 seconds per cycle of maximal arm elevation. Scapular upward rotation differences were statistically significant (p <0.01) between the massive tear group and healthy controls.<sup>217</sup> The massive tear group exhibited  $59.8 \pm 7^{\circ}$  of scapular upward rotation at 120 degrees of humeral elevation while healthy controls exhibited  $48.2 \pm 4^{\circ}$  during the same amount of humeral elevation. There were no significant differences in upward rotation between the small ( $57.3 \pm 3^{\circ}$ ) and massive ( $59.8 \pm 7^{\circ}$ ) RC tear groups (p = 0.17).<sup>217</sup>

Scapular kinematics were assessed between 11 patients with massive RC tears (> 5cm in two tendons) and 16 healthy controls in at study by Miura et al.<sub>37</sub> Average age for the massive RC tear group was 75.1 years (range, 70-86) and 71.9 years (range, 60-81) for healthy controls.<sub>37</sub> An electromagnetic tracking system (ETS) was used during arm elevation to 120 degrees in the scapular plane. Results determined significant differences in upward rotation (p < 0.05) with the massive RC group exhibiting  $25 \pm 9^{\circ}$  and the healthy group  $30 \pm 7^{\circ}$ .<sub>37</sub> Furthermore, the authors did not find any significant differences in scapular anterior/posterior tilt or internal/external rotation between the two groups.

Kolk et al examined scapular motion using an ETS in three different groups during humeral elevation to 110 degrees in the sagittal and frontal plane.<sup>35</sup> The groups consisted of 33 individuals with subacromial pain syndrome (SAPS), 20 with a supraspinatus tear, and 48 with a massive RC tear (> 20mm). Average age for the SAPS group was  $50 \pm 6$  years, supraspinatus tear group was  $58 \pm 9$  years, and massive RC tear group was  $61 \pm 7$  years.<sup>35</sup> The authors only found significant differences in scapular upward rotation reporting greater upward rotation in those with a massive RC tear

compared to individuals with SAPS in both the sagittal (-11 degrees [95% CI -15.0, -6.0] p < 0.001) and frontal (-10 degrees [95% CI [-13.2, -6.1] p < 0.001) planes.<sup>35</sup> It was also reported that patients with massive RC tears had 11 degrees more of scapular upward rotation during elevation when compared to patients with only a supraspinatus tear (p = 0.012).<sup>35</sup> Lastly, the authors reported significant differences (p = 0.002) between the supraspinatus tear group and SAPS group during sagittal plane elevation with the supraspinatus tear group exhibiting greater scapular upward rotation.<sup>35</sup> Average differences in scapular motion between groups were reported but not scapular motion excursion.

Mell et al recruited 42 subjects between the ages of 30-74 years and were placed into three groups to determine differences in scapular motion during arm elevation in the scapular and sagittal plane.<sup>36</sup> An ETS was used to assess scapular kinematics. The groups were as followed: 1) healthy volunteers, 2) RC tendinopathy without full-thickness examined with diagnostic imaging, and 3) RC tear > 1 cm.<sup>2</sup> The authors reported significant differences in scapular upward rotation (p < 0.05) during the mid-phase of arm elevation in the scapular plane but no significant differences at max elevation ( $100^\circ$ ) between any of the 3 groups.<sup>36</sup> Maximum scapular upward rotation was 24 degrees for the healthy group, 31 degrees for the tendinopathy group, and 30 degrees for the RC tear group at max elevation. P values were not reported but the authors indicated there were not significant differences between groups. Furthermore, the authors did not find any significant differences in scapular anterior/posterior tilt or internal/external rotation.

In a study by Kijima et al, the authors also did not find significant differences in upward rotation to max elevation (120°) in the scapular plane.<sub>38</sub> 3D scapular kinematics

were examined using fluoroscopic imaging between 19 patients with either a symptomatic RC tear, asymptomatic RC tear, or a healthy shoulder.<sub>38</sub> Tear size was matched between asymptomatic and symptomatic groups. Average age for the symptomatic tear group was 70 (66-74) years, 67 (62-72) years for the asymptomatic tear group, and 62 (55-65) years for the healthy group.<sub>38</sub> An estimated calculation based off of the graph determined that scapular upward rotation for the symptomatic group was 39°, 37° for asymptomatic, and 36° for healthy. The authors did not find any statistically significant difference in scapular internal/external rotation during max elevation but did during anterior/posterior tilt, described in a later section below.

## Internal/External Rotation

Scapular internal and external rotation have not been studied as in depth as scapular upward rotation but the few studies that exist can provide preliminary information as to the significant of this scapular motion in patients with RC tears. Scibek et al in 2008 examined scapular kinematics in patients with a RC tear during humeral elevation to 120 degrees using an ETS.<sup>34</sup> Average age for the group of patients was 60.2  $\pm$  8.9 years. Scapular measurements were taken before and after a subacromial lidocaine injection in the sagittal, scapular, and frontal plane of elevation. The study included 8 patients with a moderate tear (1-3cm), 3 with a large tear (3-5cm), and 4 with a massive tear (>5cm).<sup>34</sup> Pain was assessed on a visual analogue scale ranging from 0 (no pain) to 10 (highest pain). Average pain before injection was  $3.53 \pm 1.99$  (range, 1-8.5) and 1.23  $\pm$  1.43 (range, 0-5) post-injection.<sup>34</sup> Statistically significant differences were only found in scapular external rotation during the first 40 degrees of sagittal plane arm elevation but not at maximal elevation.<sup>34</sup> This suggests that greater compensatory motion exists in the

painful shoulder to begin elevating the arm. In 2009, Scibek et al used the same patient data to determine if scapular motion correlated with the size of the RC tear.<sup>33</sup> Published findings did not find any significant correlations at maximal elevation  $(111 \pm 36^\circ)$  but the authors noted that tear size negatively correlated with scapular external rotation during mid motion in all three planes of arm elevation. No other scapular motions were found to be significantly correlated with RC tear size.

## Anterior/Posterior Tilt

Scapular anterior and posterior tilt has been examined the least in patients with a RC tear. Kijima et al found that the asymptomatic group with a RC tear showed similar scapular motion patterns in anterior/posterior with the healthy groups.<sub>38</sub> The average posterior tilt excursion value for the asymptomatic group was  $9.9 \pm 2.1^{\circ}$  and  $10.4 \pm 0.8^{\circ}$  for the healthy group at 120 degrees of arm elevation.<sub>38</sub> The symptomatic RC tear group only posteriorly tilted  $3 \pm 1.8^{\circ}$  and showed statistically significant differences compared to the healthy group (p = 0.049) but not the asymptomatic group (p = 0.084).<sub>38</sub>

#### Summary

Scapular upward rotation was the most commonly measured motion. It was the most common scapular motion in which greater upward rotation existed in patients with a RC tear versus healthy individuals. The greatest difference reported was 11 degrees more scapular UR in sagittal plane elevation by Kolk et al compared to a 2-degree difference reported by Ueda et al. Studies revealed a common scapular motion trend in groups where the RC tear was more severe. In these groups the scapula tended to present with higher values of upward rotation when compared to the other groups. Authors reported

maximal humeral elevation angles between  $100-120^{\circ}$ . This may make comparison of scapular motion across studies difficult since scapular motion has a direct relationship with humeral elevation. Scibek et al was the only author who reported differences in internal/external rotation but this was noted in the same group of subjects after a subacromial injection. Significant scapular anterior/posterior tilt differences were only found by Kijima et al who described these differences between patients with a symptomatic RC tear and healthy individuals. Overall, these 3D studies found that scapular motion is directly affected by RC tear size. Scapular motion differences were not exactly the same across studies. Motion varied in upward/downward rotation, internal/external rotation, and anterior/posterior tilt. These motion variations could be due to the considerable variability observed in scapular movement between individuals which also changes with plane of arm elevation, external load, speed of motion, pain, shoulder tightness, and fatigue.220 These variables are difficult to control for and can make comparison across studies difficult. Upward/downward rotation was the measure in which there was the closest motion differences and greatest consensus in a difference existing in patients with a RC tear compared to those without. Furthermore, there is a need for health care professionals to be able to measure scapular motion clinically but currently the scapular motion literature is dominated by 3D kinematics data. Although these physical features are important to consider for functional movement, shoulder function is complex and a multitude of patient factors should also be considered within the clinical setting.

#### 2.5 Surgical Treatment

A cuff-deficient shoulder presents challenges for orthopaedic surgeons. To avoid long-term disability due to a RC related condition such as CTA, several treatment options have been made available to the patient. It is possible to surgically leave the glenoid in place and carry out only a hemiarthroplasty but results have been shown to be somewhat disappointing and improvements in shoulder function and range of motion are still limited.221 A Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (TSA) is another treatment option for RC conditions but a meta-analysis of 1259 patients examining the incidence of RC tears after a TSA reported that 11% had superior cuff tears and 1% underwent reoperation after TSA.222 Several reports suggest that TSA may not be the best option for an individual with a dysfunctional RC. Currently, the most accepted surgical option for CTA is a Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty due to its ability to surgically target each one of the key features characterizing CTA.101

## **Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty**

Paul Grammont in the 1980's revised the reverse prosthesis, also known as a Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty (RSA), that encompassed four key principals. These include 1) inherent stability, 2) the glenoid component must be convex and humeral component concave, 3) center of the glenosphere must be at the level of the glenoid surface, and 4) a medialized and distalized COR.67 Grammont is still currently wellknown for his principles and designs of the reverse prosthesis which has helped increase the indications for surgical implantation. The indication for undergoing a RSA has

expanded over the past decade and currently includes CTA, end-stage glenohumeral osteoarthritis, pseudoparalysis, proximal humerus fractures, tumors within the proximal humerus necessitating glenohumeral reconstruction, and revision arthroplasty.67,223 The National Inpatient Sample (NIS) in 2011 found that 80% of RSA's performed in the United States were for CTA.224 The expansion in preoperative diagnoses has led to the increase in amount of RSA procedures performed annualy.71,224

The RSA was approved by the Food and Drug Administration in 2003 in the United States and has gained widespread popularity over this time period. The latest shoulder arthroplasty trends currently published is a review by the NIS database made available by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality between January 2011 to December 2014.225 Palsis et al found that RSA procedures increased in the United States by 39.2% between 2011-2014 with a total of 109,724 procedures during this time.225 The average age was  $72.4 \pm 8.9$ , 82.7% were 65 years or older, majority were female (63.8%) and white (89%). Although RSA is a relatively new approach within this population, biomechanical and clinical studies have been the center of this growing research.

## Biomechanical and Functional Effects of RSA

RSA medializes the glenohumeral (GH) joints center of rotation, distalizes the humerus, and elongates the deltoid which is important for maintaining biomechanical leverage and stability.66,226,227 This results in changes of the surrounding muscles moment arms. Moment arms are measurements of the mechanical torque exerted by the muscle around a joint and can be used to identify if a muscle is a stabilizer or a prime mover.228 Furthermore, a muscles line of action can be used to determine whether a muscle

functions as an external or internal rotator.229 These changes are important to note since they influence the function of the shoulder muscles and thus postoperative functional outcomes. Fundamentally, the ability of a muscle to move the shoulder is a function of the moment arm and force-generating capacity.230 Walker et al suggested that the reconstruction of the joint's geometry and muscle moment arms after RSA will improve shoulder rehabilitation.230

The RSA prosthesis is designed to increase the moment arm of the deltoids by moving the GH joints center of rotation inferiorly and medially.228 Increasing the moment arm of the deltoid elongates the muscle fibers by 10-20% (20mm ±18) allowing for more muscle recruitment during shoulder elevation.231 For reference, deltoid length is measured from the inferolateral tip of acromion to the deltoid tuberosity on the humerus.231,232 Furthermore, this increase in muscle length reduces the deltoids required effort for torque production.232 This reduction in torque has been recorded in cadaveric studies as high as 25% during humeral abduction.231 However, the consequence of increasing moment arms is that there is greater demand for excursion of the deltoid for the same amount of motion after RSA.232

In a study by Ackland et al., RSA specifically increased the moments of the anterior and middle subregions of the deltoid, all subregions of the pectoralis major, the latissimus dorsi subregions, and the teres major.228 The authors also found that after RSA, the moment arms of the deltoids were greatest in the coronal plane which indicates that function has greater improvement when elevating to the side in versus directly in front or in the scapular plane. Furthermore, moment arm changes resulted in the superior pectoralis major, middle deltoid, and anterior deltoid as the only subregions that were

shoulder flexors. Interestingly, the superior pectoralis major subregion was the most effective flexor throughout.228

When examining rotator cuff moment arm changes, RSA shoulders resulted in significant (p <0.03) decreases in the internal rotation moment arms of all three subscapularis subregions when compared to the anatomic shoulder.229 The inferior infraspinatus subregion and the teres minor had the greatest external rotation moment arms after RSA but were still less than observed preoperatively.229 The inferior subscapularis subregion had the greatest average internal rotation moment arm of all subregions. In an anatomical shoulder all of the subscapularis subregions act primarily as late adductors.233 A cadaveric study conducted by Ackland et al measured instantaneous moment arms in RSA shoulders and found that the superior subscapularis was an abductor, while the inferior and middle subscapularis were adductors during abduction.228 Furthermore, the teres minor rotational moment arm increased by up to 7 mm and was larger in adduction than abduction.234 The majority of RSA studies examining moment arms of the external rotators found significant decreases in the postoperative external rotation moment arms in frontal plane elevation and sagittal plane elevation.229.233.234

## Deltoid Effects

It has been reported that the middle and anterior deltoid go through a greater excursion between 0 to 120 degrees of abduction than in an anatomic shoulder.229 Sabesan et al., retrospectively examined the effects of deltoid lengthening on function in patients at an average follow-up of 37 months. Outcome assessments in this study included the American Shoulder Elbow Surgeon (ASES) score, the Constant, and the

Subjective Shoulder Value (SSV).231 Overall there were large improvements in both range of motion and functional outcome scores.231 The authors reported a mean improvement of 76 degrees in forward elevation and 12.3 degrees in external rotation for all participants. Of those who completed the ASES, Constant, and SSV, scores were improved by an average of 44, 43, and 59 points, respectively. Although patients had significant improvements in function and outcome scores, these improvements did not specifically correlate with implant design or surgical technique. This indicates that there are multiple variables that influence outcomes. The authors also found a negative correlation between deltoid lengthening and postoperative forward elevation, suggesting that if a surgeon lengthens the deltoid too much, there may be a negative impact on functional ROM.231 Optimal tensioning will result in increased range of motion and pain relief while excessive deltoid pre-tensioning is associated with increased risk of an acromion fracture.231 The anterior deltoid subregion has been associated with significantly contributing to a successful clinical outcome.235 In a cadaveric model study, researchers sought to understand the importance of the anterior deltoid for function after RSA.236 The authors found significant decreases in flexion and abduction moments (Nm) when the anterior deltoid was unloaded, demonstrating the vital role of this muscle. Aslani et al., found that the anterior deltoid in the RSA shoulder provides more force than the anatomic shoulder at lower abduction angles in highly functioning postoperative shoulders.237

Biomechanical studies have found that the contribution of the posterior deltoid is significantly smaller after RSA in both extension and humeral external rotation.229 Moreover, after RSA, the posterior deltoid subregion demonstrated a biphasic behavior

during abduction. During mid to late flexion, the posterior deltoid subregion was predominantly an internal rotator, whereas in the anatomical shoulder it was an external rotator.<sup>229</sup> Interestingly, an EMG study found the average posterior deltoid activation did not exceed 20% MVIC during unweighted shoulder external rotation 6 months postoperative RSA.<sup>238</sup> This implies that the posterior deltoid may not be the main generator for shoulder external rotation. Another important observation was that deltoid activity plateaued mid-motion while UT increased linearly during greater abduction and flexion.<sup>238</sup>

# Rotator cuff Effects

Patients with a preoperative diagnosis of cuff tear arthropathy, indicative of superior humeral head migration, retraction of the supraspinatus and infraspinatus tendons and osteoarthritis, are able to gain functional improvements after RSA.239-241 These functional improvements in active range of motion and pain are reported to be greater when the subscapularis is reconstructed.242,243 Edwards et al. demonstrated that an insufficient subscapularis preoperatively significantly increased the risk of postoperative dislocations.244 Biomechanical studies have shown that it is also often possible to repair portions of the infraspinatus and teres minor.245 It ultimately is the surgeons decision whether to preserve or release the rotator cuff muscles in these scenarios. Maier et al. showed improvements in a prospective 3D motion analysis study in the ability to comb hair, wash opposite armpit, tie an apron, and take a book from a shelf tasks after reconstruction of subscapularis.239 Ackland et al. further supports this idea by reporting that the combined forces created by the opposing muscle lines of the subscapularis
(abduction and adduction) resulted in desired compressive forces, decreasing the risk of subluxation through bracing of the humeral head against the glenoid fossa during abduction.<sup>229</sup> These are important factors to consider since subluxations and dislocations are one of the most common complications after RSA.<sup>246,247</sup> However, Boulahia et al. suggested that there may be negative consequences to subscapularis repair as it can be antagonistic against external rotation.<sup>248</sup>

A recent study by Dedy et al examined subscapularis tendon integrity in patients 19 months postoperative RSA.<sup>249</sup> The authors used sonography to determine the effect of tendon integrity on shoulder function and patient outcome.<sup>249</sup> Integrity grades included shoulders with intact, mildly attenuated, severely attenuated and absent tendons.<sup>249</sup> The authors found that tendon integrity had no measurable effects on patient reported outcomes (PROs) using Disability of Arm Shoulder and Hand, Constant-Murley, or Oxford Shoulder assessments. Statistical and clinical significant effects between tendon integrity were only found on the ability of the subject to internally rotate.<sup>249</sup> Although findings were not significant for PRO's, the ability to internally rotate the arm is clinically important and should be acknowledged by healthcare professionals.

Damage to the infraspinatus and the teres minor after RSA should be avoided, as these are the only major external rotators.<sup>234</sup> Berton et al. examined activities of daily living (ADLs) in a 3D biomechanical design and showed that RSA functional outcomes are influenced by the integrity of the external rotators, specifically the teres minor.<sup>234</sup> These ADLs included "reaching to the contralateral shoulder" and "drinking from a cup" which presented with greater instances of scapular notching; impingement between the humeral component and the infraglenoid aspect of the scapula. Furthermore, teres minor

deficiency was associated with significantly lower postoperative Constant scores with an average score of 58 in those with teres minor deficiency versus 67 without, p = 0.01.234,250 When humeral medialization was incorporated, the RC muscles were further shortened which explains postsurgical external rotation deficits and weakness.228 Also, decreases in teres minor length, seen in lower degrees of humeral abduction, and infraglenoid impingement from a loss of muscle integrity, explains deficits seen in external rotation after RSA. Even if the teres minor external rotation moment arm is higher than in anatomical shoulders, the decreased length can impair force generating capacities when the arm is in lower degrees of abduction.234

#### Scapular Kinematic Effects

Humeral motion is frequently reported in the RSA literature while there is a paucity of knowledge on scapular motion. Research suggests that scapular involvement is an important component to evaluate since it is necessary for functional motion in an RSA shoulder.251,252 RSA scapular motion has been quantified by various outcome variables. These variables include scapular internal rotation (IR) or lateral rotation, external rotation (ER) or medial rotation, upward rotation (UR), downward rotation (DR), anterior tilt (AT), posterior tilt (PT), retraction, protraction, elevation, and depression.17,204 Furthermore, scapulothoracic (ST) motion has also been an outcome variable of interest and is defined as the amount of motion that the scapula moves around the thorax during arm motion.253,254 Moreover, scapulohumeral rhythm (SHR) is an important kinematic motion that is operationally defined as the ratio determined from the kinematic interaction between the scapula (during upward rotation) and the humerus.255 This 3D

kinematic assessment method, along with other types of 3D systems, have observed differences in RSA scapular motion with 1) a change in humeral plane of motion, 2) an applied load to the arm, and 3) muscle mechanical influences.

The three main cardinal planes in which the RSA literature reports measurements of arm elevation are the sagittal, coronal or frontal, and scapular planes.254,256 In anatomic shoulders, patterns of scapular motion change when there is a change in the cardinal plane.17,254,257 In a 2012, Kwon et al suggested that RSA shoulders demonstrate similar scapular kinematic differences between different planes.254 This further suggests that although shoulder kinematics may change after RSA, the scapula maintains its role in adapting to changes across shoulder cardinal planes. Furthermore, Roren et al found that the static position of the scapula tends to rest in DR after RSA when compared to healthy matched controls.258 Reasons for these differences are currently not understood however, there is a hypothesis that it could be a compensatory mechanism of the scapula.251 Previous RSA studies have also identified that scapular compensations can increase shear contact forces in the glenoid by 19%.256

Scapular UR is the most frequently reported motion in patients with an RSA. During arm elevation to 120 degrees, UR values have been recorded between 32-49 degrees in the coronal plane.227,256 and 30-53 degrees in the sagittal plane.255,256,259 In the scapular plane UR have been recorded around 33-55 degrees while only 20-30 degrees in healthy shoulders.255,256,259 Studies found that UR demonstrates greater values and a relatively greater contribution during elevation when compared to healthy adults.227,255 It should be noted that there are limitations when comparing scapular motion values across studies due to differences in measurement techniques and prosthetic designs. Moreover,

Lee et al examined scapular IR and PT in subjects 2 years after RSA and did not find any significant differences during elevation in the sagittal or scapular plane.<sup>255</sup> Scapular IR and PT were 47 and 20 degrees in the sagittal plane and 46 and 20 degrees in the scapular plane, respectively.<sup>255</sup> This lack in difference needs to be analyzed in future studies to determine if these degrees of motion are normal findings in this population since the literature has not truly identified normal scapular motion after RSA.

Computation analysis of SHR to 120 degrees of arm elevation has revealed average ratios of 1.25:1 - 2.5:1 254,255 in the sagittal plane, 1.17:1 - 2.4:1 227,255 in the scapular plane, and 2.5:1 in the coronal plane.254 Overall, SHR is less in all cardinal planes when compared to healthy controls.258 Significant differences have mainly been found between RSA and healthy shoulders during rest and dynamic motion while only minimal differences between shoulders. This may be due to the fact that this patient population has major degenerative changes in both shoulders thus influencing scapular kinematics bilaterally.

SHR has also been examined during coronal plane elevation with and without a 1.4 kg hand-held weight.<sup>260</sup> No significant differences were observed during unweighted and weighted abduction.<sup>260</sup> With added load, average SHR for RSA and normal shoulders were 1.3:1 and 3.1:1 respectively. This concludes that when load is added SHR is less in RSA shoulders when compared to healthy shoulders.<sup>260</sup> Lower values of SHR indicates that the humerus and scapula are closer to moving concomitantly suggesting that there is greater scapulothoracic motion occurring versus glenohumeral motion.<sup>260</sup> Furthermore, Kwon et al examined bilateral elevation when 2lb hand weights were held in the scapular plane and found that SHR decreased significantly.<sup>254</sup> When load is added to the arm, RSA

shoulders demonstrate lower SHR. This has functional implications because normal SHR is important for optimal scapular motion during activities of daily living (ADLs) which may require lifting weighted objects. These results can help guide rehabilitation interventions interested in strengthening periscapular muscles and should be considered as a part of rehabilitation protocols for RSA shoulders.

Biomechanical methodology was similar between studies but the authors were not completely transparent on reporting the type of RSA prosthesis utilized. This can make it difficult to compare results because function has been shown to be influenced by the type of implant design utilized.<sup>261</sup> Another limitation of the studies is that the control groups were not always age or sex matched. The use of the International Society of Biomechanics (ISB) standardization protocol for the upper extremity was consistently well reported. The ISB standards allow for replicability and translatability of future research. A more comprehensive understanding of the scapula's role in an RSA shoulder will guide future rehabilitation programs and determine predictors for postoperative function.

#### 2.6 Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty Outcomes

The effectiveness of RSA on functional outcomes continues to be researched with only limited long-term outcome studies due to its newly evolved existence as a surgical option after United States FDA approval in November of 2003.224,262 Although the surgical procedure improves function postoperatively, inevitable mechanical and proprioceptive changes occur that reduce the chances for regaining complete functional range of motion (ROM).263 Postoperative outcome studies of RSA for CTA have shown

improvements in function and pain.72,240,241,264 Nolan et al reported improvements in ASES scores and substantial increases in arm elevation.241 Unfortunately, there were no improvements in shoulder external rotation but others studies have shown that this may be mainly due to the design of the implant.265 Systematic reviews have published reporting's of long-term outcomes in patients who have undergone RSA for CTA.72,73 These systematic reviews can help evaluate the impact of RSA on clinical outcomes.

In 2017, Petrillo et al synthesized results from 7 different studies in 408 shoulders with patients at an average age of 71.9 years. The authors found that in 228 patients who completed the ASES that pain, function and total scores were significantly different (p < p0.05) preoperative compared to  $35.3 \pm 12.3$  months postoperative RSA.73 Average preoperative ASES pain, function, and total scores were  $18.1 \pm 0.07$ ,  $15.7 \pm 0.6$ , and 29.4 $\pm$  5.2, respectively.73 Average postoperative (35.3  $\pm$ 12 months) ASES pain, function, and total scores were  $40 \pm 18.5$ ,  $31.8 \pm 14.8$ , and  $72.2 \pm 4.1$  respectively.<sup>73</sup> Humeral range of motion was also assessed preoperative to postoperative and statically significant differences (p < 0.05) were found between time-points for all humeral motions. Arm elevation preoperatively averaged at  $51 \pm 13.2^{\circ}$  and  $124.4 \pm 11.9^{\circ}$  postoperatively.73 Average shoulder external rotation (ER) with the arm in adduction was  $17.1 \pm 6.9^{\circ}$ preoperatively and  $27.7 \pm 13.8^{\circ}$  postoperatively but the authors noted that 3 of the 7 studies actually reported decreases or failures in restoring shoulder ER.73 Similar decreases in shoulder ER findings were reported in a 2019 systematic review by Ernstbrunner et al in that 50% of the studies reviewed revealed lower shoulder ER motion postoperatively.72 It is of major interest to health care providers to determine what clinical factors are associated with decreases in shoulder ER to improve this necessary

functional movement.<sup>266</sup> Furthermore, a clinical device that effectively quantifies shoulder range of motion is needed to determine shoulder ER limitations. Therefore, future studies using valid clinical measurement tools are needed that are designed to help clinically determine which preoperative factors may be associated with outcomes related to poor shoulder function. Petrillo et al also reported that clinical and radiographic complications were described in all studies. Although this systematic review only assessed differences, the results show that patients diagnosed with CTA can benefit from RSA but not all patients may demonstrate clinical improvement. It is important for future studies to determine which patient characteristics are involved in those who do not demonstrate or report pain and functional improvements after RSA.

The majority of the RSA literature aims at predicting outcomes focusing on physical measures of range of motion after surgery with fewer studies placing emphasis on predicting patient reported outcomes such as the ASES.<sub>267-270</sub> A study by Matsen et al predicted better patient reported outcomes via the Simple Shoulder Test (SST) questionnaire 2 years after shoulder arthroplasty but this cohort included hemiarthroplasty, total arthroplasty, and reverse shoulder arthroplasty which are fundamentally different prosthesis.<sub>60</sub> A multivariate analysis showed 6 preoperative predictive factors for better outcomes which included the American Society of Anesthesiologist (ASA) Class I (p = 0.041), issue not related to work (p < 0.001), lower baseline SST (p < 0.001), no previous shoulder surgery (p = 0.006), no superior humeral head migration (p = 0.017), and other than an A1 glenoid type (p < 0.001).<sub>60</sub> This information can still be used for supporting future RSA research seeking to determine which patient factors to measure and consider preoperatively.<sub>60</sub> Friedman et al analyzed

patient reported outcomes of 660 patients at an average age of  $72 \pm 8$  years to determine if age and sex were associated with patient reported outcomes after RSA for CTA and revision RSA.271 In a linear mixed effects statistical model, age was controlled which determined that men had better ASES scores than woman (p < 0.001).271 When sex was controlled, every increase in age by 1-year was associated with an improvement in total ASES scores by 0.19 points (p = 0.011).271 These results reveal that a relationship exists between outcomes after RSA and sex and age which will help physicians educate patients and establish expectations preoperatively.

A recent prospective study sought to predict 2-year poor patient reported outcomes after RSA in patients preoperatively diagnosed with CTA or degenerative joint disease.272 Poor outcomes were defined as patients who reported in the lower 30th percentile of the ASES total score. A total of 137 shoulders were examine at an average follow-up time of  $29 \pm 8$  months. Patients in the poor outcomes group averaged 64.2 points on the ASES while those with satisfactory outcomes averaged 91.3.272 A bivariate analysis was initially used to indicate which factors were independently associated with poor outcomes and found that prior surgery on the same shoulder (p = 0.002) and opioid use (p = 0.006) were the only two factors significantly associated with poor outcomes.272 There were no other predictors that correlated with low ASES scores such as sex (p =(0.984), age (p = 0.458), primary diagnoses (p = 0.083), or lower preoperative ASES scores (p = 0.504).272 A multivariate logistic regression model was then used and revealed similar results. Prior shoulder surgery and preoperative opioid use were the only two associated with poor ASES scores while diagnosis, BMI, age, and ASA class were not. Although patients have significant improvements in function and outcome scores

after RSA, these improvements do not specifically or singly correlate with implant design, muscle mechanics, or surgical technique. Future clinical research that examines all of the previously mentioned missing patient factors in the literature need to be conducted to better determine which patients will report better or worse outcomes after RSA.

#### Summary

The role of the rotator cuff (RC) has been thoroughly studied and it is well established as a dynamic stabilizer of the glenohumeral (GH) joint. The RC muscle group continuously works to neutralize forces across the highly mobile shoulder. When RC dysfunction occurs due to lesions in the tendon, pain and functional impairments become apparent. This will potentially cause further compensations in movement patterns of the upper extremity leading to greater progressions in tear size and thus more severe pathological conditions in some patients leading to CTA and due to poor control of the humerus on the glenoid will potentially lead to OA of the GH joint. Unfortunately, it has not always been clearly reported in the literature which clinical factors are the most imperative when deciding treatment for RC related disorders. Scapular kinematics have been recorded in patients with RC tears and the majority of the literature has reported that scapular motion is directly associated with RC tear size. This data suggests that as RC tear severity increases, the amount of scapular motion compensation becomes more evident when compared to healthy controls. Specifically, in the patients with RC tears, the literature finds that the scapula may not posteriorly tilt and externally rotate as much during arm elevation but this data is less consistent than reporting's of upward rotation.

The literature supports that the scapula will significantly upwardly rotate during arm elevation in the presence of a rotator cuff tear. These compensations have been observed in each of the three planes of scapular motion during arm elevation using 3D motion software. Although 3D biomechanical data is accurate, it is not feasible to use in a clinical setting. Measuring scapular motion in a clinical setting is necessary for clinicians to be able to make appropriate treatment choices. Furthermore, the literature is overshadowed by scapular motion results only being concluded from arm elevation tasks, limiting the knowledge of other important functional motions such as shoulder external rotation.

Although physical measurements are important for predicting shoulder pain and function after treatment for RC related conditions, the literature supports that psychological factors are also predictive of outcomes. These psychological factors have specifically included depression, anxiety, and fear avoidance beliefs related to work. A disadvantage in the current knowledge of psychological factors as predictors of outcomes in patients with RC related conditions is a lack of a thorough psychological screening assessment. Moreover, psychological factors have yet to be assessed preoperative to postoperative in patients diagnosed with cuff tear arthropathy. The OSPRO-YF is a comprehensive psychological screening tool that can be used by health care providers to help identify psychological predictors of treatment outcomes that are currently still missing in the literature. This psychological screening form can be used in conjunction with the American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons assessment form to evaluate pain and function in patients with RC tears who necessitate treatment. When surgical treatment is warranted for an irreparable RC tear and the presence of GH osteoarthritis, a Reverse

Shoulder Arthroplasty (RSA) is recommended and has been shown to provide promising functional results. There is still limited data on predictors of outcomes after RSA which may be due to it being a relatively new surgical procedure. RSA procedures have exponentially increased over the past 5-10 years and is projected to continue to increase. With RC tears being one of the most common shoulder disorders and RSA's increasing in popularity, future studies need to focus on identifying relationships between biopsychological factors and patient reported outcome measures to optimize treatment outcomes for these patients. Research continuously supports that biopsychological factors are imperative to understand within this population due to the impact they have on patient outcomes. Future clinical practice guidelines will be able to benefit from a greater understanding of these relationships. Clinical guidelines related to shoulder evaluation and treatment will begin to shift away from an isolated physical assessment method and begin to incorporate psychological screening thus helping health care providers to appropriately refer a patient for psychological care if needed. This in turn will ultimately help improve patient reported outcomes.

# Chapter 3: Biopsychological Factors Associated with Worse Pain and Function in Patients with Rotator Cuff Tears

# Introduction

A rotator cuff (RC) tear can negatively impact shoulder function and is associated with complaints of pain, therefore, affecting an individual's ability to perform daily activities. Rotator cuff tears may also psychologically impact an individual by shaping fear-avoidance beliefs related to physical activity (FABQ-PA).135,188,273,274 Clinical biomechanical and psychological factors have been studied in patients with RC tears with the intent of better understanding the clinical characteristics that are representative of this patient population.135,195,275 Psychological factors are not as commonly assessed in orthopaedic clinical settings which may be due to barriers experienced by clinicians. In a survey by Vranceaunu et al, orthopaedic surgeons stated they are "unsure how to notice, screen, discuss or refer" psychological symptoms when asked about barriers for noticing, screening, discussing, and referring patients with psychological illness in their orthopaedic practice.276

The orthopaedic literature describes yellow flags as psychological risk factors that can predict patient outcomes.277 More recently there have been reports of various psychological constructs associated with outcomes in patients with musculoskeletal disabilities.63,141-145 The Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcomes Yellow-Flag (OSPRO-YF) assessment form was devised from 11 questionnaires addressing 3 psychological areas, negative mood, fear avoidance, and positive coping.63 Through a regression analysis, 11 questionnaires totaling 136 items were reduced down

to a 17-item questionnaire which screens for 11 musculoskeletal pain-related psychological constructs. This valid and reliable screening tool reduces patient burden of having to fill out multiple questionnaires. The OSPRO-YF is easy to administer and easily interpreted in a clinical setting. Since the psychological state of a patient may change while experiencing persistent pain and dysfunction, it is important to consider the psychological state of the patient to make better-informed treatment decisions. In the development of the OSPRO-YF patients with shoulder pain were included but a comprehensive examination of the 11 musculoskeletal pain-related psychological constructs has not been utilized in patients with MRI confirmed RC tears. Furthermore, clinically examining these psychological factors will help health care providers focus on psychological symptoms that need to be managed when establishing a course of treatment.

Biomechanical factors examined in the literature in patients with RC tears have typically focused on glenohumeral range of motion, limiting the recognition and importance of the scapula contribution to function.123,278-282 Scapular motion is an important biological component that can change in the presence of a symptomatic RC tear when compared to healthy shoulders.33,34,37,38,217 These documented scapular changes have been determined via 3-Dimensional (3D) motion analysis. Unfortunately, the scapula's 3D movement makes it difficult to measure in a clinical setting. The ability to measure scapular motion in a clinical setting is crucial for the advancement and execution of comprehensive clinical evaluations. Several studies have found that altered scapular motion occurs in the presence of various upper extremity conditions and may be the cause or consequence of persistent dysfunction.9,22,214,283,284 By clinically measuring

altered scapular motion, health care providers are able distinguish motion differences that may kinematically be contributing to reports of shoulder pain and dysfunction.

Patient reported pain and function are two integral elements paramount to how well an individual's quality of life is perceived.78 It is fundamental for health care providers to determine which combination of clinical factors are influencing reports of pain and function in patients with RC tears to be able to make significant improvements and optimal treatment decisions. The American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons (ASES) form is a standardized, valid and reliable patient reported outcome tool that is commonly used to quantify pain and function in patients with RC tears.49 Although there is evidence to support the impact biopsychological factors can have on patient reported outcomes, the literature is still missing the identification of clinical scapular measurements and a more comprehensive psychological assessment that will help clinicians recognize which factors are associated with pain and function. More specifically, psychological constructs that have not been studied in this patient population include, pain related anxiety, anger, selfefficacy, and behavior aspects of coping with pain.

The purpose of this project was to examine the association between clinical measures of biopsychological impairments and patient reported pain, function, and total ASES scores. We tested three hypotheses: 1) the combination of decreased scapular posterior tilt during an arm flexion task and increased FABQ-PA will be significantly associated with lower ASES pain scores, indicating more pain 2) the combination of increased scapular external rotation during shoulder rotation by the side task, and increased FABQ-PA will be significantly be significantly associated with lower ASES function by the side task, and increased FABQ-PA will be significantly associated with lower ASES function by the side task, and increased FABQ-PA will be significantly associated with lower ASES function scores, indicating worse function 3)

the combination of increased scapular upward rotation during an arm flexion task and increased FABQ-PA scores will be significantly associated with lower total ASES scores, indicating worse pain and function.

## **Materials and Methods**

# **Participants**

Patients were recruited from an outpatient orthopaedic clinic who were seeking medical care for shoulder pain. Participants were included if they 1) presented with shoulder pain 2) had a Magnetic Resonance Image (MRI) confirmed partial or full thickness RC tear to any one of the RC muscles, and 3) loss of active range of motion, strength or function due to a RC dysfunction. Exclusion criteria consisted of 1) previous shoulder surgery on the affected shoulder, 2) evidence of a fracture to either the humerus, glenoid, or clavicle, 3) received a subacromial injection prior to clinical testing, and 4) primary diagnosis of shoulder pain related to a condition other than a RC tear, such as cervical radiculopathy, acromioclavicular joint arthrosis, biceps tendon rupture, adhesive capsulitis, and a history of dislocation or instability causing derangement to the capsuloligament complex. The Institutional Review Board of University of Kentucky approved of this study, IRB #47739 before initiation of the study.

## **Procedures**

## Data Collection

This is a cross-sectional study design examining the associations between demographic, biological, and psychological variables with worse ASES pain, ASES function, and ASES total scores. Patients who met the inclusion and exclusion criteria were approached and consented for evaluation. The outcome variables of interest were 1) ASES pain scores, 2) ASES function scores, and 3) ASES total scores. ASES pain and function scores individually output a maximal score of 50 points which each individually represent 50% of the total 100-point ASES score.<sup>50</sup> A single question is asked to identify pain: "how bad is your pain today". A score of 50 on the ASES pain scale represents no pain while a 0 represents maximal pain. Ten activity questions are asked as a part of the function section. A score of 50 on the ASES function scale represents no functional limitation during the activity while a 0 represents complete dysfunction reported by the patient. All study data were collected and managed using REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture) electronic data capture tools hosted at The University of Kentucky.285,286 REDCap is a secure, web-based software platform designed to support data capture for research studies, providing 1) an intuitive interface for validated data capture; 2) audit trails for tracking data manipulation and export procedures; 3) automated export procedures for seamless data downloads to common statistical packages; and 4) procedures for data integration and interoperability with external sources.

## Demographic Variables

Demographic variables collected as independent variables included age and sex. For a thorough description of the population we also collected arm side of RC tear, mechanism of injury (atraumatic vs traumatic), height, weight, and body mass index (BMI).

## Rotator Cuff Variables

RC tear size was measured in millimeters using sagittal and coronal images by an independent musculoskeletal radiologist with 7 years of experience. All MRI scans were evaluated on high-resolution digital radiology monitors at a single center using a dedicated image viewer (McKesson, San Francisco, CA, USA). The length and width of each tear were measured on the PACS to the nearest millimeter. Anterior-posterior measurements were oriented parallel to the short axis of the cuff and transverse measurements were oriented parallel to the long axis of the cuff.

# Psychological Variables

The 11 psychological distress scores of the OSPRO-YF are calculated values used to indicate whether the patient is at risk for psychological distress determined by cutoff values set by the creators of the assessment form.<sub>63</sub> The 17-item questionnaire of the OSPRO-YF was used as it provides the highest psychological screening accuracy (85%) compared to the 10-item (81%) and 7-item (75%) portion. To calculate each score, item responses are multiplied by their associated regression weight. The following lists the psychological constructs captured using the OSPRO-YF: 1) Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ) for depression, 2) State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) for anxiety, 3) State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory (STAXI) for anger, 4) Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire for physical activity (FABQ-PA) and 5) fear-avoidance beliefs for work (FABQ-W), 6) Pain Catastrophizing Scale (PCS) for pain catastrophizing, 7) Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK-11) for pain-related fear of movement, 8) Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale (PASS-20) for pain-related anxiety, 9) Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire (PSEQ) for pain self-efficacy, 10) Self-Efficacy for Rehabilitation Outcome Scale (SER), and the 11) Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire (CPAQ) for acceptance of pain.<sub>63</sub> An indepth explanation about the calculation of the yellow-flag numerical criteria can be found in the original paper describing the development of the OSPRO-YF.<sub>63</sub>

# Biomechanical Variables: Range-of-Motion Analysis

Scapular and glenohumeral range of motion were measured in the clinic using an inertial measurement unit electric goniometer (EasyAngle, Meloq AB, Stockholm, Sweden). The EasyAngle has a high precision inertial measurement sensor that is accurate within 1 degree and can be calibrated in any anatomical plane to allow for clinical measurements in degrees of motion. Our previous research has established intra-rater reliability using the EasyAngle in healthy individuals described in Table 3.1. Validity of the EasyAngle has also been established against 3D motion capture (Silverson et al, in review).

	Mean Day 1 (SD)	Mean Day 2 (SD)	Lower 95%	Upper 95%	ICC	SEM	MDC90	LOA
U/D_Elev 120	-19 (7)	-19 (6)	0.500	0.822	0.701	4	9	13
I/E_Elev 120	-5 (4)	-5 (3)	0.375	0.778	0.628	2	5	7
I/E_ER	-7 (4)	-7 (4)	0.702	0.903	0.830	3	6	9
A/P_Elev 120	18 (6)	20 (6)	0.642	0.876	0.790	3	7	10

**Table 3.1** Intra-rater reliability of the EasyAngle

*SD*, Standard Deviation; *ICC*, Intraclass Correlation Coefficient; *SEM*, Standard Error of Measure; *MDC90*, Minimal Detectable Change at a 90% confidence interval; *LOA*, Limit of Agreement; *U/D*, Scapular upward/downward rotation; *I/E*, Scapular internal/external rotation; *A/P*, Scapular anterior/posterior tilt; *ER*, Shoulder external rotation; *Elev 120*, Arm elevation in the scapular plane to 120 degrees

All scapular and humeral motions were measured with the patient seated in a chair flush against a wall by a single examiner. Trunk motion was carefully observed and controlled during all range of motion tasks to reduce the amount of accessory motion from the spine.

# Arm Flexion Task

To evaluate the percent of scapular contribution during an arm elevation task, patients were asked to elevate their arm in the sagittal plane as high as they could without significant pain to achieve maximal elevation. Scapular motion was recorded at rest with the arm by the side of the hip and at the end position of maximal humeral elevation in the sagittal plane to complete the arm flexion task.

To record resting position of scapular anterior-posterior tilt (Figure 3.1A) the EasyAngle was calibrated to zero against the wall in a vertical position and then placed on the medial border of the scapula. The patient was then instructed to flex their arm to their maximal position in which the scapular end position was recorded (Figure 3.1B). The patient held the max position as the EasyAngle was placed on the middle aspect of the humerus to measure and record arm elevation (Figure 3.1C). To record resting position of scapular internal-external (I/E) rotation, the EasyAngle was calibrated to zero against the wall in a horizontal position and then placed on the spine of the scapula in the same position (Figure 3.2A). At the max of the arm flexion task, end position of the scapula was recorded (Figure 3.2B). The patient held the end of the arm flexion task while the EasyAngle was recalibrated to zero against the wall in a vertical position and then placed on the humerus to record arm elevation (Figure 3.2C). To record scapular upward-downward (U/D) rotation, the EasyAngle was calibrated on the floor in a horizontal position that was placed 30 degrees in the frontal plane since this is the typical angle resting position of the scapula against the spine. The EasyAngle was then placed on the spine of the scapula to record resting position (Figure 3.3A). The patient was asked to flex their arm to their maximal point in which the end position of scapular motion was recorded (Figure 3.3B). The patient held the max position as the EasyAngle was then placed on the middle aspect of the humerus to measure and record arm elevation without recalibration (Figure 3.3C). To calculate arm elevation, degrees recorded at max arm flexion position were added to 90 degrees to account for the initial calibration of the EasyAngle. The time to measure both scapular and humeral position was approximately 15 seconds so to measure all three scapular planes and humeral elevation was less than 1 minute.

#### Shoulder Rotation by the Side Task

During the rotation task, patients were asked to maximally rotate their adducted arm out to the side and to stop at the point of pain. To record resting scapular external rotation during this task, the EasyAngle was calibrated to zero against the wall in a horizontal position and then placed on the spine of the scapula in the same position (Figure 3.4A). At the end of the shoulder rotation by the side task, scapular end position was recorded. (Figure 3.4B). The patient held the end position while the EasyAngle was placed on the middle aspect of the forearm to measure degrees of shoulder external rotation (ER) (Figure 3.4C). The final degrees recorded were subtracted from 90 degrees due to the initial calibration of the EasyAngle. The typical reference point (0 degrees) is with the forearm facing directly forward for shoulder external rotation at the side.

# Calculating Percent of Scapular Involvement

Scapular excursion was calculated by subtracted the start position from the end position. Percent of scapular involvement during each arm motion task was calculated by dividing scapular excursion by the maximum degrees of arm motion. For example, during the arm flexion task, if 30 degrees of upward rotation was measured at 110 degrees of humeral elevation, the percent of scapular involvement would be calculated by the following equation:  $30^\circ \div 110^\circ = .27$  yielding 27%. During the shoulder rotation by the side task, scapular I/E motion was divided by the degrees of shoulder ER. For example, if 7 degrees of scapular ER was recorded during 35 degrees of shoulder ER, the percent of scapular involvement would be calculated by the following equation:  $7^\circ \div 35^\circ = .20$ yielding 20%. Representing scapular motion as a percentage accounts for relative scapular motion suggested by Hsu et al.287 **Figure 3.1** Scapular anterior-posterior tilt measurements during arm flexion task: (**A**) Scapular resting position. Patient is resting in scapular anterior tilt. (**B**) Scapular end position. Patient's scapula posteriorly tilted. (**C**) Arm flexion measurement



**Figure 3.2** Scapular internal-external rotation measurements during arm flexion task: (**A**) Scapular resting position. Patient is resting in internal rotation. (**B**) Scapular end position. Patient's scapula externally rotated. (**C**) Arm flexion measurement



Figure 3.3 Scapular upward-downward rotation measurements during arm flexion task: (A) Scapular resting position. Patient is resting in scapular upward rotation. (B) Scapular end position. Patient's scapula upwardly rotated. (C) Arm flexion measurement



Figure 3.4 Scapular internal-external rotation measurements during shoulder rotation by the side task: (A) Scapular resting position. Patient is resting in scapular internal rotation. (B) Scapular end position. Patient's scapula externally rotated. (C) Shoulder external rotation measurement



## Statistical Analysis

To examine the association between demographic, biological, and psychological variables with 1) ASES pain, 2) ASES function, and 3) total ASES scores a multiple linear regression with a forward stepwise approach was run. For all three dependent variables (ASES pain, ASES function, total ASES score), normality of data was confirmed by the Shapiro-Wilk test. Data values for each of the dependent and independent variables are presented as frequencies, means and standard deviations (Table 3.2) and bivariate correlations using a Pearson's correlation coefficient (Appendix A). Lastly, we checked for multicollinearity. A cutoff variance inflation factor (VIF) value of 10 was used to determine multicollinearity and variables were removed above a 10 since a VIF of 10 or above is of concern due to a high correlation represented between two independent variables can adversely affect estimations when using a regression model. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software version 26.0 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA). A p value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### Results

## **Clinical Characteristics**

A total of 59 subjects were recruited and consented for the study. Nine of the subjects were excluded due to the following reasons: five of the subjects MRIs revealed tendinosis without actual tearing of the tendon, two subjects had MRIs outside of the 3-month time point, 1 subject's MRI revealed tearing at the long head of the biceps tendon, and 1 subject was not eligible due to a previous shoulder arthroscopy. Average time between date of MRI and clinical data collection was  $30 \pm 31$  days. A total of 50 subjects

were included with an age range of 41 to 75 years at an average height of 1.67 meters, average weight of  $91.6 \pm 20$  kg, and an average BMI of  $30 \pm 5$ . We examined 38 patients with an isolated supraspinatus tear, one with an isolated infraspinatus tear, three with a subscapularis tear, and 9 with a combined tear of the supraspinatus and infraspinatus. Anterior-posterior tear size ranged between 1.1-62mm and transverse RC tear size ranged between 1.8-42mm. There was retraction present in 30 of the 50 (60%) subjects and 38 of the 50 (76%) were atraumatic. Of the 50 subjects, 33 presented with right sided RC tears. For this sample all independent and dependent descriptive data are outlined in Table 3.2.

Independent variables	Data		
Age, y	57 ±8		
Sex			
Female	16		
Male	34		
Anterior-posterior tear size, mm	21.6 ±14		
Transverse tear size, mm	17.9 ±13		
Area of tear size, mm	521.5 ±606		
Humeral elevation	117 ±39°		
Shoulder external rotation	28 ±22°		
% Scapular A/P	23 ±9		
Posterior tilt degrees	26 ±11°		
% Scapular I/E	8 ±6		
External rotation degrees	10 ±9°		
% Scapular U/D	$27 \pm 10$		
Upward rotation degrees	31 ±12°		
% TSHR	26 ±24		
Scapular external rotation degrees	6 ±5°		
Psychological Constructs			
OSPRO-YF score			
PHQ-9	$6.1 \pm 4.0$		
STAI	36.2 ±8.5		
STAXI	$14.6 \pm 3.3$		
FABQ-PA	$16.0 \pm 6.1$		
FABQ-W	$16.8 \pm 11.2$		
PCS	18.5 ±9.1		
TSK-11	$26.0 \pm 6.0$		
PASS-20	37.6 ±17.5		
PSEQ	34.5 ±13.7		
SER	89.2 ±24.3		
CPAQ	63.2 ±17.6		
Dependent Variables			
Total ASES score (0-100)	52 ±20		
Pain score (0-50)	27 ±12		
Function score (0-50)	25 ±10		

**Table 3.2** Patient Clinical Characteristics (N = 50)

*AP*, Anterior/posterior tilt; *IE*, Internal/external rotation; *UD*, Upward/downward rotation; *TSHR*, Transverse Scapulohumeral Rhythm; *OSPRO-YF*, Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcomes Yellow-Flag; *PHQ*, Patient Health Questionnaire; STAI, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory; STAXI, State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory; FABQ-PA, Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire for physical activity; FABQ-W, Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire for work; PCS, Pain Catastrophizing Scale; TSK-11, Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia; PASS-20, Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale; PSEQ, Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire; SER, Self-Efficacy for Rehabilitation Outcome Scale; CPAQ, Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire; ASES, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon

## **Biopsychological Predictors**

# Associated Factors of ASES Pain

The multiple linear regression analysis revealed that worse ASES pain scores could be explained by two factors: decreases in percent of scapular external rotation during the arm flexion task and increased fear avoidance beliefs for physical activity (R = .62, Adjusted  $R^2 = 0.364$ , p < 0.001). The final model for ASES pain scores can be found in Table 3.3.

#### Associated Factors of Function

The multiple linear regression analysis revealed that worse ASES function scores could be explained by four factors: decreasing age, lower humeral elevation, lower percent of scapular external rotation during the arm flexion task, and decreases in chronic pain acceptance (R = .83, Adjusted  $R^2 = 0.67$ , p = 0.003). The final model for ASES function can be found in Table 3.4.

## Associated Factors of ASES Total Scores

The multiple linear regression analysis revealed that worse ASES total scores could be explained by four factors: lower degrees of humeral elevation, lower percent of scapular upward rotation and external rotation during the arm flexion task, and increased fear avoidance beliefs for physical activity ( $\mathbf{R} = .82$ , Adjusted  $R^2 = 0.65$ , p < 0.001). The final model for ASES total scores can be found in Table 3.5.

Variable	Constant	R	<b>R</b> 2	Beta	Beta	Beta	p-value	VIF
					CI-95	CI-95		
					Lower	Upper		
					Bound	Bound		
Model:	33.72	.624	36%					
% Scapular ER				.397	.344	1.336	0.001	1.044
FABQ-PA				407	-1.276	344	0.001	1.044

**Table 3.3** Final multiple linear regression model for ASES Pain. (N = 50)

ASES, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon; R<sub>2</sub>, Adjusted R Square; R, Regression correlation value; VIF, Variance inflation factor; CI, Confidence Interval; ER, External rotation; FABQ-PA, Fear-Avoidance Beliefs for Physical Activity

**Table 3.4** Final multiple linear regression model for ASES Function. (N = 50)

Variable	Constant	R	<b>R</b> 2	Beta	Beta	Beta	p-	VIF
					CI-95	CI-95	value	
					Lower	Upper		
					Bound	Bound		
Model:	-22.18	.833	67%					
Age				.180	.014	.426	0.000	1.028
Humeral				.476	.075	.172	0.000	1.254
Elevation								
% Scapular ER				.191	.010	.662	0.037	1.247
CPAQ				.476	.177	.374	0.044	1.051

ASES, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon; R<sub>2</sub>, Adjusted R Square; R, Regression correlation value; VIF, Variance inflation factor; CI, Confidence Interval; ER, External rotation; CPAQ, Chronic Pain Acceptance

Variable	Constant	R	<b>R</b> 2	Beta	Beta	Beta	p-	VIF
					CI-95	CI-95	value	
					Lower	Upper		
					Bound	Bound		
Model:	38.04	.823	65%					
Humeral				.315	.060	.255	0.002	1.301
Elevation								
% Scapular UR				.237	.121	.798	0.009	1.052
% Scapular ER				.327	.467	1.747	0.001	1.228
FABQ-PA				493	-2.146	994	0.000	1.126

**Table 3.5** Final multiple linear regression model for ASES Total. (N = 50)

ASES, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon; R<sub>2</sub>, Adjusted R Square; R, Regression correlation value; VIF, Variance inflation factor; CI, Confidence Interval; UR, Upward rotation; ER, External rotation; FABQ-PA, Fear-Avoidance Beliefs for Physical Activity

# Discussion

The principle finding of this study is that a multivariate approach examining clinical biopsychological factors in patients with RC tears is necessary to better understand clinical components leading to ASES pain, function, and total scores. The biopsychological variables selected for analysis in this study were chosen using supporting data from the literature, clinical relevance, and to bridge current research gaps. The use of a multiple regression model allows for simultaneous evaluation of the relationships between multiple clinical factors that exist in patients with RC conditions. Determining the involvement biopsychological factors have on patient reported outcomes will allow for tailored treatment decisions resulting in favorable outcomes related to pain and function. Modifiable clinical factors were identified that can be addressed during treatment plans for this patient population. Furthermore, clinical research in patients with RC tears needs to be more comprehensive in its psychological assessment to truly determine how psychological distress plays a role in outcomes. Current psychological instruments used in the literature and clinical settings may not be capturing all relevant psychological constructs. There are 11 psychological constructs assessed by the OSPRO-YF that have been validated in patients with chronic shoulder conditions.<sup>171</sup> A strength of our study was that we used the OSPRO-YF to comprehensively screen 11 psychological symptoms.

While physical examinations are important to conduct for treatment decisions, physical examination does not completely explain the patient's perception of shoulder pain and function. Each model included at least one biological and one psychological variable that contributed toward explaining 36% of variance in pain scores, 67% in

function, and 65% in total ASES scores. Our results support using the biopsychological model as a clinical evaluative approach when seeking to improve patient self-reported outcomes. In our cohort, the combination of arm elevation, percent of scapular upward rotation, percent of scapular external rotation, and fear avoidance beliefs for physical activity predicted total ASES score. Health care providers can work toward improving patient reported outcome scores by focusing on these individual variables.

The hypotheses of our biopsychological model were supported for every component of the ASES scores even though we were not 100% correct. The results of this study partially supported our first hypothesis, as increased FABQ-PA was associated with worse ASES pain scores but decreased scapular posterior tilt during arm elevation was not. However, the study found that decreased scapular external rotation during arm elevation was associated with worse ASES pain scores. The second hypothesis was not supported. The study showed that younger age, less humeral elevation, decreased scapular external rotation during arm elevation, and a lower score on the chronic pain acceptance questionnaire were associated with lower ASES function scores. The third hypothesis was partially supported in that FABQ-PA was associated with worse total ASES scores. The study also found that less humeral elevation, decreased scapular upward rotation and decreased scapular external rotation during arm elevation were significantly associated with worse ASES total scores.

The population in this study was comparable to previous studies. Age range (41-75 years) and gender (male, 68%) characteristics of our patient population are similar to several studies, particularly those reported in a systematic review of patients with small to large traumatic RC tears.288 Mall et al reported RC patients were on average 55 years old

(range, 34 -61 years) and primarily male (77%). Friedman et al found that in patients with cuff tear arthropathy, men and older age were associated with improved American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons (ASES) form total scores.<sup>271</sup> In the current study, we also found that older age was a significant demographic factor associated with higher ASES function scores. ASES pain and function were evaluated by Harris et al<sup>289</sup> in patients with symptomatic atraumatic full-thickness RC tears, similar to our patient population. The authors reported an average ASES total score of 53.9 ±18 which is in line with our average score of  $52 \pm 19$  but ASES pain and functions scores were not separately reported for direct comparison. Interestingly, the authors found that sex was associated with higher ASES total scores (p = 0.001) which does not match our results.<sup>289</sup> Differences in these results could have been due to the differences in gender demographics. This study recruited majority male participants while Harris et al recruited an even amount of males and females.

Several 3D motion studies in patients with RC tears have found that patients with massive RC tears typically present with greater scapular UR and less scapular ER when compared to healthy cohorts.35,37,38,216,217 Other research examining 3D scapular motion in patients with RC related impingement found significant differences in scapular ER during arm elevation tasks when compared to healthy individuals.290,291 These authors reported significantly less degrees of scapular ER in the pathological group.290,291 It is worth noting that our study is the first study to associate triplanar clinical measurements of scapular motion with patient reported pain and function in individuals with RC tears. Due to the 3D nature of the scapula, capturing triplanar scapular motion is limited to conducting 3D motion analysis which is impractical in a clinical setting. Our research

team used a valid and reliable measurement device to clinically assess triplanar scapular motion during arm tasks as a critical component in the physical examination process. Scapulothoracic motion is important for shoulder motion and without controlled movement, there is a higher propensity for a shoulder pathology to occur such as a RC tear.24,214

The use of scapular motion as a percentage is novel but appropriately represents the contribution of scapular motion to total arm elevation. As technology advances, the ability to measure both humeral and scapular motion independent in the clinic is enhanced as demonstrated in this study. Similar to our methodology, Hsu et al also examined percent of scapular involvement during arm elevation in 352 patients before elective surgery for osteoarthritis (n = 161), RC tears (n = 46), cuff tear arthropathy (n = 161) 43), failed RC repair (n = 30), secondary degenerative joint disease (n = 23), and capsulorrhaphy arthropathy (n = 15).287 The authors only examined scapular upward rotation and found that it contributed to 17% of arm elevation  $(12 \pm 10^{\circ})$  of upward rotation during  $72 \pm 38^{\circ}$  of arm elevation) while our results found that scapular UR contributed to approximately 27  $\pm 10\%$  of arm elevation (31  $\pm 12^{\circ}$  of upward rotation during  $117 \pm 39^{\circ}$  of arm elevation). Differences in their percent of scapular motion compared to ours are most likely due to the difference in degrees of arm elevation and differences in shoulder conditions. As the arm elevates, the scapula increases in the amount it upwardly rotates, therefore our larger percentages can be explained by the 45 more degrees of arm elevation in our patient population. This increase observed in scapular upward rotation is likely due to compensatory motion of the shoulder in order to achieve maximal arm elevation.

Rotator cuff tears certainly limit function but also affect a person's emotional state.292 In patients with RC tears physical factors, such as tear size, age and family history, have been shown to predict shoulder pain.293 However, previous studies have also found that the rotator cuff tear size had little bearing on patient's perception of pain or function.135 The RC is a critical component of shoulder function and when this structure is significantly affected, not only does an individual's movement patterns change but their emotional state is also affected.273 Previous studies have already determined that physical factors can be less predictive of ASES patient reported outcomes than psychosocial factors in those with RC tears.188 Wylie et al found that mental health had a stronger association with patient reported pain and function than the size of the RC tear.135 Dunn et al reported similar results in that pain did not correlate with RC tear severity but found that comorbidities, education, and race were the only significant associated factors.55 A prospective study investigated predictive clinical factors of pain after RC repair and found that psychosocial factors were stronger predictors than structural factors.294 Although the patients in the prospective study were assessed after rotator cuff repair, these results may still be translatable in understanding the relationship physical and psychological factors have on patient reported pain and function. Depression and anxiety have been the psychological focus of RC research in previous studies.188,295 We demonstrated that fear and pain acceptance play a major role in patient reported pain and function. Unfortunately, only focusing on depression and anxiety does not allow physicians to appreciate the complexity of an individual's psychology, especially when we know that multiple psychosocial constructs can be expressed in the presence of a musculoskeletal injury.
## Limitations

Study limitations should be considered with these findings. Pain medication during time of data collection was not recorded which could misrepresent pain responses, potentially changing association values. It is likely that symptomatic patients will attempt to medicate but this may not be true for all patients as not every individual responds to pain in the same way. Although our biopsychological model did not include all possible clinically relevant factors, we were able to focus on key biopsychological variables that have clinical relevance. Another limitation of this study was the lack of capturing duration of symptoms which could have helped with determining whether psychological symptoms were affected by the amount of time a patient was symptomatic for. Future studies should include a larger sample size to allow for the inclusion of our study limitations and to provide a sound statistical analysis. Additionally, future studies should conduct a prospective study design that follows patients over time, ideally, after a treatment intervention as this can provide more insight on the influence biopsychological variables have on patient report pain and function.

## Conclusion

A multivariate approach examining clinical biopsychological factors in patients with RC tears is necessary to better understand clinical components leading to selfreported pain and function. The most significant combination of biological and psychological factors that influence ASES pain and function in patients with a symptomatic rotator cuff tear include age, humeral elevation, scapular external rotation

during an arm flexion task, scapular upward rotation during an arm flexion task, chronic pain acceptance behaviors, and fear avoidance beliefs of physical activity. Focusing on these variables will guide health care providers in the right direction toward improving patient reported scores on the ASES. Our results favor adopting a comprehensive biopsychological model over focusing solely on the physical features during clinical examination of patients with a rotator cuff pathology.

# Chapter 4: A Biopsychological Model for Predicting Worse Pain and Function After a Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty for Cuff Tear Arthropathy

# Introduction

The main indicator for undergoing a Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty (RSA) is the loss of shoulder function as a result of unstable forces surrounding the glenohumeral joint.226 Cuff Tear Arthropathy (CTA) is a condition in which unstable forces acting on the shoulder joint become determinantal to the integrity of the musculoskeletal tissue, necessitating an RSA.4 The three major characteristics of CTA are the presence of 1) an irreparable cuff tear, 2) osseous degeneration, and 3) superior migration of the humeral head.4 One of the main goals in performing an RSA is to restore as much of the original function of the glenohumeral joint while restoring as much pain free motion that can be achieved during activities of daily living (ADLs). As pain and functional outcomes are undoubtedly multifactorial, it is necessary to determine which combination of clinical factors are contributing to patient reported outcomes. A biopsychological model allows clinicians to appreciate the multifaceted nature of patient outcomes by approaching treatment that considers factors related to both physical features and psychological symptoms.

Shoulder range of motion is a physical indicator of function and is most commonly measured in isolation; however, this motion consists of a combination from the movement of the humerus and the scapula.17,204,253 Scapular motion has been kinematically quantified in patients with RSA using 3D motion analysis to examine how scapular kinematics differ when compared to a native shoulder.227,255,256,258,260

Researchers have found that scapular motion differs between the contralateral shoulder of patients with an RSA and healthy individuals.253,254 This difference includes greater scapular upward rotation degrees during arm elevation in patients with RSA. Clinically, it is unclear if scapular mobility is a predictor of patient reported outcomes after RSA; however, computer simulated models suggest that limited scapular mobility is a risk factor for postoperative prosthetic complications.251,252 Patients suffering from CTA and who are indicated for an RSA report their quality of life is reduced due to limitations in their ADLs.76 ADLs require scapular and humeral motion, humeral motion is commonly assessed but scapular motion is not clinically assessed but may be a key clinical factor to assess pain and function as a patient recovers from RSA.296

It is well known that a patient's psychological state is a potential risk factor for developing poor treatment outcomes.<sup>47</sup> Recent prospective studies have shown that psychological symptoms such as an inability to cope with pain and distress are significantly correlated with less improvements in pain and function scores following rotator cuff repair, scapular muscle reattachment, and total shoulder arthroplasty.<sup>58,59,277,297-299</sup> Furthermore, the literature has demonstrated that shoulder pain has a stronger correlation with a patient's psychological state than with the magnitude of local tissue involvement.<sup>55,299,300</sup> Painassociated psychological factors can be measured using a validated psychological screening tool - the Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcome for Yellow Flags (OSPRO-YF).<sup>63,64</sup> The OSPRO-YF evaluates two domains, resilience and vulnerability, of musculoskeletal pain-associated psychological distress.<sup>63</sup> The OSPRO-YF is a 17-item questionnaire that provides estimates of 11 psychological constructs including fear avoidance beliefs of physical activity (FABQ-PA) and chronic pain acceptance

behaviors.<sub>63,64</sub> The OSPRO-YF assists clinicians in assessing patients psychological status that may require additional consultation than just a surgical intervention. Despite successful surgical treatment, a poor outcome may be due to under-appreciated psychological distress or lack of patient satisfaction of the result.

Previous research has demonstrated that age, sex, and scapular upward rotation are associated with outcomes after RSA.271,301,302 Scapular motion has been shown to significantly differ in patients with RSA than healthy controls in that they present with greater degrees of scapular upward rotation.227 Friedman et al found that men and older age were associated with improved American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons (ASES) form total scores.271 The success of RSA treatment is commonly measured by the ASES, a patient-reported outcome score.127,128,130,303 Currently, the identification of pain-associated psychological distress and coping styles that predict patient-reported outcomes in patients with CTA preparing to undergo RSA has yet to be addressed. The development of a biopsychological prediction model will positively influence clinical care and allow for the development of protocols to improve postoperative pain and function.

Both altered scapular mobility and abhorrent pain coping behaviors are modifiable, but not necessarily mutually exclusive and can co-exist in this subset of patients. To address this unmet clinical need, it would be beneficial to examine the complex interplay between psychological factors and scapular and shoulder mobility on postoperative outcomes. Given the ongoing attention and importance of reducing both pain and disability in patients with CTA, research in this area is still needed. Therefore, the purpose of this study is to establish preoperative clinical biopsychological factors that may predict patients who report worse pain, function, and total scores assessed by the

ASES one-year after RSA. We will test the following hypotheses: 1) increased FABQ-PA will be most predictive of worse ASES pain scores at 1 year, 2) increased scapular upward rotation during an arm flexion task will be most predictive of worse ASES function scores at 1 year, and 3) the combination of increased scapular upward rotation during an arm flexion task and FABQ-PA will be predictive of worse total ASES scores one-year after RSA. Determining the involvement of biopsychological factors on patient reported outcomes will allow for tailored treatment decisions, leading to more optimal postoperative outcomes.

#### Methods

#### Study Population

Using a prospective study design, patients with CTA who underwent primary RSA in 2018-2019 were enrolled in an IRB-approved shoulder arthroplasty registry. The Institutional Review Board of University of Kentucky approved of this study, IRB #47739. Inclusion criteria consisted of having a preoperative diagnosis of CTA defined by the Hamada classification<sup>304</sup> and if the patient underwent a primary RSA. Patients were excluded if they had incomplete preoperative and 1-year postoperative data.

### Procedures

Independent variables include demographics such as sex and age, the 11 psychological distress scores of the OSPRO-YF, humeral elevation, and percent of scapular upward rotation (UR) contribution during humeral elevation. All independent variables were captured preoperative and 1-year postoperatively. Since it is the patient's

subjective impression of their health status that is most important to the success of treatment it was decided that the ASES assessment score at 1 year would be most appropriate to use as our outcome variable. Data collected at 1-year postoperative RSA included the ASES pain, ASES function, and ASES total scores which were calculated using the ASES assessment form. ASES pain and function scores individually output a maximal score of 50 points which each individually represent 50% of the total 100-point ASES score.50 A single question is asked to identify pain: "how bad is your pain today". A score of 50 on the ASES pain scale represents no pain while a 0 represents maximal pain. Ten activity questions are asked as a part of the function section. A score of 50 on the ASES function scale represents no functional limitation during the activity while a 0 represents complete dysfunction reported by the patient. All study data were collected and managed using REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture) electronic data capture tools hosted at The University of Kentucky.285,286 REDCap is a secure, web-based software platform designed to support data capture for research studies, providing 1) an intuitive interface for validated data capture; 2) audit trails for tracking data manipulation and export procedures; 3) automated export procedures for seamless data downloads to common statistical packages; and 4) procedures for data integration and interoperability with external sources.

# Psychological Variables

The 11 psychological distress scores of the OSPRO-YF are calculated values used to indicate whether the patient is at risk for psychological distress determined by cutoff values set by the creators of the assessment form.63 The 17-item questionnaire of the

OSPRO-YF was used as it provides the highest psychological screening accuracy (85%) compared to the 10-item (81%) and 7-item (75%) portion. To calculate each score, item responses are multiplied by their associated regression weight. The OSPRO-YF captured the following psychological constructs: 1) Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ) for depression, 2) State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) for anxiety, 3) State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory (STAXI) for anger, 4) Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire for physical activity (FABQ-PA) and 5) fear-avoidance beliefs for work (FABQ-W), 6) Pain Catastrophizing Scale (PCS) for pain catastrophizing, 7) Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK-11) for pain-related fear of movement, 8) Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale (PASS-20) for pain-related anxiety, 9) Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire (PSEQ) for pain selfefficacy, 10) Self-Efficacy for Rehabilitation Outcome Scale (SER), and the 11) Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire (CPAQ) for acceptance of pain.63 An in-depth explanation about the calculation of the yellow-flag numerical criteria used to determine psychological distress can be found in the original paper describing the development of the OSPRO-YF.63

#### **Biological Variables**

Scapular and humeral range of motion were measured in the clinic using an inertial measurement unit electric goniometer (EasyAngle, Meloq AB, Stockholm, Sweden). The EasyAngle has a high precision sensor that is accurate within 1 degree and can be calibrated in any anatomical plane to allow for clinical measurements in degrees of motion. Our research team established intra-rater reliability using the EasyAngle in healthy individuals described in Table 4.1. Validity of the EasyAngle has also been established against 3D motion capture (Silverson et al, unpublished data).

Table 4.1 Intra-rater remainity of the EasyAngle								
	Mean	Mean	Lower	Upper	ICC	SEM	MDC90	LOA
	Day 1	Day 2	95%	95%				
	( <b>SD</b> )	( <b>SD</b> )						
UR_Elev 120	-19 (7)	-19 (6)	0.500	0.822	0.701	4	9	13

**Table 4.1** Intra-rater reliability of the EasyAngle

*SD*, Standard Deviation; *ICC*, Intraclass Correlation Coefficient; *SEM*, Standard Error of Measure; *MDC90*, Minimal Detectable Change at a 90% confidence interval; *LOA*, Limit of Agreement; *UR*, Upward Rotation

All scapular and humeral motions were measured with the patient seated in a chair flush against a wall by a single examiner. To evaluate the percent of scapular contribution during an arm elevation task, patients were asked to elevate their arm in the sagittal plane as high as they could without significant pain to achieve maximal elevation. Scapular motion was recorded at rest with the arm extended by the side of the hip and at the end position of maximal humeral elevation in the sagittal plane to complete the arm flexion task.

To record scapular UR, the EasyAngle was calibrated on the floor in a horizontal position that was placed 30 degrees in the frontal plane since this is the typical resting position of the scapula on the spine. The EasyAngle was then placed on the spine of the scapula to record resting position (Figure 4.1A). The patient was asked to flex their arm to their maximal point in which the end position of scapular motion was recorded (Figure 4.1B). The patient held the max position as the EasyAngle was placed on the middle aspect of the humerus to measure and record arm elevation (Figure 4.1C). To calculate arm elevation while recording scapular UR, degrees recorded at max arm flexion position were added to 90 degrees due to the initial calibration of the EasyAngle. If a patient presents with less than 90 degrees of arm elevation, the amount of degrees will then be subtracted from 90.

Trunk motion was carefully observed and controlled during all range of motion tasks to reduce the amount of accessory motion from the spine. Scapular excursion was calculated by subtracting the start position from the end position. Percent of scapular involvement during each arm motion task was calculated by dividing scapular excursion by degrees of arm motion. For example, if 30 degrees of upward rotation was measured

during 110 degrees of humeral elevation, the percent of scapular involvement would be calculated by the following equation:  $30^{\circ} \div 110^{\circ} = .27$  yielding 27%. Percent of scapular motion methodology is supported by Hsu et al.287

#### **Operative and Postoperative Procedures**

All surgeries were performed by a single board-certified orthopaedic surgeon (C.M.H) using a surgical deltopectoral incision approach. The implant design *Aequalis Ascend*<sup>TM</sup> *Flex Reversed Shoulder System* (Tornier, Bloomington, MN, USA) was utilized in 14 patients and the *Comprehensive Reverse Shoulder System* (Zimmer Biomet, Warsaw, Indiana, USA) in 2 patients. Implant design followed the medialized glenosphere and lateralized humeral components technique.

All patients were instructed on the same postoperative rehabilitation protocol (Appendix B) which included a 6-week use of an abduction shoulder sling following surgery (Donjoy Ultrasling III, Vista, California), initiation of active assist shoulder flexion to 140 degrees via home exercises beginning the day after surgery (exercises taught to patient by a physical therapist). Furthermore, at 3 months patients were instructed to begin the shoulder strengthening phase of rehabilitation without restrictions on active ROM.

**Figure 4.1** Scapular upward-downward rotation measurements during arm flexion task: (A) Scapular resting position. Patient is resting in scapular upward rotation. (B) Scapular end position. Patient's scapula upwardly rotated. (C) Arm flexion measurement



#### Statistical Analysis

To examine the association between demographic, biological, and psychological variables with 1) ASES pain scores, 2) ASES function scores, and 3) total ASES scores a multiple linear regression with a forward stepwise approach will be run. A p value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. For all three dependent variables (ASES pain, ASES function, total ASES score), normality of data was confirmed by the Shapiro-Wilk test. Data values for each of the dependent and independent variables are presented as frequencies, means and standard deviations (Table 4.2). Variables forced in the multiple linear regression model using Enter in Block 1 included, age and sex, and scapular upward rotation since they have already been shown in the literature to be associated with outcomes.271,301,302 Lastly, we checked for multicollinearity. A cutoff variance inflation factor (VIF) value of 10 was used to determine multicollinearity and remove variables above a 10 since a VIF of 10 or above is of concern due to the high correlation represented between two independent variables which can adversely affect estimations when using a regression model. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software version 26.0 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA).

#### Results

A total of 23 patients from the registry were eligible. Seven patients were lost to follow-up due to a lack in response to return for their 1-year follow-up appointment leaving sixteen patients at the end of follow-up. Age of patient's ranged from 54 - 83 years. Our cohort was predominantly female (12/16, 75%) with an average height of 1.74 meters, average weight of 79.8  $\pm$ 16 kg, and an average BMI of 28  $\pm$ 6. A greater

percentage of right shoulders were affected 12/16 (75%). Average follow-up time was  $390 \pm 81$  days (range, 284 - 613).

Independent variables	Preop Data	Postop Data
Age, y	68 ±8	
Sex		
Female	12	
Male	4	
Humeral elevation	97 ±33°	$130 \pm 15^{\circ}$
% Scapular UR	$27 \pm 10$	33 ±4
Upward rotation degrees	$26 \pm 12^{\circ}$	42 ±5°
Psychological Constructs		
OSPRO-YF score		
PHQ-9	$7.3 \pm 4.4$	4.2 ±4.3
STAI	$39.2 \pm 8.5$	$34.7 \pm 8.4$
STAXI	$13.8 \pm 2.4$	$14.1 \pm 2.7$
FABQ-PA	$20.1 \pm 5.1$	$12.2 \pm 6.8$
FABQ-W	$25.8 \pm 7.7$	13.4 ±9.0
PCS	$22.8 \pm 9.1$	12.3 ±9.9
TSK-11	$29.0 \pm \! 6.0$	22.1 ±5.2
PASS-20	$52.1 \pm 13.7$	$25.7 \pm 18.9$
PSEQ	$32.6 \pm 12.5$	$41.3 \pm 13.2$
SER	$96.9 \pm 11.9$	$99.1 \pm 18.8$
CPAQ	$53.4 \pm 12.1$	$69.3 \pm 21.2$
Dependent Variables		
Total ASES score (0-100)	32 ±17	76 ±16
Pain score (0-50)	$17 \pm 11$	$40 \pm 14$
Function score (0-50)	14 ±9	$36\pm7$

**Table 4.2** Patient Clinical Characteristics (N = 16)

UR, Upward rotation; OSPRO-YF, Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcomes Yellow-Flag; PHQ, Patient Health Questionnaire; STAI, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory; STAXI, State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory; FABQ-PA, Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire for physical activity; FABQ-W, Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire for work; PCS, Pain Catastrophizing Scale; TSK-11, Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia; PASS-20, Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale; PSEQ, Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire; SER, Self-Efficacy for Rehabilitation Outcome Scale; CPAQ, Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire; ASES, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon

## **Predictors of One-Year Postoperative Outcomes**

Age, sex, and degrees of scapular upward rotation were adjusted for in each multiple linear regression analysis. The only model in which a variable was added after completing the stepwise regression was for ASES pain scores in which preoperative fear avoidance beliefs for physical activity (FABQ-PA) was included. This model was not significant. No variables were entered into the ASES function or ASES total model by the statistical software (Table 4.3).

Variable	Constant	R Value	<b>R</b> 2	Beta	Beta CI95 Lower Boundary	Beta CI95 Upper Boundary	p- value	VIF
ASES	-27.41	.579	.093		20011001	20011001		
Pain:								
Age				.277	467	1.386	0.298	1.063
Sex				.100	-16.783	22.885	0.741	1.434
Scapular UF	2			001	690	.688	0.998	1.271
FABQ-PA				.602	.007	3.258	0.049	1.227
ASES	57.99	.353	094					
Function:								
Age				321	787	.233	0.259	1.007
Sex				.021	-10.037	10.713	0.945	1.228
Scapular UF	ξ			185	492	.276	0.550	1.236
ASES	80.97	.014	233					
Total:								
Age				012	-1.232	1.172	0.957	1.007
Sex				100	-28.615	20.291	0.717	1.228
Scapular UF	2			045	899	.911	0.989	1.236

**Table 4.3** Final multiple linear regression models for ASES Pain, Function, and Total Score. (N = 16)

ASES, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon; R<sub>2</sub>, Adjusted R Square; R, Regression correlation value; VIF, Variance inflation factor; CI, Confidence Interval; UR, Upward rotation; FABQ-PA, Fear-Avoidance Beliefs for Physical Activity

#### Discussion

This is the first study to use biopsychological modeling for understanding predictors of RSA outcomes associated with patient self-reported pain and function in subjects with CTA. The literature supports the inclusion of both physical and psychological testing preoperative surgical correction for rotator cuff (RC) related conditions.297,305 Although our prediction model was not powered to show statistical significance due to limited return in patients at one-year, we conducted a secondary analysis (Wilcoxon Signed-Ranks Test) to provide insight into what biopsychological changes occurred preoperative to 1-year postoperative RSA (Table 4.4). The Wilcoxon Signed-Ranks Test indicated that 1-year postoperative humeral elevation (z = 110, p =(0.004), percent scapular upward rotation (z = 116.5, p = 0.012), degrees of scapular upward rotation (z = 130.5, p = 0.001), ASES pain scores (z = 5.50, p = 0.001), ASES function score (z = 0.00, p < 0.0001), ASES total scores (z = 2.00, p = 0.001), PSEQ (z =108.00, p = 0.039), and CPAQ (z = 123.00, p = 0.004) were statistically significantly higher than their respective preoperative measures. The Wilcoxon Signed-Ranks Test also indicated that 1-year postoperative PHQ-9 (z = 12.00, p = 0.004), FABQ-PA (z =7.00, p = 0.002), FABQ-W (z = 4.00, p = 0.001), PCS (z = 7.00, p = 0.002), TSK-11 (z = 1.00), TSK-11 (z 5.00, p = 0.001), and PASS-20 (z = 3.00, p = 0.001) were statistically significantly lower than their respective preoperative measures, indicating favorable results.

Our secondary analysis can be used to justify future research seeking to explain what influences patient outcomes. We found that surgery not only improved pain and function but also improved psychological factors. We found significant differences in all ASES component scores which is the well-accepted standardized clinical assessment form in this patient population. The form allowed us to evaluate clinically meaningful differences rated by the patient. Similar to our results, a systematic review by Petrillo et al<sub>73</sub> also found statistically significant ASES improvements (p <0.05) in patients undergoing RSA for a massive RC tear or CTA at  $35.3 \pm 12.3$  months follow-up. In 228 patients, preoperative ASES pain, function, and total scores average was  $18.1 \pm 0.07$ ,  $15.7 \pm 0.6$ , and  $29.4 \pm 5.2$ , respectfully and increased to  $40 \pm 18.5$ ,  $31.8 \pm 14.8$ , and  $72.2 \pm 4.1$ , respectfully.73 Unfortunately, not all studies included the use of the ASES making it difficult to compare results across research. In a more recent systematic review in patients undergoing RSA for rotator cuff dysfunction, the authors excluded a single article that used the ASES because the ASES was not the same scoring systems as used by the other authors.72

Multiple variables have been reported to predict surgical outcomes in patients with RC conditions which are important to consider as these studies can help set examples for future arthroplasty research projects. Many factors such as arm dominance, sex, alcohol use, ASA class, Simple Shoulder Test, ASES scores, prior shoulder surgery, humeral head displacement, glenoid type, diabetes, RC tear in those with glenohumeral osteoarthritis, and postoperative Four-dimensional Symptom Questionnaire for mental health have been found to be associated with outcomes.51,57,58,60,62 Furthermore, work related factors such as workers compensation claims51,306-308, fear-avoidance behavior related to work57, and autonomy at work309 were shown to predict functional outcomes after surgery in patients with RTC tears. Matsen et al determined that a shoulder problem

related to work was a stronger predictor than the SF-36 Mental Component Score and self-reported anxiety and/or depression.<sup>60</sup> Unfortunately, none of these studies used a biopsychological to reach their conclusions on patient reported outcomes.

Greater emphasis is being placed on patient-reported outcomes after RSA by orthopaedic surgeons. A more thorough understanding of the role of psychological comorbidities on postoperative outcomes is necessary. Pain-associated psychological distress adversely influences functional outcomes and is a predictor of disability and health for patients with shoulder pain.146 Best practice guidelines now include the assessment of psychologic conditions to prevent delayed recovery or potential transition into pain chronicity.63 Despite consistent evidence in psychological factors being strongly correlated with change in pain intensity and amount of physician visits than tissue related injuries, assessment of pain-associated psychological distress is not routinely performed as a standard part of orthopaedic clinical practice.63 In this study, we used the OSPRO-YF to examine the potential role of psychological constructs on patient reported outcomes assessed by the ASES after RSA. A benefit of the OSPRO-YF is that it is a 17item questionnaire derived from a 136-item bank developed from validated psychological questionnaires across multiple domains related to pain vulnerability and resilience.63 This tool assesses psychological constructs with low respondent burden. Higher OSPRO-YF scores indicate higher psychological distress as evidence of higher pain vulnerability and lower pain resilience.64 The OSPRO-YF is a foundational assessment tool that mitigates difficulty in establishing psychological clinical factors that are missing from large-scale datasets for musculoskeletal pain.

Additional psychological measurement tools utilized in the literature include the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) and the Brief Resilience Scale (BRS). The PSS is a valid measurement for perception of stress in an individual's life.310 Styron et al examined preoperative PSS scores, SF-12-MCS and patient confidence in reaching their desired level of function 6-months following a TSA.311 The primary predictor of function, measured by the Penn Shoulder Score, was baseline confidence in obtaining a desired postoperative level of function.311 The authors failed to report preoperative diagnosis and indications for undergoing TSA which did not allow for ease of comparison. Confidence in surgical outcomes was also found to be a greater PRO predictor in the study by Thorpe et al.51 Tokish et al analyzed resilience in patients who had undergone a TSA using the BRS, a 6-question Likert scale that classifies patients into normal-resilience, lowresilience, and high-resilience.<sup>312</sup> The BRS has proven reliability but lacks validity studies in English and disease specific normative values.313-315 Although the authors showed that patients with high resilience demonstrate ASES scores up to 40 points higher than patients who have low resilience, caution should be taken when generalizing the results of this study.312

The majority of the RSA literature on scapular kinematic data is comprised of assessing scapulohumeral rhythm (SHR) and scapular upward rotation. Previous research examining scapular motion difference in patients with an RSA and healthy individuals typically report lower SHR ratios.227,254-256,260 These lower ratios were the result of higher values of scapular upward rotation during arm elevation when compared to healthy individuals .227,254-256,260 Scapular compensatory motions can be disadvantageous to the shoulder-complex in the long-term and are important to examine when considering the

longevity of the patient's shoulder after undergoing surgical correction. The scapula typically contributes to 30 percent of total arm motion and may partly compensate for loss of shoulder movement after RSA.27,28,258 Therefore, more comprehensive studies need to be conducted to increase information on how the scapula contributes to the function of the prosthesis. This will then inform rehabilitation specialist on which scapular motor patterns to initiate to prevent failure of the prosthesis. Furthermore, de Toledo et al. (2012) reported that it is important to avoid the occurrence of scapular dyskinesis to ensure that the exercises performed by patients with an RSA are effective and beneficial.

This study controlled for age and sex as they have been found to be associated with RSA patient reported outcomes.<sup>271</sup> Friedman et al found that when controlling for age, men had better ASES total scores (mean difference = 7.58 points [95% CI, 5.27-9.89], p < 0.001) and when controlling for sex each 1-year increase in age was associated with an improved ASES total score by 0.19 points (95% CI, 0.04-0.34, p = 0.011). Physicians knowledge of these two clinical factors can be a component of patient counseling and allow them to establish patient expectations after RSA. Another potential clinical factor to consider is preoperative patient expectations. Coronado et al found that preoperative patient expectations were associated with postoperative functional outcomes suggesting that this may need to be targeted for enhancing recovery and self-reported outcomes in this patient population but was not captured in our study.188

Scapular upward rotation was also controlled for in our statistical model as studies have shown that scapular kinematics differ in patients with RSA when compared to healthy individuals or the patients contralateral arm.227,256 Patterns of scapular motion

tend to have lower scapulohumeral rhythm ratios compared to contralateral shoulders, showing greater upward rotation values.227 Terrier et al used 3D computational modeling and found that a portion of the mobility at the glenohumeral joint is transferred to the scapulothoracic region in computer generated shoulders after an RSA.251 It is agreed upon in the literature that kinematics of the glenohumeral joint are significantly altered in a shoulders implanted with an RSA in which more scapulothoracic motion is used to help achieve arm elevation.254,255,258,260

Independent variables	p-value	Effect	Test
	_	Size	statistic
Humeral elevation	0.004*	1.38	110.00
% Scapular UR	0.012*	0.85	116.50
Upward rotation degrees	0.001*	1.88	130.50
Psychological Constructs			
OSPRO-YF score			
PHQ-9	0.004*	0.72	12.00
STAI	0.098	0.54	36.00
STAXI	0.796	0.12	73.00
FABQ-PA	0.002*	1.34	7.00
FABQ-W	0.001*	1.49	4.00
PCS	0.002*	1.11	7.00
<b>TSK-11</b>	0.001*	1.23	5.00
PASS-20	0.001*	1.62	3.00
PSEQ	0.039*	0.68	108.00
SER	0.438	0.14	83.00
CPAQ	0.004*	0.96	123.00
Dependent Variables			
Total ASES score (0-100)	0.001*	2.75	2.00
Pain score (0-50)	0.001*	2.00	5.50
Function score (0-50)	< 0.0001*	2.75	0.00

**Table 4.4** Secondary Analysis of preoperative to 1-year postoperative changes (N = 16)

\* Significant difference p < 0.05

UR, Upward rotation; OSPRO-YF, Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcomes Yellow-Flag; PHQ, Patient Health Questionnaire; STAI, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory; STAXI, State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory; FABQ-PA, Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire for physical activity; FABQ-W, Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire for work; PCS, Pain Catastrophizing Scale; TSK-11, Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia; PASS-20, Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale; PSEQ, Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire; SER, Self-Efficacy for Rehabilitation Outcome Scale; CPAQ, Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire; ASES, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon

## Limitations

The primary limitation of this study was the lack of a sufficient sample size due to low enrollment and 70% follow up rate. This did not allow us to generate a well powered statistical model to draw predictive conclusions from. It is important to note that patients presented postoperatively with potentially confounding health circumstances. For example, one patient had to undergo a hip replacement 11 months after undergoing RSA, placing her in a wheelchair with repetitive chronic use of her shoulder. This led to her reporting shoulder pain at 1-year when she believed she was otherwise improving. One patient developed moderate cervical stenosis which could potentially lead to limited shoulder function. Another patient was limited in ADLs due to undergoing wrist surgery 11 months after RSA. We also found that a couple patients were unable to be active due to cardiovascular conditions such as with a cardiac aneurism. These circumstances may have caused a result in lower ASES scores even though they were not directly related to their shoulder condition. Patient's may have reported higher pain levels and lower function scores due to these indirect conditions.

Strengths of this include the use of a clinical measurement technique for measuring scapular upward rotation preoperatively and 1- year postoperative. We are the first study to clinically measure scapular motion preoperative and 1-year postoperatively in this patient population. The majority of studies that have measured scapular motion in patients with an RSA utilized 3D motion analysis in the postoperative phase. These studies also have only compared motion to the contralateral shoulder or healthy individuals. Another strength includes the comprehensive psychological screening which had yet to be conducted in this patient population. Future projects should include a larger

sample size with the help of using a multi-site study to enhance and broaden recruitment. This will then allow for the inclusion of more clinical variables into a prediction model to determine which factors physicians should focus on thus allowing them to be able to take control early on in postoperative management. Advances in this area are truly beneficial to both the patients and treating clinicians.

# Conclusion

In an era of personalized medicine, future projects that fulfill the limitations of this study will aid in the development and implementation of future multidisciplinary studies aimed at generating evidence-based treatment protocols. The use of a biopsychological prediction model can be used by physicians to adequately make clinical decisions and tailor preoperative treatment according to the severity of the pathology, pathomechanics, and psychological state of the patient.

#### **Chapter 5: Summary**

The primary purpose of this dissertation was to examine the association between clinical biopsychological impairments with American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon (ASES) pain scores, ASES function scores and total ASES scores in patients with small to massive rotator cuff tears. The secondary purpose was to investigate a biopsychological model for predicting worse ASES pain scores, ASES function scores, and total ASES scores one-year after undergoing a Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty (RSA) for Cuff Tear Arthropathy (CTA).

Hypotheses and Findings for Specific Aim 1

Hypothesis 1: The combination of increased scapular anterior tilt during arm elevation and increased FABQ-PA scores will be significantly associated with worse ASES pain scores

Finding 1: This hypothesis was partially accepted, as increased FABQ-PA was associated with worse ASES pain scores but decreased scapular posterior tilt during arm elevation was not. However, it was found that decreased scapular external rotation during arm elevation was associated with worse ASES pain scores. We were correct that both a psychological and biological factor were affecting ASES pain scores, it was just a different scapular plane of motion.

Hypothesis 2: The combination of increased scapular upward rotation during arm elevation and decreased scapular external rotation during shoulder external rotation will

be significantly associated with lower patient reported function scores measured by the ASES.

Finding 2: This hypothesis was not accepted. We found that younger age, less humeral elevation, decreased scapular external rotation during arm elevation, and lower scores in chronic pain acceptance were associated with lower ASES function scores.

Hypothesis 3: The combination of increased scapular upward rotation during arm elevation and increased FABQ-PA scores will be significantly associated with wrose total ASES scores.

Finding 3: This hypothesis was partially accepted in that FABQ-PA was associated with wrose total ASES scores. We also found that lower degrees of humeral elevation, decreased scapular upward rotation and decreased scapular external rotation during arm elevation were significantly associated with lower ASES total scores.

Hypotheses and Findings for Specific Aim 2

Hypothesis 1: Increased FABQ-PA will be most predictive of ASES pain scores Finding 1: This hypothesis was not supported due to a lack in statistical power to be able to show clinical relevance.

Hypothesis 2: Increased scapular upward rotation during arm elevation will be most predictive of worse ASES function scores

Finding 2: This hypothesis was not supported due to a lack in statistical power to be able to show clinical relevance.

Hypothesis 3: The combination of increased scapular upward rotation and FABQ-PA will be predictive of worse total ASES scores one-year after RSA

Finding 3: This hypothesis was not supported due to a lack in statistical power to be able to show clinical relevance.

#### Synthesis and Application of Results

The overall purpose of this dissertation was to determine which clinical biopsychological factors are associated with worse ASES pain scores, ASES function scores, and ASES total scores. Based on our findings, multiple conclusions can be drawn from the first aim. In patients with RC tears, we used the pain, function, and the total outcome components of the ASES to examine which biopsychological factors are associated with each component of the ASES score. The implications of these results are that self-reported assessment scores are influenced by a combination of biological and psychological factors. It would be unjust to solely evaluate a single clinical factor such as arm elevation in attempt to explain ASES function. It will be more beneficial to employ a biopsychological approach during the examination process when a clinician is deciding which treatment course to take. A biopsychological factors that impact self-reported outcomes.

In our population with rotator cuff tears pain scores were mainly explained by scapular external rotation and fear avoidance beliefs for physical activity (FABQ-PA) but of the two explanatory factors, FABQ-PA held the greatest weight in the regression model. Both regressions predicting the ASES function model and ASES total scores model were explained by at least one scapular motion and one psychological factor, with the psychological factor having the greatest weight contributing to the coefficient of

determination. This study highlights that new clinical variables of psychological and scapular motion may be necessary to assess at patient's initial evaluation. It appears these measures affect ASES scores and may need to be addressed prior to surgery or during postoperative rehabilitation to facilitate the best possible outcome as measured by the ASES. These results can then be used by health care providers to support the future use of clinical psychological screening in the orthopaedic setting. Any form of psychological distress can have negative implications in how well a patient responds to treatment. Chronic pain acceptance and fear avoidance beliefs were the two psychological constructs found to influence ASES scores. Chronic pain acceptance has not been previously demonstrated in the literature as a contributing psychological factor associated with outcomes. Therefore, the OSPRO-YF helped reveal this new information. Cognitive behavioral therapy may help in reducing the amount of pain reported but future

Additionally, in patients with cuff tear arthropathy, we were inadequately sampled to find significant biopsychological factors that predict each component score of the ASES form. However, we speculate that with an adequate sample size we would find that a biopsychological model is more predictive of patient reported outcome score. Our biopsychological prediction model can still be used to allow health care providers to adequately make clinical decisions and tailor preoperative treatment according to the severity of the pathology, pathomechanics, and psychological state of the patient. Surgical intervention certainly is impactful on patients but determining success or failure without better understanding the role of a patients physical and psychological well-being may not tell the complete story of a poor or successful surgical outcome in the eyes of the

patient. In our secondary analysis conducted in order to determine if patients undergoing RSA improved one year after surgery, we ran a Wilcoxon Signed-Ranks Test comparing preoperative variables with 1-year postoperative results. All independent and dependent variables showed statistically significantly differences except for STAI, STAXI, and SER.

It can be inferred with reason that the results from our secondary analysis found that a Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty not only improved pain and function but also improved psychological factors as well. These biopsychological factors could have improved as a result of the potential pain-relieving benefits of surgery. As clinicians we strive to improve quality of life in patients seeking treatment. The negative emotional, financial, and social aspects that are incurred in patients with rotator cuff conditions brings about multiple challenges during the course of treatment. When the patient's physical and mental state are improved by successfully treating their underlying condition, the patient's quality of life can been enhanced.

# Appendices

Dependent Variables	ASES Pain		<b>ASES Function</b>		ASES Total	
	Pearson	p-value	Pearson	p-value	Pearson	p-value
Independent Variables	(r)	-	(r)	-	(r)	-
Age, y	.173	0.23	.136	0.35	.179	0.22
Sex	.227	0.11	.276	0.06	.285	0.05*
Anterior-	.219	0.13	-073	0.62	.099	0.50
posterior tear						
size, mm	244	0.00	070	0.50	110	0.44
Transverse tear	.244	0.09	079	0.59	.112	0.44
Area tear size	221	0.12	- 065	0.65	104	0.47
mm	.221	0.12	.005	0.05	.101	0.17
Humeral	.381	0.006*	.612	<0.0001*	.556	<0.0001*
elevation						
Shoulder ER	094	0.52	.218	0.13	.055	0.71
% Scapular AP	122	0.40	082	0.57	118	0.41
% Scapular IE	.480	<0.0001*	.490	<0.0001*	.554	<0.0001*
% Scapular UD	.107	0.46	.048	0.74	.092	0.53
% TSHR	134	0.35	197	0.17	2186	0.20
<b>OSPRO-YF</b> score						
PHQ-9	337	0.017*	320	0.024*	376	0.007*
STAI	344	0.014*	388	0.005*	416	0.003*
STAXI	173	0.23	.106	0.47	053	0.71
FABQ-PA	489	<0.0001*	585	<0.0001*	609	<0.0001*
FABQ-W	358	0.01*	562	<0.0001*	515	<0.0001*
PCS	389	0.005*	489	<0.0001*	497	<0.0001*
<b>TSK-11</b>	397	0.004*	534	<0.0001*	525	<0.0001*
PASS-20	456	0.001*	594	<0.0001*	593	<0.0001*
PSEQ	.190	0.19	.565	<0.0001*	.412	0.003*
SER	014	0.924	.413	0.003*	.206	0.152
CPAQ	.291	0.04*	.597	<0.0001*	.492	<0.0001*

**Appendix A.** Bivariate correlations of independent and dependent variables (N = 50)

ASES, American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeon; *ER*, External Rotation; *AP*, Anterior/Posterior tilt; *IE*, Internal/External rotation; *UD*, Upward/Downward rotation; *TSHR*, Transverse Scapulohumeral Rhythm; *OSPRO-YF*, Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcomes Yellow-Flag; *PHQ*, Patient Health Questionnaire; *STAI*, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory; *STAXI*, State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory; *FABQ-PA*, Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire for physical activity; *FABQ-W*, Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire for work; *PCS*, Pain Catastrophizing Scale; *TSK-11*, Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia; *PASS-20*, Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale; *PSEQ*, Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire; *SER*, Self-Efficacy for Rehabilitation Outcome Scale; *CPAQ*, Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire \*statistically significant

Appendix B. Shoulder Arthroplasty Therapy Protocol for Hemiarthroplasty, Total Shoulder Arthroplasty, and Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty Patient to begin Phase 1 exercises at home daily, 5 times a day on the morning after

surgery.

Phase 1	2 home based exercises					
Goals	Primary goal is for the tissue to heal through rest and only the					
Detient	1 Remain in sling at all times unless showering or performing					
Instructions for Daily Life	<ol> <li>Remain in sling at all times unless showering or performing exercises.</li> <li>We encourage the use of the ice or the cryo-cuff to help control pain and inflammation after surgery for a minimum of 6 weeks.</li> <li>All exercises are performed 5 times a day for 5 repetitions.</li> </ol>					
Instructions	<ol> <li>Active assist shoulder exercises prevent stimless and are critical for a good result.</li> <li>Only these 2 shoulder exercises are to be performed 5 times a day for 5 repetitions</li> <li>The following motions are not to occur:         <ul> <li>a) External Rotation past neutral</li> <li>b) Abduction</li> <li>c) Internal Rotation behind back</li> </ul> </li> </ol>					
0-6 weeks	<ul> <li>1. Supine passive assistive forward flexion to 140° (ear level), hold 5 seconds and repeat 5 times, 5 times a day. This needs to be achieved within 2 weeks to avoid stiffness.</li> </ul>					
	<ul> <li>2. Table slides hold 5 seconds and repeat 5 times, 5 times a day. This needs to be done pushing a small towel, getting arm to ear.</li> </ul>					

Week 6	Patient will see Dr. Hettrich prior to starting Phase 2 exercises					
Phase 2	4 shoulder exercises are to be performed 2 times a day for 5					
Exercises	repetitions					
Goals	<ol> <li>Continue healing after your surgery, as this takes 12 weeks.</li> <li>Gain active motion of your arm with smooth movement without shrugging shoulders</li> </ol>					
Patient Instructions for Daily Life	<ol> <li>Without shrugging shoulders</li> <li>Use sling only in uncontrolled situations (crowds, around small children, animals) or on slippery surfaces (ice/snow)</li> <li>All exercises are performed 3 times a day for 5 repetitions</li> <li>Do not lift anything in your operated hand greater than 1 pound</li> <li>No pushing/pulling</li> <li>Need to keep arm in front of your body – no reaching to the side, reaching helping helping helping helping</li> </ol>					
Therapist Instructions	<ol> <li>Exercises are to be instructed during a single visit and then the patient is to perform the following 4 exercises at home on their own.</li> </ol>					
7-12 weeks	<ul> <li>1. Table slides hold 5 seconds and repeat 5 times, 3 times a day to 140°</li> <li>2. Scapular squeezes – Squeeze shoulder blades together for 5 seconds, 5 repetitions, 3 times a day</li> </ul>					
	3. Supine passive assistive forward flexion to 140° (ear level), hold 5 seconds and repeat 5 times, 3					

times a day. If this has not been achieved it is imperative they do so ASAP.				
4. Week 7-9: Ceiling Punches: Lie on your back reach your operated arm up toward the ceiling. Hold for 5 seconds repeat 5 times perform 3 times a day.				
5. Week 10-12: Elevated Ceiling Punches: Replace exercise #4 with this exercise. Lie in a recliner or against propped up pillows. Lift your operated arm toward the ceiling and hold for 5 seconds, repeat 5 times perform this 3 times a day				
12 weeks	Patient will see Dr. Hettrich prior to starting Phase 3			
---------------------------	---	--	--	--
Milestone	<ul> <li>If Active Elevation to 90° in upright position cannot be performed 5 times in a row without scapular compensation start "Inability to Lift Arm Protocol" (Page 6)</li> <li>If Active Elevation to 90° is performed without difficulty, then start Phase 3 exercises</li> </ul>			
Phase 3	1. Active motion exercises are to be performed for 10			
Exercises	repetitions, 3 times/day			
	<ol> <li>Posture exercises should be held for 5-10 seconds and repetitions progress from 10-30 as tolerated, 3 times/day</li> </ol>			
	<ol> <li>Resistance exercise should be performed without substitution with light resistance progressing from 10- 30 repetitions as tolerated 1 time/day</li> </ol>			
Goals	1. Restore active motion in multiple planes without pain or scapular substitution over the next 6 weeks			
	<ol> <li>Initiate light strengthening exercises with short lever arm resistive exercises</li> </ol>			
Patient	1. No sling at all unless ice/snow			
Instructions for	2. Use arm for normal daily tasks			
Daily Life	<ol> <li>Do not lift anything greater than 10 pounds with operated arm</li> </ol>			
Therapist Instructions	<ol> <li>Patients may begin to restore their active range of motion by using active assistive devices such as a cane, pulley or the uninvolved arm in all planes.</li> </ol>			
	2. Work on postural exercise and scapular retraction without overloading the shoulder			
	3. Progress active assisted motion from supine to wedge			
	to upright as patient demonstrate smooth motion with			
	no increasing in pain. Active motion may be performed			
	in front of a mirror or using the opposite hand on the			
	trapezius to prevent hiking of the shoulder.			
	4. Once active motion is well established and is pain free then light resistive exercises can be started.			
	5. The patient should work with therapist 1-2 times per			
	week until released by surgeon, taking into			
	consideration individual challenges, distance			
Active	4 exercises can be progressed from lying supine to wedge to			
Assistive	upright as tolerated by the patient without increasing pain.			
IVIOTION	Hold the cane with both hands. Elevate the arms using the			
	inearry arm to guide the injured arm. Increase the use of the			
	progressed to upright when comfortable.			

1. Assistive External Rotation – use stick if needed to rotate forearm away from the side hold for 5 seconds repeat 10 times 3 times/day.	
2. Assistive Elevation – use stick if needed to reach overhead, hold for 5 seconds and repeat 10 times 3 times/day.	
3. Assistive Abduction– use stick if needed to reach sideways overhead, hold for 5 seconds and repeat 10 times 3 times/day.	
4. Assistive Hand behind back – use towel to gently pull your arm behind your back to gain motion in reaching behind you. Hold for 5 seconds and repeat 10 times 3 times/day.	Matsen Fig. 2-36

-	
Posture	Put hands on hips, lean
Exercises	back and hold for 5
	seconds repeat 10 times, 3
	times/day
Resistive	1 Resistance exercise should be performed without
Evorcisos	substitution with light resistance progressing from 10-30
LACIOISCS	repetitions as tolerated 1 time/day. Start with short lever
	arm and progress to elbow straight
	2. Elevation progression should be used if demonstrating
	compensation with active motion before progressing to
	elastic resistance exercises
	Scapular retraction with
	light elastic resistance
	Squeeze shoulder blades
	together while rotating
	arms apart from each
	other Hold for 5 accords
	report 10 times 2
	times (day)
	umes/day
	Elevation Progression
	a) Supine Punch – 0-2
	pound weight
	punch up. Hold for
	3 seconds, repeat
	for 2-3 sets of 10
	repetitions Once
	this is open
	inis is easy,
	plogless to wedge
	Puncn.
	b) Wedge Punch – 0-2
	pound weight
	punch up. Hold for
	3 seconds, repeat
	for 2-3 sets of 10
	repetitions. Once
	this is easy
	progress to
	Standing Punch.

	c) Standing Punch - 0- 2 pound weight punch up. Hold for 3 seconds, repeat for 2-3 sets of 10 repetitions. Once this is easy progress to other resistive exercises.	
Elastic Resistance Exercise		
Resisted Outward Rotation	External Rotation While standing with involved elbow bent at 90°, place a towel between your side and elbow. Keeping the elbow in place at your side and bent at 90°, rotate involved arm outward to the side. Do not turn your body to the side as you rotate the arm outward.	
Resisted Inward Rotation	Internal Rotation While standing with involved elbow bent at 90°, place a towel between your side and elbow. Keeping the elbow in place at your side and bent at 90°, rotate involved arm inward toward your stomach. Do not turn your body to the side as you rotate the arm inward.	
Resisted Forward Punch	Flexion Anchor the ends of the theraband to the door to make a loop. Stand inside the loop with your back to the door. Place one-foot forward, use the left foot	

	for the right arm and			
	reverse for the left arm.			
	Punch your arm forward.			
Resisted Backward	Shoulder Extension			
Shoulder Pull	While standing with both arms			
	straight at your side, grasp the			
	theraband in both hands.			
	your arms straight, pull the theraband			
	backwards behind you			
	hoth arms. Squaaza ar			
	boli anis. Squeeze of			
	shoulder blades together			
	as you			
20.24	1 Continue to progrado with registive everying through			
20-24	1. Continue to progress with resistive exercises through			
weeks/Phase 4				
exercises	patients			
	2. Initiate sport or work specific training activities			
	3. May lift up to 40 pounds			
	Precautions for weight lifting:			
	<ol> <li>No overhead press exercises</li> </ol>			
	2. No bench press with elbow past body (Rolled Bath			
	Towel on chest)			
	3. No behind the neck squats			

# Inability to lift arm Physical Therapy Protocol (Levy Protocol) Instructions for Therapist

The patient should work with therapist 1-3 x per week until released by surgeon

Goals	The main goals of this physical therapy program are to: 1) Have the patient regain the ability to lift their arm against					
	gravity without pain or substitution by progressing the					
	patients through a progression of active arm mobility from					
	gravity-minimized activities in supine to incline to upright					
	active arm motion.					
	2) Although full motion may not be achieved by all patients					
	the goal is to increase active arm mobility to normalize					
	activities of daily living					
Ice	We encourage the use of the ice or the cryo-cuff to help control					
	pain and inflammation if needed					

Questions/	If you have questions or concerns, please contact the patient's					
Concerns	physician, Carolyn Hettrick at 859-218-3054					
Phase 1	<ul> <li>Perform exercises 5 times a day for 5-10 repetitions</li> </ul>					
	Lie on back with head on pillow for comfort					
	<ul> <li>Support or assist arm to straight up toward ceiling (90°)</li> </ul>					
	<ul> <li>May flex elbow if having difficulty with arm straight</li> </ul>					
	Hold arm and gradually elevate toward head and lower toward					
	feet with ability to return to straight up in the air, progress 1					
	inch at a time, to gain control of arm.					
	- Start by using opposite hand for support					
	- Progress to performing without use of opposite hand					
	through arc of motion (Therapist hands)					
	Α					
	73					
	- and					
Phase 2	Perform exercises 5 times a day for 5-10 repetitions					
	<ul> <li>Lie on back with head on pillow for comfort</li> </ul>					
	Hold a can of soup in hand (dumbbell) with arm straight up to					
	ceiling					
	• Move arm through arc of motion with resistance. Start with 2					
	inches up and down, gradually increasing the arc as strength					
	increases.					
	<ul> <li>In some patients, squeezing a ball between bands</li> </ul>					
	(subscapularis activation) or pulling light elastic resistance					
(infraspinatus activation) will overcome sticking points in						
	arc of motion. Return to using one are a soon as possible.					
Phase 3	Perform exercises 5 times a day for 5-10 repetitions					

	<ul> <li>Lie on a wedge at 30° incline (or on top of approximately 2 pillows)</li> <li>Move arm up and down through arc of motion         <ol> <li>Opposite hand supporting</li> <li>No assistance from opposite hand                 <ul></ul></li></ol></li></ul>
Phase 4	<ul> <li>Perform exercises 5 times a day for 5-10 repetitions</li> <li>Lie on a wedge at 60° incline (approximately 2 pillows against headboard/wall or in a recliner)</li> <li>Move arm up and down through arc of motion <ol> <li>Opposite hand supporting</li> <li>No assistance from opposite hand <ol> <li>With a soup can through an increasing arc of motion</li> </ol> </li> </ol></li></ul>
Phase 5	<ul> <li>Perform exercises 5 times a day for 5-10 repetitions</li> <li>Standing or sitting upright</li> <li>Move arm up and down through arc of motion         <ol> <li>Opposite hand supporting</li> <li>No assistance from opposite hand                 <ul> <li>With a soup can through an increasing arc of motion</li> </ul> </li> </ol></li></ul>

## REFERENCES

- 1. Littlewood C, Rangan A, Beard DJ, Wade J, Cookson T, Foster NE. The enigma of rotator cuff tears and the case for uncertainty. *Br J Sports Med.* 2018;52(19):1222.
- 2. Wani Z, Abdulla M, Habeebullah A, Kalogriantis S. Rotator cuff tears: Review of epidemiology, clinical assessment and operative treatment. *Trauma*. 2016;18(3):190-204.
- 3. Paloneva J, Lepola V, Aarimaa V, Joukainen A, Ylinen J, Mattila VM. Increasing incidence of rotator cuff repairs--A nationwide registry study in Finland. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2015;16:189.
- 4. Eajazi A, Kussman S, LeBedis C, et al. Rotator Cuff Tear Arthropathy: Pathophysiology, Imaging Characteristics, and Treatment Options. *American Journal of Roentgenology*. 2015;205(5):W502-W511.
- 5. Jain NB, Fan R, Higgins LD, Kuhn JE, Ayers GD. Does My Patient With Shoulder Pain Have a Rotator Cuff Tear?: A Predictive Model From the ROW Cohort. *Orthop J Sports Med.* 2018;6(7):2325967118784897.
- 6. Macias-Hernandez SI, Morones-Alba JD, Miranda-Duarte A, et al. Glenohumeral osteoarthritis: overview, therapy, and rehabilitation. *Disability and Rehabilitation*. 2017;39(16):1674-1682.
- 7. Thomas M, Bidwai A, Rangan A, et al. Glenohumeral osteoarthritis. *Shoulder & Elbow.* 2016;8(3):203-214.
- 8. Aumiller WD, Kleuser TM. Diagnosis and treatment of cuff tear arthropathy. *JAAPA*. 2015;28(8):33-38.
- 9. Lefevre-Colau MM, Nguyen C, Palazzo C, et al. Kinematic patterns in normal and degenerative shoulders. Part II: Review of 3-D scapular kinematic patterns in patients with shoulder pain, and clinical implications. *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*. 2018;61(1):46-53.
- 10. Longo UG, Berton A, Papapietro N, Maffulli N, Denaro V. Biomechanics of the Rotator Cuff. *Med Sport Sci.* 2011;57:10-17.
- 11. Karduna AR, Williams GR, Williams JL, Iannotti JP. Kinematics of the glenohumeral joint: influences of muscle forces, ligamentous constraints, and articular geometry. *J Orthop Res.* 1996;14(6):986-993.
- 12. Fermont AJ, Wolterbeek N, Wessel RN, Baeyens JP, de Bie RA. Prognostic factors for successful recovery after arthroscopic rotator cuff repair: a systematic literature review. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2014;44(3):153-163.
- 13. Petri M, Ettinger M, Brand S, Stuebig T, Krettek C, Omar M. Non-Operative Management of Rotator Cuff Tears. *Open Orthop J.* 2016;10:349-356.
- 14. Schmidt CC, Jarrett CD, Brown BT. Management of rotator cuff tears. *J Hand Surg Am.* 2015;40(2):399-408.
- 15. Lefevre-Colau MM. 3-Dimensional shoulder kinematics in glenohumeral joint pathologies: Implications in rehabilitation. *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*. 2011;54.
- 16. Paine R, Voight ML. The Role of the Scapula. *International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy*. 2013;8(5):617-629.

- 17. Ludewig PM, Phadke V, Braman JP, Hassett DR, Cieminski CJ, LaPrade RF. Motion of the Shoulder Complex During Multiplanar Humeral Elevation. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery-American Volume*. 2009;91(2):378-389.
- 18. Amasay T, Karduna AR. Scapular kinematics in constrained and functional upper extremity movements. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*. 2009;39(8):618-627.
- 19. Chu Y, Akins J, Lovalekar M, Tashman S, Lephart S, Sell T. Validation of a video-based motion analysis technique in 3-D dynamic scapular kinematic measurements. *J Biomech*. 2012;45(14):2462-2466.
- 20. Chung H, Kim D, Banks SA, et al. Evaluation of three-dimensional in vivo scapular kinematics and scapulohumeral rhythm between shoulders with a clavicle hook plate and contralateral healthy shoulders. *Int Orthop.* 2019;43(2):379-386.
- 21. Cools AMJ, Struyf F, Mey KD, Maenhout A, Castelein B, Cagnie B. Rehabilitation of scapular dyskinesis: from the office worker to the elite overhead athlete. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*. 2014;48:692-697.
- 22. Struyf F, Nijs J, Baeyens JP, Mottram S, Meeusen R. Scapular positioning and movement in unimpaired shoulders, shoulder impingement syndrome, and glenohumeral instability. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2011;21(3):352-358.
- 23. Huang TS, Lin JJ, Ou HL, Chen YT. Movement Pattern of Scapular Dyskinesis in Symptomatic Overhead Athletes. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7(1):6621.
- 24. Kibler WB, Sciascia A, Wilkes T. Scapular Dyskinesis and Its Relation to Shoulder Injury. *Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons*. 2012;20(20):364-372.
- 25. Laudner KG, Myers JB, Pasquale MR, Bradley JP, Lephart SM. Scapular dysfunction in throwers with pathologic internal impingement. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther*. 2006;36(7):485-494.
- 26. Ogston JB, Ludewig PM. Differences in 3-dimensional shoulder kinematics between persons with multidirectional instability and asymptomatic controls. *Am J Sports Med.* 2007;35(8):1361-1370.
- 27. Rundquist PJ. Alterations in scapular kinematics in subjects with idiopathic loss of shoulder range of motion. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2007;37(1):19-25.
- 28. Fayad F, Roby-Brami A, Yazbeck C, et al. Three-dimensional scapular kinematics and scapulohumeral rhythm in patients with glenohumeral osteoarthritis or frozen shoulder. *J Biomech*. 2008;41(2):326-332.
- 29. Kibler WB, Uhl TL, Maddux JW, Brooks PV, Zeller B, McMullen J. Qualitative clinical evaluation of scapular dysfunction: a reliability study. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2002;11(6):550-556.
- 30. Uhl TL, Kibler WB, Gecewich B, Tripp BL. Evaluation of clinical assessment methods for scapular dyskinesis. *Arthroscopy*. 2009;25(11):1240-1248.
- 31. McClure P, Tate A, Kareha S, Irwin D, Zlupko E. A Clinical Method for Identifying Scapular Dyskinesis, Part 1: Reliability. *Journal of Athletic Training*. 2009;44(2):160-164.
- 32. Tate AR, McClure P, Kareha S, Irwin D, Barbe MF. A Clinical Method for Identifying Scapular Dyskinesis, Part 2- Validity. *Journal of Athletic Training*. 2009;44(2):165-173.

- 33. Scibek JS, Carpenter JE, Hughes RE. Rotator Cuff Tear Pain and Tear Size and Scapulohumeral Rhythm. *Journal of Athletic Training*. 2009;44(2):148-159.
- 34. Scibek JS, Mell AG, Downie BK, Carpenter JE, Hughes RE. Shoulder kinematics in patients with full-thickness rotator cuff tears after a subacromial injection. *Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery*. 2008;17(1):172-181.
- 35. Kolk A, Henseler JF, de Witte PB, et al. The effect of a rotator cuff tear and its size on three-dimensional shoulder motion. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon)*. 2017;45:43-51.
- 36. Mell AG, LaScalza S, Guffey P, et al. Effect of rotator cuff pathology on shoulder rhythm. *Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery*. 2005;14(1):S58-S64.
- 37. Miura Y, Kai Y, Morihara T, et al. Three-dimensional Scapular Kinematics During Arm Elevation in Massive Rotator Cuff Tear Patients. *Progress in Rehabilitation Medicine*. 2017;2(0).
- 38. Kijima T, Matsuki K, Ochiai N, et al. In vivo 3-dimensional analysis of scapular and glenohumeral kinematics: comparison of symptomatic or asymptomatic shoulders with rotator cuff tears and healthy shoulders. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2015;24(11):1817-1826.
- 39. Keener JD, Wei AS, Kim HM, Steger-May K, Yamaguchi K. Proximal Humeral Migration in Shoulders with Symptomatic and Asymptomatic Rotator Cuff Tears. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery-American Volume*. 2009;91(6):1405-1413.
- 40. Lehman BJ, David DM, Gruber JA. Rethinking the biopsychosocial model of health: Understanding health as a dynamic system. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass.* 2017;11(8).
- 41. George SZ, Wallace MR, Wright TW, et al. Evidence for a biopsychosocial influence on shoulder pain: pain catastrophizing and catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) diplotype predict clinical pain ratings. *Pain*. 2008;136(1-2):53-61.
- 42. Minns Lowe CJ, Moser J, Barker K. Living with a symptomatic rotator cuff tear 'bad days, bad nights'- a qualitative study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*. 2014;15:1-10.
- 43. Kroner-Herwig B, Gorbunova A, Maas J. Predicting the occurrence of headache and back pain in young adults by biopsychological characteristics assessed at childhood or adolescence. *Adolesc Health Med Ther.* 2017;8:31-39.
- 44. Cathcart S, Pritchard D. Relationships Between Arousal-Related Moods and Episodic Tension-Type Headache: A Biopsychological Study. *Headache*. 1998;38:214-221.
- 45. Hohman ZP, Keene JR, Harris BN, Niedbala EM, Berke CK. A Biopsychological Model of Anti-drug PSA Processing: Developing Effective Persuasive Messages. *Prev Sci.* 2017;18(8):1006-1016.
- 46. Cook R. The alternatives approach revisited- a biopsychological model and guidelines for application. *The International Journal of the Addictions*. 1985;20(9):1399-1419.
- 47. Ayers DC, Franklin PD, Ring DC. The role of emotional health in functional outcomes after orthopaedic surgery: extending the biopsychosocial model to orthopaedics: AOA critical issues. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2013;95(21):e165.

- 48. Deshpande PR, Rajan S, Sudeepthi BL, Abdul Nazir CP. Patient-reported outcomes: A new era in clinical research. *Perspect Clin Res.* 2011;2(4):137-144.
- 49. Kocher MS, Horan MP, Briggs KK, Richardson TR, O'Holleran J, Hawkins RJ. Reliability, Validity, and Responsiveness of the American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons Subjective Shoulder Scale in Patients with Shoulder Instability, Rotator Cuff Disease, and Glenohumeral Arthritis. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*. 2005;87-A(9):2006-2011.
- 50. Michener LA, McClure PW, Sennett BJ. American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons Standardized Shoulder Assessment Form, patient self-report section: reliability, validity, and responsiveness. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2002;11(6):587-594.
- 51. Thorpe AM, O'Sullivan PB, Mitchell T, et al. Are Psychologic Factors Associated With Shoulder Scores After Rotator Cuff Surgery? *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2018;476(10):2062-2073.
- 52. Potter MQ, Wylie JD, Granger EK, Greis PE, Burks RT, Tashjian RZ. One-year Patient-reported Outcomes After Arthroscopic Rotator Cuff Repair Do Not Correlate With Mild to Moderate Psychological Distress. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2015;473(11):3501-3510.
- 53. Harreld K, Clark R, Downes K, Virani N, Frankle M. Correlation of subjective and objective measures before and after shoulder arthroplasty. *Orthopedics*. 2013;36(6):808-814.
- 54. Linton SJ, Shaw WS. Impact of Psychological Factors in the Experience of Pain. *Physical Therapy*. 2011;91(5):700-711.
- 55. Dunn WR, Kuhn JE, Sanders R, et al. Symptoms of pain do not correlate with rotator cuff tear severity: a cross-sectional study of 393 patients with a symptomatic atraumatic full-thickness rotator cuff tear. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2014;96(10):793-800.
- 56. Minagawa H, Yamamoto N, Abe H, et al. Prevalence of symptomatic and asymptomatic rotator cuff tears in the general population: From mass-screening in one village. *J Orthop.* 2013;10(1):8-12.
- 57. Woollard JD, Bost JE, Piva SR, Kelley Fitzgerald G, Rodosky MW, Irrgang JJ. The ability of preoperative factors to predict patient-reported disability following surgery for rotator cuff pathology. *Disabil Rehabil.* 2017;39(20):2087-2096.
- 58. Koorevaar RC, van 't Riet E, Gerritsen MJ, Madden K, Bulstra SK. The Influence of Preoperative and Postoperative Psychological Symptoms on Clinical Outcome after Shoulder Surgery: A Prospective Longitudinal Cohort Study. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(11):e0166555.
- 59. Werner BC, Wong AC, Chang B, et al. Depression and Patient-Reported Outcomes Following Total Shoulder Arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2017;99(8):688-695.
- 60. Matsen FA, Russ SM, Vu PT, Hsu JE, Lucas RM, Comstock BA. What Factors are Predictive of Patient-reported Outcomes? A Prospective Study of 337 Shoulder Arthroplasties. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*. 2016;474(11):2496-2510.
- 61. Cho CH, Song KS, Hwang I, Coats-Thomas MS, Warner JJP. Changes in Psychological Status and Health-Related Quality of Life Following Total Shoulder Arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2017;99(12):1030-1035.

- 62. Mahony GT, Werner BC, Chang B, et al. Risk factors for failing to achieve improvement after anatomic total shoulder arthroplasty for glenohumeral osteoarthritis. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2018.
- 63. Lentz TA, Beneciuk JM, Bialosky JE, et al. Development of a Yellow Flag Assessment Tool for Orthopaedic Physical Therapists: Results From the Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcome (OSPRO) Cohort. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2016;46(5):327-345.
- 64. George SZ, Beneciuk JM, Lentz TA, et al. Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcome (OSPRO) for Musculoskeletal Pain Conditions: Results From the Validation Cohort. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2018;48(6):460-475.
- 65. Izquierdo R, Voloshin I, Edwards S, et al. AAOS Clinical Practice Guideline Summary: Treatment of Glenohumeral Osteoarthritis. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* 2010;18(6):375-382.
- 66. Chillemi C, Franceschini V. Shoulder osteoarthritis. *Arthritis*. 2013;2013:1-7.
- 67. Flatow EL, Harrison AK. A History of Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2011;469(9):2432-2439.
- 68. Baulot E, Sirveaux F, Boileau P. Grammont's idea: The story of Paul Grammont's functional surgery concept and the development of the reverse principle. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2011;469(9):2425-2431.
- 69. Al-Hadithy N, Rumian AP. Reverse shoulder arthroplasty current concepts. *Orthopaedics and Trauma*. 2013;27(5):312-321.
- Barco R, Savvidou OD, Sperling JW, Sanchez-Sotelo J, Cofield RH.
   Complications in reverse shoulder arthroplasty. *EFORT Open Rev.* 2016;1(3):72-80.
- 71. Westermann R, Pugely A, Martin CT, Gao Y, Wolf BR, Hettrich CM. Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty in the United States: A Comparison of National Volume, Patient Demographics, Complications, and Surgical Indications. *The Iowa Orthopaedic Journal*. 2015;35:1-7.
- 72. Ernstbrunner L, Andronic O, Grubhofer F, Camenzind RS, Wieser K, Gerber C. Long-term results of reverse total shoulder arthroplasty for rotator cuff dysfunction: a systematic review of longitudinal outcomes. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2019;28(4):774-781.
- 73. Petrillo S, Longo UG, Papalia R, Denaro V. Reverse shoulder arthroplasty for massive irreparable rotator cuff tears and cuff tear arthropathy: a systematic review. *Musculoskeletal Surgery*. 2017;101:105-112.
- 74. Gerber C, Pennington S, Nyffeler R. Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* 2009;17:284-296.
- 75. Chard MD, Hazleman R, Hazleman BL, King RH, Reiss BB. Shoulder disorders in the elderly: a community survey. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1991;34(6):766-769.
- 76. Ferreira Neto AA, Malavolta EA, Assuncao JH, Gracitelli MEC, Ocampos GP, Trindade EM. Quality of Life in Patients with Rotator Cuff Arthropathy. *Acta Ortop Bras.* 2017;25(6):275-278.
- 77. Barlow JD, Bishop JY, Dunn WR, Kuhn JE, Group MS. What factors are predictors of emotional health in patients with full-thickness rotator cuff tears? *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2016;25(11):1769-1773.

- 78. Gillespie MA, A MC, Wassinger CA, Sole G. Rotator cuff-related pain: Patients' understanding and experiences. *Musculoskelet Sci Pract.* 2017;30:64-71.
- 79. Kukkonen J, Joukainen A, Lehtinen J, et al. Treatment of Nontraumatic Rotator Cuff Tears: A Randomized Controlled Trial with Two Years of Clinical and Imaging Follow-up. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2015;97(21):1729-1737.
- 80. Lin JC, Weintraub N, Aragaki DR. Nonsurgical treatment for rotator cuff injury in the elderly. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2008;9(9):626-632.
- Huegel J, Williams AA, Soslowsky LJ. Rotator cuff biology and biomechanics: a review of normal and pathological conditions. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* 2015;17(1):476.
- Longo UG, Berton A, Papapietro N, Maffulli N, Denaro V. Epidemiology, Genetics and Biological Factors of Rotator Cuff Tears. *Med Sport Sci.* 2011;57:1-9.
- Page P. Shoulder Muscle Imbalance and Subacromial Impingement Syndrome in Overhead Athletes. *The International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy*. 2011;6(1):51-58.
- 84. Sangwan S, Green RA, Taylor NF. Stabilizing characteristics of rotator cuff muscles: a systematic review. *Disabil Rehabil.* 2015;37(12):1033-1043.
- 85. Otis JC, Jiang CC, Wickiewicz TL, Peterson MG, Warren RF, Santner TJ. Changes in the moment arms of the rotator cuff and deltoid muscles with abduction and rotation. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1994;76(5):667-676.
- 86. Sigholm G, Styf J, Korner L, Herberts P. Pressure recording in the subacromial bursa. *J Orthop Res.* 1988;6(1):123-128.
- 87. Kim HM, Dahiya N, Teefey SA, et al. Location and Initiation of Degenerative Rotator Cuff Tears. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery-American Volume*. 2010;92(5):1088-1096.
- 88. Spall P, Ribeiro DC, Sole G. Electromyographic Activity of Shoulder Girdle Muscles in Patients With Symptomatic and Asymptomatic Rotator Cuff Tears: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PM R*. 2016;8(9):894-906.
- 89. Jung DE, Moon DC. The effects of shoulder joint abduction angles on the muscle activity of the serratus anterior muscle and the upper trapezius muscle while vibrations are applied. *J Phys Ther Sci.* 2015;27(1):117-119.
- Kwong CA, Ono Y, Carroll MJ, et al. Full-Thickness Rotator Cuff Tears: What Is the Rate of Tear Progression? A Systematic Review. *Arthroscopy*. 2019;35(1):228-234.
- 91. Veeger HE, van der Helm FC. Shoulder function: the perfect compromise between mobility and stability. *J Biomech.* 2007;40(10):2119-2129.
- 92. Wuelker N, Plitz W, Roetman B. Biomechanical data concerning the shoulder impingement syndrome. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1994(303):242-249.
- 93. Hamada K, Fukuda H, Mikasa M, Kobayashi Y. Roentgenographic findings in massive rotator cuff tears. A long-term observation. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1990(254):92-96.
- 94. Chopp JN, O'Neill JM, Hurley K, Dickerson CR. Superior humeral head migration occurs after a protocol designed to fatigue the rotator cuff: a radiographic analysis. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2010;19(8):1137-1144.

- 95. Weiner DS, Macnab I. Superior migration of the humeral head. A radiological aid in the diagnosis of tears of the rotator cuff. *J Bone Joint Surg Br.* 1970;52(3):524-527.
- 96. Diehr S, Ison D, Jamieson B, Oh R. Clinical inquiries. What is the best way to diagnose a suspected rotator cuff tear? *J Fam Pract.* 2006;55(7):621-624.
- 97. Morag Y, Jacobson JA, Miller B, De Maeseneer M, Girish G, Jamadar D. MR Imaging of Rotator Cuff Injury: What the Clinician Needs to Know. *Radiographics*. 2006;26:1045-1065.
- 98. Lenza M, Buchbinder R, Takwoingi Y, Johnston RV, Hanchard NC, Faloppa F. Magnetic resonance imaging, magnetic resonance arthrography and ultrasonography for assessing rotator cuff tears in people with shoulder pain for whom surgery is being considered. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2013(9):CD009020.
- 99. Roy JS, Braen C, Leblond J, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of ultrasonography, MRI and MR arthrography in the characterisation of rotator cuff disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Sports Med.* 2015;49(20):1316-1328.
- 100. Momenzadeh OR, Gerami MH, Sefidbakht S, Dehghani S. Assessment of Correlation Between MRI and Arthroscopic Pathologic Findings in the Shoulder Joint. *Archives of Bone and Joint Surgery*. 2015;3(4):286-290.
- 101. Rugg CM, Gallo RA, Craig EV, Feeley BT. The pathogenesis and management of cuff tear arthropathy. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2018;27(12):2271-2283.
- 102. Neer CS, 2nd, Craig EV, Fukuda H. Cuff-tear arthropathy. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1983;65(9):1232-1244.
- 103. Nam D, Maak TG, Raphael BS, Kepler CK, Cross MB, Warren RF. Rotator cuff tear arthropathy: evaluation, diagnosis, and treatment: AAOS exhibit selection. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2012;94(6):e34.
- 104. McCarty DJ. Milwaukee shoulder syndrome. *Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc*. 1991;102:271-283; discussion 283-274.
- 105. Svendsen SW, Bonde JP, Mathiassen SE, Stengaard-Pedersen K, Frich LH. Work related shoulder disorders: quantitative exposure-response relations with reference to arm posture. *Occup Environ Med.* 2004;61(10):844-853.
- 106. Turman KA, Anderson MW, Miller MD. Massive rotator cuff tear in an adolescent athlete: a case report. *Sports Health*. 2010;2(1):51-55.
- Kane SM, Dave A, Haque A, Langston K. The incidence of rotator cuff disease in smoking and non-smoking patients: a cadaveric study. *Orthopedics*. 2006;29(4):363-366.
- 108. Schumaier AP, Bedeir YH, Dines JS, et al. Quantifying the Impact of Patient-Specific Factors and Disease Severity on Clinical Decision Making in Cuff Tear Arthropathy: A Case-Based Survey. *HSS J.* 2019;15(3):276-285.
- 109. Engel GL. The clinical application of the biopsychosocial model. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1980;137(5):535-544.
- 110. Castricini R, Gasparini G, Di Luggo F, De Benedetto M, De Gori M, Galasso O. Health-related quality of life and functionality after reverse shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2013;22(12):1639-1649.

- 111. Monesi R, Benedetti MG, Zati A, et al. The Effects of a Standard Postoperative Rehabilitation Protocol for Arthroscopic Rotator Cuff Repair on Pain, Function, and Health Perception. *Joints*. 2018;6(3):145-152.
- 112. Piitulainen K, Ylinen J, Kautiainen H, Hakkinen A. The relationship between functional disability and health-related quality of life in patients with a rotator cuff tear. *Disability and Rehabilitation*. 2012;34(24):2071-2075.
- 113. Yoo JI, Park JS, Kim RB, et al. WHO disability assessment schedule 2.0 is related to upper and lower extremity disease-specific quality of life. *Qual Life Res.* 2018;27(9):2243-2250.
- 114. Kohan EM, Hill JR, Schwabe M, Aleem AW, Keener JD, Chamberlain AM. The influence of mental health on Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) and traditional outcome instruments in patients with symptomatic glenohumeral arthritis. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2019;28(2):e40-e48.
- 115. Young AK, Young BK, Riley LH, 3rd, Skolasky RL. Assessment of presurgical psychological screening in patients undergoing spine surgery: use and clinical impact. *J Spinal Disord Tech*. 2014;27(2):76-79.
- 116. Weldring T, Smith SM. Patient-Reported Outcomes (PROs) and Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs). *Health Serv Insights*. 2013;6:61-68.
- 117. Booker S, Alfahad N, Scott M, Gooding B, Wallace WA. Use of scoring systems for assessing and reporting the outcome results from shoulder surgery and arthroplasty. *World J Orthop.* 2015;6(2):244-251.
- 118. Payne C, Michener LA. Physiotherapists use of and perspectives on the importance of patient-reported outcome measures for shoulder dysfunction. *Shoulder Elbow.* 2014;6(3):204-214.
- 119. Longo UG, Vasta S, Maffulli N, Denaro V. Scoring Systems for the Functional Assessment of Patients With Rotator Cuff Pathology. *Sports Medicine and Arthroscopy Review*. 2011;19:310-320.
- 120. Dawson J, Doll H, Fitzpatrick R, Jenkinson C, Carr AJ. The routine use of patient reported outcome measures in healthcare settings. *BMJ*. 2010;340:c186.
- 121. Angevine PD, Berven S. Health economic studies: an introduction to cost-benefit, cost-effectiveness, and cost-utility analyses. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*. 2014;39(22 Suppl 1):S9-15.
- 122. St-Pierre C, Desmeules F, Dionne CE, Fremont P, MacDermid JC, Roy JS. Psychometric properties of self-reported questionnaires for the evaluation of symptoms and functional limitations in individuals with rotator cuff disorders: a systematic review. *Disabil Rehabil.* 2016;38(2):103-122.
- 123. Edwards A, Chepeha J, Jones A, Sheps DM, Beaupré L. Can clinical assessment differentiate partial thickness rotator cuff tears from full thickness rotator cuff tears? A secondary analysis. *Disability and Rehabilitation*. 2019:1-8.
- 124. Richards RR, An KN, Bigliani LU, et al. A standardized method for the assessment of shoulder function. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 1994;3(6):347-352.
- 125. Sly K, Williams A, Sheets C. Measurement Characteristics and Clinical Utility of the American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons Standardized Shoulder Assessment Form in Individuals With Orthopedic Shoulder Dysfunction. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2016;97(5):853-854.

- 126. McClure P, Michener L. Measures of adult shoulder function: The American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons Standardized Shoulder Form Patient Self-Report Section (ASES), Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand (DASH), Shoulder Disability Questionnaire, Shoulder Pain and Disability Index (SPADI), and Simple Shoulder Test. *Arthritis & Rheumatism.* 2003;49(S5):S50-S58.
- 127. Werner BC, Chang B, Nguyen JT, Dines DM, Gulotta LV. What Change in American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons Score Represents a Clinically Important Change After Shoulder Arthroplasty? *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2016;474(12):2672-2681.
- 128. Tashjian RZ, Hung M, Keener JD, et al. Determining the minimal clinically important difference for the American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons score, Simple Shoulder Test, and visual analog scale (VAS) measuring pain after shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. 2017;26(1):144-148.
- 129. Cuff D, Clark R, Pupello D, Frankle M. Reverse shoulder arthroplasty for the treatment of rotator cuff deficiency: a concise follow-up, at a minimum of five years, of a previous report. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2012;94(21):1996-2000.
- 130. Simovitch R, Flurin PH, Wright T, Zuckerman JD, Roche CP. Quantifying success after total shoulder arthroplasty: the substantial clinical benefit. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2017;27(5):903-911.
- 131. Wong SE, Zhang AL, Berliner JL, Ma CB, Feeley BT. Preoperative patientreported scores can predict postoperative outcomes after shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2016;25(6):913-919.
- 132. Hansen GR, Streltzer J. The Psychology of Pain. *Emergency Medicine Clinics of North America*. 2005;23(2):339-348.
- 133. Sharma A, Kudesia P, Shi Q, Gandhi R. Anxiety and depression in patients with osteoarthritis: impact and management challenges. *Open Access Rheumatol*. 2016;8:103-113.
- Reneman MF, Dijkstra A, Geertzen JH, Dijkstra PU. Psychometric properties of Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaires: a systematic review. *Eur J Pain*. 2010;14(5):457-465.
- 135. Wylie JD, Suter T, Potter MQ, Granger EK, Tashjian RZ. Mental Health Has a Stronger Association with Patient-Reported Shoulder Pain and Function Than Tear Size in Patients with Full-Thickness Rotator Cuff Tears. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2016;98(4):251-256.
- 136. Memel DS, Kirwan JR, Sharp DJ, Hehir M. General practitioners miss disability and anxiety as well as depression in their patients with osteoarthritis. *British Journal of General Practice*. 2000;50:645-648.
- 137. Millett PJ, Gobezie R, Boykin RE. Shoulder Osteoarthritis: Diagnosis and Management. *Am Fam Physician.* 2008;78(5):605-611.
- 138. Codding JL, Keener JD. Natural History of Degenerative Rotator Cuff Tears. *Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med.* 2018;11(1):77-85.
- 139. Matsuba T, Hata Y, Ishigaki N, Nakamura K, Kato H. Osteoarthritis progression of the shoulder: A long-term follow-up after mini-open rotator cuff repair. *J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong).* 2018;26(2):1-6.

- 140. Gartsman GM, Brinker MR, Khan M, Karahan M. Self-assessment of general health status in patients with five common shoulder conditions. *Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery*. 1998;7:228-237.
- 141. Emilson C, Asenlof P, Pettersson S, et al. Physical therapists' assessments, analyses and use of behavior change techniques in initial consultations on musculoskeletal pain: direct observations in primary health care. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2016;17:316.
- 142. Hallner D, Hasenbring M. Classification of psychosocial risk factors (yellow flags) for the development of chronic low back and leg pain using artificial neural network. *Neurosci Lett.* 2004;361(1-3):151-154.
- 143. Nicholas MK, Linton SJ, Watson PJ, Main CJ. Early Identification and Management of Psychological Risk Factors ("Yellow Flags") in Patients With Low Back Pain- A Reappraisal. *Physical Therapy*. 2011(5):737-753.
- 144. Passik SD. Pain management misstatements: ceiling effects, red and yellow flags. *Pain Med.* 2006;7(1):76-77.
- 145. Stewart J, Kempenaar L, Lauchlan D. Rethinking yellow flags. *Man Ther*. 2011;16(2):196-198.
- 146. Beneciuk JM, Lentz TA, He Y, Wu SS, George SZ. Prediction of Persistent Musculoskeletal Pain at 12 Months- A Secondary Analysis of the Optimal Screening for Prediction of Referral and Outcome (OSPRO) Validation Cohort Study. *Physical Therapy*. 2018;98(5):290-301.
- 147. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9- validity of a brief depression severity measure. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2001;16:606-613.
- 148. Kvaal K, Ulstein I, Nordhus IH, Engedal K. The Spielberger State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI): the state scale in detecting mental disorders in geriatric patients. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2005;20(7):629-634.
- 149. Julian LJ. Measures of anxiety: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI), Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI), and Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale-Anxiety (HADS-A). *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)*. 2011;63 Suppl 11:S467-472.
- 150. Spielberger CDG, R.L., Lushene RE, Vagg PR, Jacobs GA. State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Adults. *Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.* 1983.
- 151. Azevedo FBd, Wang Y-P, Goulart AC, Lotufo PA, Benseñor IM. Application of the Spielberger's State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory in clinical patients. *Arquivos de Neuro-Psiquiatria*. 2010;68(2):231-234.
- 152. Foley PF, Hartman BW, Dunn AB, Smith JE, Goldberg DM. The Utility of the State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory With Offenders. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*. 2002;46(3):364-378.
- 153. Waddell G, Newton M, Henderson I, Somerville D, Main CJ. A Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire (FABQ) and the role of fear-avoidance beliefs in chronic low back pain and disability. *Pain*. 1993;52:157-168.
- 154. Darnall BD, Sturgeon JA, Cook KF, et al. Development and Validation of a Daily Pain Catastrophizing Scale. *J Pain*. 2017;18(9):1139-1149.
- 155. Hapidou EG, O'Brien MA, Pierrynowski MR, de Las Heras E, Patel M, Patla T. Fear and Avoidance of Movement in People with Chronic Pain: Psychometric Properties of the 11-Item Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia (TSK-11). *Physiother Can.* 2012;64(3):235-241.

- 156. Woby SR, Roach NK, Urmston M, Watson PJ. Psychometric properties of the TSK-11: a shortened version of the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia. *Pain*. 2005;117(1-2):137-144.
- 157. McCracken LM, Dhingra L. A short version of the Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale (PASS-20)- Preliminary development and validity. *Pain Research and Management*. 2002;7(1):45-50.
- 158. Roelofs J, McCracken L, Peters ML, Crombez G, van Breukelen G, Vlaeyen JWS. Psychometric Evaluation of the Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale (PASS) in Chronic Pain Patients. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*. 2004;27(2):167-183.
- 159. Nicholas MK. The pain self-efficacy questionnaire: Taking pain into account. *Eur J Pain.* 2007;11(2):153-163.
- 160. Keefe FJ, Rumble ME, Scipio CD, Giordano LA, Perri LM. Psychological aspects of persistent pain: current state of the science. *J Pain*. 2004;5(4):195-211.
- 161. Adams JH, Williams AC. What affects return to work for graduates of a pain management program with chronic upper limb pain? *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*. 2003;13(2):91-106.
- 162. Wesch N, Hall C, Prapavessis H, et al. Self-efficacy, imagery use, and adherence during injury rehabilitation. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2012;22(5):695-703.
- 163. Waldrop D, Lightsey OR, Ethington CA, Woemmel CA, Coke AL. Self-Efficacy, Optimism, Health Competence, and Recovery From Orthopedic Surgery. *Journal* of Counseling Psychology. 2001;48(2):233-238.
- McCracken LM, Vowles KE, Eccleston C. Acceptance of chronic pain: component analysis and a revised assessment method. *Pain*. 2004;107(1):159-166.
- 165. McCracken LM, Spertus IL, Janeck AS, Sinclair D, Wetzel FT. Behavioral dimensions of adjustment in persons with chronic pain: pain-related anxiety and acceptance. *Pain.* 1999;80(1-2):283-289.
- Ruta DA, Abdalla MI, Garratt AM, Coutts A, Russell IT. SF 36 health survey questionnaire: I. Reliability in two patient based studies. *Qual Health Care*. 1994;3(4):180-185.
- Garratt AM, Ruta DA, Abdalla MI, Russell IT. SF 36 health survey questionnaire: II. Responsiveness to changes in health status in four common clinical conditions. *Qual Health Care.* 1994;3(4):186-192.
- 168. Godfrey J, Hamman R, Lowenstein S, Briggs K, Kocher M. Reliability, validity, and responsiveness of the simple shoulder test: psychometric properties by age and injury type. *Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery*. 2007;16(3):260-267.
- 169. Roy JS, Macdermid JC, Faber KJ, Drosdowech DS, Athwal GS. The simple shoulder test is responsive in assessing change following shoulder arthroplasty. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2010;40(7):413-421.
- 170. Doyle DJ, Garmon EH. American Society of Anesthesiologists Classification (ASA Class). In: *StatPearls*. Treasure Island (FL)2019.
- 171. Koorevaar RC, Terluin B, van 't Riet E, Madden K, Bulstra SK. Validation of the four-dimensional symptom questionnaire (4DSQ) and prevalence of psychological symptoms in orthopedic shoulder patients. *J Orthop Res.* 2016;34(4):683-691.

- 172. Dixon D, Johnston M, McQueen M, Court-Brown C. The Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder and Hand Questionnaire (DASH) can measure the impairment, activity limitations and participation restriction constructs from the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*. 2008;9:114.
- 173. Angst F, Schwyzer HK, Aeschlimann A, Simmen BR, Goldhahn J. Measures of adult shoulder function: Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand Questionnaire (DASH) and its short version (QuickDASH), Shoulder Pain and Disability Index (SPADI), American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons (ASES) Society standardized shoulder assessment form, Constant (Murley) Score (CS), Simple Shoulder Test (SST), Oxford Shoulder Score (OSS), Shoulder Disability Questionnaire (SDQ), and Western Ontario Shoulder Instability Index (WOSI). Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63 Suppl 11:S174-188.
- 174. Werner BC, Wong AC, Mahony GT, et al. Causes of poor postoperative improvement after reverse total shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2016;25(8):e217-222.
- 175. de Witte PB, Henseler JF, Nagels J, Vliet Vlieland TP, Nelissen RG. The Western Ontario rotator cuff index in rotator cuff disease patients: a comprehensive reliability and responsiveness validation study. *Am J Sports Med.* 2012;40(7):1611-1619.
- 176. Raman J, Macdermid JC. Western Ontario Rotator Cuff Index. *J Physiother*. 2012;58(3):201.
- 177. Crosby RD, Kolotkin RL, Williams GR. Defining clinically meaningful change in health-related quality of life. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2003;56(5):395-407.
- 178. Kamper SJ, Maher CG, Mackay G. Global rating of change scales: a review of strengths and weaknesses and considerations for design. *J Man Manip Ther*. 2009;17(3):163-170.
- 179. Radloff LS. The CES-D Scale- A Self-Report Depression Scale for Research in the General Population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*. 1977;1(3):385-401.
- 180. Kabacoff RI, Segal DL, Hersen M, Van Hasselt VB. Psychometric properties and diagnostic utility of the Beck Anxiety Inventory and the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory with older adult psychiatric outpatients. J Anxiety Disord. 1997;11(1):33-47.
- 181. Beck AT, Epstein N, Brown G, Steer RA. An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: psychometric properties. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* 1988;56(6):893-897.
- 182. Daubs MD, Hung M, Adams JR, et al. Clinical predictors of psychological distress in patients presenting for evaluation of a spinal disorder. *Spine J*. 2014;14(9):1978-1983.
- 183. Daubs MD, Patel AA, Willick SE, et al. Clinical impression versus standardized questionnaire: the spinal surgeon's ability to assess psychological distress. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2010;92(18):2878-2883.
- 184. Trief PM, Grant W, Fredrickson B. A prospective study of psychological predictors of lumbar surgery outcome. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*. 2000;25(20):2616-2621.

- 185. Main CJ, Wood PL, Hollis S, Spanswick CC, Waddell G. The Distress and Risk Assessment Method. A simple patient classification to identify distress and evaluate the risk of poor outcome. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*. 1992;17(1):42-52.
- Brown TA, Chorpita BF, Korotitsch W, Barlow DH. Psychometric properties of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) in clinical samples. *Behav Res Ther.* 1997;35(1):79-89.
- 187. Crawford JR, Henry JD. The Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS): normative data and latent structure in a large non-clinical sample. *Br J Clin Psychol.* 2003;42(Pt 2):111-131.
- 188. Coronado RA, Seitz AL, Pelote E, Archer KR, Jain NB. Are Psychosocial Factors Associated With Patient-reported Outcome Measures in Patients With Rotator Cuff Tears? A Systematic Review. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2018;476(4):810-829.
- 189. Codding JL, Getz CL. Pain Management Strategies in Shoulder Arthroplasty. *Orthop Clin North Am.* 2018;49(1):81-91.
- 190. Louw A, Zimney K, Puentedura EJ, Diener I. The efficacy of pain neuroscience education on musculoskeletal pain: A systematic review of the literature. *PhysiotherapyTheory and Practice*. 2016;32(5):332-355.
- 191. Rauck RC, Swarup I, Chang B, et al. Effect of preoperative patient expectations on outcomes after reverse total shoulder arthroplasty. *Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery*. 2018;27(11):e323-e329.
- 192. Cho CH, Song KS, Hwang I, Warner JJ. Does Rotator Cuff Repair Improve Psychologic Status and Quality of Life in Patients With Rotator Cuff Tear? *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2015;473(11):3494-3500.
- 193. Namdari S, Yagnik G, Ebaugh DD, et al. Defining functional shoulder range of motion for activities of daily living. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2012;21(9):1177-1183.
- 194. Boettcher CE, Cathers I, Ginn KA. The role of shoulder muscles is task specific. *J Sci Med Sport.* 2010;13(6):651-656.
- 195. Vidt ME, Santago AC, 2nd, Marsh AP, et al. The effects of a rotator cuff tear on activities of daily living in older adults: A kinematic analysis. *J Biomech*. 2016;49(4):611-617.
- 196. Ludewig PM, Reynolds JF. The association of scapular kinematics and glenohumeral joint pathologies. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*. 2009;39(2):90-104.
- 197. Ludewig PM, Cook TM, Nawoczenski DA. Three-Dimensional Scapular Orientation and Muscle Activity at selected Positions of Humeral Elevation. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 1996;24(2):57-63.
- 198. Lawrence RL, Braman JP, Laprade RF, Ludewig PM. Comparison of 3dimensional shoulder complex kinematics in individuals with and without shoulder pain, part 1: sternoclavicular, acromioclavicular, and scapulothoracic joints. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2014;44(9):636-645, A631-638.
- 199. McClure PW, Michener LA, Sennett BJ, Karduna AR. Direct 3-dimensional measurement of scapular kinematics during dynamic movements in vivo. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2001;10(3):269-277.
- 200. Poppen NK, Walker PS. Normal and abnormal motion of the shoulder. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1976;58(2):195-201.

- 201. Bagg SD, Forrest WJF. A Biomechanical Analysis of Scapular Rotation during Arm Abduction in the Scapular Plane. *American Journal of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 1988.
- 202. Culham E, Peat M. Functional anatomy of the shoulder complex. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 1993;18(1):342-350.
- 203. McClure PW, Michener LA, Karduna AR. Shoulder function and 3-dimensional scapular kinematics in people with and without shoulder impingement syndrome. *Phys Ther.* 2006;86(8):1075-1090.
- 204. Seth A, Matias R, Veloso AP, Delp SL. A Biomechanical Model of the Scapulothoracic Joint to Accurately Capture Scapular Kinematics during Shoulder Movements. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(1):e0141028.
- 205. Miachiro NY, Camarini PMF, Tucci HT, McQuade KJ, Oliveira AS. Can clinical observation differentiate individuals with and without scapular dyskinesis? *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy*. 2014;18(3):282-289.
- 206. Watson L, Balster SM, Finch C, Dalziel R. Measurement of scapula upward rotation: a reliable clinical procedure. *Br J Sports Med.* 2005;39(9):599-603.
- 207. Plummer HA, Sum JC, Pozzi F, Varghese R, Michener LA. Observational Scapular Dyskinesis: Known-Groups Validity in Patients With and Without Shoulder Pain. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2017;47(8):530-537.
- 208. Wu G, Van Der Helm F, Veeger D, et al. ISB recommendation on definitions of joint coordinate systems of various joints for the reporting of human joint motion Part II: shoulder, elbow, wrist and hand. *J Biomech.* 2005;38:981-992.
- 209. Lempereur M, Brochard S, Leboeuf F, Remy-Neris O. Validity and reliability of 3D marker based scapular motion analysis: a systematic review. *J Biomech*. 2014;47(10):2219-2230.
- 210. Lu TW, Chang CF. Biomechanics of human movement and its clinical applications. *Kaohsiung J Med Sci.* 2012;28(2 Suppl):S13-25.
- 211. Baumgarten KM, Osborn R, Schweinle WE, Zens MJ, Helsper EA. Scapular Substitution after Rotator Cuff Repair Correlates with Postoperative Patient Outcome. *International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy*. 2018;13(4):687-699.
- 212. Hickey D, Solvig V, Cavalheri V, Harrold M, McKenna L. Scapular dyskinesis increases the risk of future shoulder pain by 43% in asymptomatic athletes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*. 2018;52(2):102-110.
- 213. Kibler WB, Ludewig PM, McClure PW, Michener LA, Bak K, Sciascia AD. Clinical implications of scapular dyskinesis in shoulder injury: the 2013 consensus statement from the 'Scapular Summit'. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*. 2013;47(14):877-885.
- 214. Kibler WB. The scapula in rotator cuff disease. Med Sport Sci. 2012;57:27-40.
- 215. Roche SJ, Funk L, Sciascia A, Kibler WB. Scapular dyskinesis: the surgeon's perspective. *Shoulder & Elbow.* 2015;7(4):289-297.
- 216. Kolk A, de Witte PB, Henseler JF, et al. Three-dimensional shoulder kinematics normalize after rotator cuff repair. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2016;25(6):881-889.
- 217. Ueda Y, Tanaka H, Morioka S, et al. Comparison of scapular upward rotation during arm elevation in the scapular plane in healthy volunteers and patients with

rotator cuff tears pre- and post-surgery. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon)*. 2019;63:207-213.

- 218. Ricci WM, Russell TA, Kahler DM, Terrill-Grisoni L, Culley P. A comparison of optical and electromagnetic computer-assisted navigation systems for fluoroscopic targeting. *J Orthop Trauma*. 2008;22(3):190-194.
- 219. Han B, Shi Z, Fu Y, Ye Y, Jing J, Li J. Comparison of free-hand fluoroscopic guidance and electromagnetic navigation in distal locking of femoral intramedullary nails. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2017;96(29):e7450.
- 220. McQuade K, Borstad J, Siriani de Oliveira A. Critical and Theoretical Perspective on Scapular Stabilization- What Does It Really Mean, and Are We on the Right Track? *Physical Therapy*. 2016;96(8):1162-1169.
- 221. Walker M, Brooks J, Willis M, Frankle M. How reverse shoulder arthroplasty works. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2011;469(9):2440-2451.
- 222. Levy DM, Abrams GD, Harris JD, Bach BR, Jr., Nicholson GP, Romeo AA. Rotator cuff tears after total shoulder arthroplasty in primary osteoarthritis: A systematic review. *Int J Shoulder Surg.* 2016;10(2):78-84.
- 223. Bayona CEA, Somerson JS, Matsen FA, 3rd. The utility of international shoulder joint replacement registries and databases: a comparative analytic review of two hundred and sixty one thousand, four hundred and eighty four cases. *Int Orthop.* 2018;42(2):351-358.
- 224. Schairer WW, Nwachukwu BU, Lyman S, Craig EV, Gulotta LV. National utilization of reverse total shoulder arthroplasty in the United States. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2015;24(1):91-97.
- 225. Palsis JA, Simpson KN, Matthews JH, Traven S, Eichinger JK, Friedman RJ. Current Trends in the Use of Shoulder Arthroplasty in the United States. *Orthopedics*. 2018;41(3):e416-e423.
- 226. Lam F, Bhatia DN, Mostofi SB, van Rooyen K, de Beer JF. Biomechanical considerations of the normal and rotator cuff deficient shoulders and the reverse shoulder prosthesis. *Current Orthopaedics*. 2007;21(1):40-46.
- 227. Kim MS, Lim KY, Lee DH, Kovacevic D, Cho NY. How does scapula motion change after reverse total shoulder arthroplasty? A preliminary report. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2012;13:1-6.
- 228. Ackland DC, Roshan-Zamir S, Richardson M, Pandy MG. Moment arms of the shoulder musculature after reverse total shoulder arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2010;92(5):1221-1230.
- 229. Ackland DC, Richardson M, Pandy MG. Axial rotation moment arms of the shoulder musculature after reverse total shoulder arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2012;94(20):1886-1895.
- 230. Walker DR, Struk AM, Matsuki K, Wright TW, Banks SA. How do deltoid muscle moment arms change after reverse total shoulder arthroplasty? *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2016;25(4):581-588.
- Sabesan VJ, Lombardo D, Josserand D, et al. The effect of deltoid lengthening on functional outcome for reverse shoulder arthroplasty. *Musculoskelet Surg.* 2016;100(2):127-132.

- 232. Onstot BR, Jacofsky MC, Hansen ML. Muscle force and excursion requirements and moment arm analysis of a posterior-superior offset reverse total shoulder prosthesis. *Bull Hosp Jt Dis (2013)*. 2013;71 Suppl 2:S25-30.
- 233. Oh JH, Shin SJ, McGarry MH, Scott JH, Heckmann N, Lee TQ. Biomechanical effects of humeral neck-shaft angle and subscapularis integrity in reverse total shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2014;23(8):1091-1098.
- 234. Berton A, Gulotta LV, Petrillo S, et al. The effect of humeral version on teres minor muscle moment arm, length, and impingement in reverse shoulder arthroplasty during activities of daily living. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2015;24(4):578-586.
- 235. Whatley AN, Fowler RL, Warner JJ, Higgins LD. Postoperative rupture of the anterolateral deltoid muscle following reverse total shoulder arthroplasty in patients who have undergone open rotator cuff repair. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2011;20(1):114-122.
- 236. Schwartz DG, Kang SH, Lynch TS, et al. The anterior deltoid's importance in reverse shoulder arthroplasty: a cadaveric biomechanical study. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2013;22(3):357-364.
- 237. Aslani N, Noroozi S, Hartley R, Dupac M, Sewell P. Assessment of Key Parameters on the Performance of the Deltoid Muscle in Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty — a Modeling and Simulation-Based Study. *J Mech Med Biol.* 2016;16(5):1650072-1650071 - 1650017.
- 238. Walker D, Wright TW, Banks SA, Struk AM. Electromyographic analysis of reverse total shoulder arthroplasties. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2014;23(2):166-172.
- 239. Maier MW, Caspers M, Zeifang F, et al. How does reverse shoulder replacement change the range of motion in activities of daily living in patients with cuff tear arthropathy? A prospective optical 3D motion analysis study. *Arch Orthop Trauma Surg.* 2014;134(8):1065-1071.
- 240. Al-Hadithy N, Domos P, Sewell MD, Pandit R. Reverse shoulder arthroplasty in 41 patients with cuff tear arthropathy with a mean follow-up period of 5 years. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2014;23(11):1662-1668.
- 241. Nolan BM, Ankerson E, Wiater JM. Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty Improves Function in Cuff Tear Arthropathy. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2011;469(9):2476-2482.
- 242. Friedman RJ, Flurin PH, Wright TW, Zuckerman JD, Roche CP. Comparison of reverse total shoulder arthroplasty outcomes with and without subscapularis repair. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2017;26(4):662-668.
- 243. Ladermann A, Lo EY, Schwitzguebel AJ, Yates E. Subscapularis and deltoid preserving anterior approach for reverse shoulder arthroplasty. *Orthop Traumatol Surg Res.* 2016;102(7):905-908.
- 244. Edwards TB, Williams MD, Labriola JE, Elkousy HA, Gartsman GM, O'Connor DP. Subscapularis insufficiency and the risk of shoulder dislocation after reverse shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2009;18(6):892-896.
- 245. Giles JW, Langohr GD, Johnson JA, Athwal GS. The rotator cuff muscles are antagonists after reverse total shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2016;25(10):1592-1600.

- 246. Kohan EM, Chalmers PN, Salazar D, Keener JD, Yamaguchi K, Chamberlain AM. Dislocation following reverse total shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2017;26(7):1238-1245.
- 247. Chalmers BP, Wagner ER, Sperling JW, Cofield RH, Sanchez-Sotelo J. Treatment and Outcomes of Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty Dislocations. *Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Arthroplasty*. 2017;1.
- 248. Boulahia A, Edwards TB, Walch G, Baratta RV. Early results of a reverse design prosthesis in the treatment of arthritis of the shoulder in elderly patients with a large rotator cuff tear. *Orthopedics*. 2002;25(2):129-133.
- 249. Dedy NJ, Gouk CJ, Taylor FJ, Thomas M, Tan SLE. Sonographic assessment of the subscapularis after reverse shoulder arthroplasty: impact of tendon integrity on shoulder function. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2017:1-6.
- 250. Sirveaux F, Favard L, Oudet D, Huquet D, Walch G, Mole D. Grammont inverted total shoulder arthroplasty in the treatment of glenohumeral osteoarthritis with massive rupture of the cuff. *J Bone Joint Surg.* 2004;86-B:388-395.
- 251. Terrier A, Scheuber P, Pioletti DP, Farron A. Activities of daily living with reverse prostheses: importance of scapular compensation for functional mobility of the shoulder. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2013;22(7):948-953.
- 252. Parel I, Merolla G, Dellabiancia F, Filippi MV, Porcellini G, Cutti AG. Scapula dyskinesis in total and reverse shoulder arthroplasty: A quantitative pre- and post-operative prospective study. *Gait & Posture*. 2017;57.
- 253. Alta TD, Bergmann JH, Veeger DJ, et al. Kinematic and clinical evaluation of shoulder function after primary and revision reverse shoulder prostheses. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2011;20(4):564-570.
- 254. Kwon YW, Pinto VJ, Yoon J, Frankle MA, Dunning PE, Sheikhzadeh A. Kinematic analysis of dynamic shoulder motion in patients with reverse total shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2012;21(9):1184-1190.
- 255. Lee KW, Kim YI, Kim HY, Yang DS, Lee GS, Choy WS. Three-Dimensional Scapular Kinematics in Patients with Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty during Arm Motion. *Clin Orthop Surg.* 2016;8(3):316-324.
- 256. Kontaxis A, Johnson GR. Adaptation of scapula lateral rotation after reverse anatomy shoulder replacement. *Computer Methods in Biomechanics and Biomedical Engineering*. 2008;11(1):73-80.
- 257. Nakayama H, Onishi H, Nojima M, Ishizu K, Kubo M. Analysis of scapular kinematics in three planes of shoulder elevation: A comparison between men and women. *The Journal of Physical Fitness and Sports Medicine*. 2018;7(1):65-74.
- 258. Roren A, Nguyen C, Palazzo C, et al. Kinematic analysis of the shoulder complex after anatomic and reverse total shoulder arthroplasty: A cross-sectional study. *Musculoskelet Sci Pract.* 2017;29:84-90.
- 259. Alta TD, de Toledo JM, Veeger HE, Janssen TW, Willems WJ. The active and passive kinematic difference between primary reverse and total shoulder prostheses. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2014;23(9):1395-1402.
- 260. Walker D, Matsuki K, Struk AM, Wright TW, Banks SA. Scapulohumeral rhythm in shoulders with reverse shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2015;24(7):1129-1134.

- 261. Ladermann A, Denard PJ, Boileau P, Farron A, Deransart P, Walch G. What is the best glenoid configuration in onlay reverse shoulder arthroplasty? *Int Orthop*. 2018;42(6):1339-1346.
- 262. Dillon MT, Chan PH, Inacio MCS, Singh A, Yian EH, Navarro RA. Yearly Trends in Elective Shoulder Arthroplasty, 2005-2013. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2017;69(10):1574-1581.
- 263. de Toledo JM, Loss JF, Janssen TW, et al. Kinematic evaluation of patients with total and reverse shoulder arthroplasty during rehabilitation exercises with different loads. *Clin Biomech*. 2012;27(8):793-800.
- 264. Cuff D, Pupello D, Virani N, Levy J, Frankle M. Reverse shoulder arthroplasty for the treatment of rotator cuff deficiency. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2008;90(6):1244-1251.
- 265. Samitier G, Alentorn-Geli E, Torrens C, Wright TW. Reverse shoulder arthroplasty. Part 1: Systematic review of clinical and functional outcomes. *Int J Shoulder Surg.* 2015;9(1):24-31.
- 266. Langer JS, Sueoka SS, Wang AA. The importance of shoulder external rotation in activities of daily living: improving outcomes in traumatic brachial plexus palsy. *J Hand Surg Am.* 2012;37(7):1430-1436.
- 267. Schwartz DG, Cottrell BJ, Teusink MJ, et al. Factors that predict postoperative motion in patients treated with reverse shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2014;23(9):1289-1295.
- 268. Sollaccio DR, King JJ, Struk A, Farmer KW, Wright TW. Clinical Predictors for Optimal Forward Elevation in Primary Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty. *Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Arthroplasty*. 2019;3.
- 269. Collin P, Matsukawa T, Denard PJ, Gain S, Ladermann A. Pre-operative factors influence the recovery of range of motion following reverse shoulder arthroplasty. *Int Orthop.* 2017;41(10):2135-2142.
- 270. Wellmann M, Struck M, Pastor MF, Gettmann A, Windhagen H, Smith T. Short and midterm results of reverse shoulder arthroplasty according to the preoperative etiology. *Arch Orthop Trauma Surg.* 2013;133(4):463-471.
- 271. Friedman RJ, Cheung EV, Flurin PH, et al. Are Age and Patient Gender Associated With Different Rates and Magnitudes of Clinical Improvement After Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty? *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2018;476(6):1264-1273.
- 272. Carducci MP, Zimmer ZR, Jawa A. Predictors of unsatisfactory patient outcomes in primary reverse total shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2019;28(11):2113-2120.
- 273. Lowe JT, Li X, Fasulo SM, Testa EJ, Jawa A. Patients recall worse preoperative pain after shoulder arthroplasty than originally reported: a study of recall accuracy using the American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons score. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2017;26(3):506-511.
- 274. Williamson P, Mohamadi A, Ramappa AJ, DeAngelis JP, Nazarian A. Shoulder biomechanics of RC repair and Instability: A systematic review of cadaveric methodology. *J Biomech*. 2018;82:280-290.
- 275. Potter MQ, Wylie JD, Greis PE, Burks RT, Tashjian RZ. Psychological distress negatively affects self-assessment of shoulder function in patients with rotator cuff tears. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2014;472(12):3926-3932.

- 276. Vranceanu AM, Beks RB, Guitton TG, Janssen SJ, Ring D. How do Orthopedic Surgeons Address Psychological Aspects of Illness? *Archives of Bone and Joint Surgery*. 2017;5(1):2-9.
- 277. Glattacker M, Heyduck K, Jakob T. Yellow flags as predictors of rehabilitation outcome in chronic low back pain. *Rehabil Psychol.* 2018;63(3):408-417.
- 278. Collin P, Matsumura N, Ladermann A, Denard PJ, Walch G. Relationship between massive chronic rotator cuff tear pattern and loss of active shoulder range of motion. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2014;23(8):1195-1202.
- 279. Seo SS, Choi JS, An KC, Kim JH, Kim SB. The factors affecting stiffness occurring with rotator cuff tear. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2012;21(3):304-309.
- 280. Oh JH, Jun BJ, McGarry MH, Lee TQ. Does a critical rotator cuff tear stage exist?: a biomechanical study of rotator cuff tear progression in human cadaver shoulders. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2011;93(22):2100-2109.
- Tanaka M, Itoi E, Sato K, et al. Factors related to successful outcome of conservative treatment for rotator cuff tears. *Ups J Med Sci.* 2010;115(3):193-200.
- 282. Robinson HA, Lam PH, Walton JR, Murrell GAC. The effect of rotator cuff repair on early overhead shoulder function: a study in 1600 consecutive rotator cuff repairs. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2017;26(1):20-29.
- 283. Atalar H, Yilmaz C, Polat O, Selek H, Uras I, Yanik B. Restricted scapular mobility during arm abduction : Implications for impingement syndrome. *Acta Orthop Belg.* 2009;75:19-24.
- 284. Helgadottir H, Kristjansson E, Mottram S, Karduna AR, Jonsson H, Jr. Altered scapular orientation during arm elevation in patients with insidious onset neck pain and whiplash-associated disorder. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther*. 2010;40(12):784-791.
- 285. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *J Biomed Inform*. 2009;42(2):377-381.
- 286. Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, et al. The REDCap consortium: Building an international community of software platform partners. *J Biomed Inform*. 2019;95:103208.
- 287. Hsu JE, Hulet DA, McDonald C, Whitson A, Russ SM, Matsen FA, 3rd. The contribution of the scapula to active shoulder motion and self-assessed function in three hundred and fifty two patients prior to elective shoulder surgery. *Int Orthop.* 2018:2645-2651.
- 288. Mall NA, Lee AS, Chahal J, et al. An evidenced-based examination of the epidemiology and outcomes of traumatic rotator cuff tears. *Arthroscopy*. 2013;29(2):366-376.
- 289. Harris JD, Pedroza A, Jones GL, Group MS. Predictors of pain and function in patients with symptomatic, atraumatic full-thickness rotator cuff tears: a time-zero analysis of a prospective patient cohort enrolled in a structured physical therapy program. *Am J Sports Med.* 2012;40(2):359-366.
- 290. Hebert LJ, Moffet H, McFadyen BJ, Dionne CE. Scapular behavior in shoulder impingement syndrome. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2002;83(1):60-69.

- 291. Ludewig PM, Cook TM. Alterations in shoulder kinematics and associated muscle activity in people with symptoms of shoulder impingement. *Phys Ther*. 2000;80(3):276-291.
- 292. Lowe CM, Moser J, Barker K. Living with a symptomatic rotator cuff tear 'bad days, bad nights'- a qualitative study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorder*. 2014;15:228.
- 293. Raynor MB, Kuhn JE. Utility of features of the patient's history in the diagnosis of atraumatic shoulder pain: a systematic review. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2016;25(4):688-694.
- 294. Ravindra A, Barlow JD, Jones GL, Bishop JY. A prospective evaluation of predictors of pain after arthroscopic rotator cuff repair: psychosocial factors have a stronger association than structural factors. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2018;27(10):1824-1829.
- 295. Kennedy P, Joshi R, Dhawan A. The Effect of Psychosocial Factors on Outcomes in Patients With Rotator Cuff Tears: A Systematic Review. *Arthroscopy*. 2019;35(9):2698-2706.
- 296. Magermans DJ, Chadwick EK, Veeger HE, van der Helm FC. Requirements for upper extremity motions during activities of daily living. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon).* 2005;20(6):591-599.
- 297. Cho CH, Seo HJ, Bae KC, Lee KJ, Hwang I, Warner JJ. The impact of depression and anxiety on self-assessed pain, disability, and quality of life in patients scheduled for rotator cuff repair. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2013;22(9):1160-1166.
- 298. Chester R, Jerosch-Herold C, Lewis J, Shepstone L. Psychological factors are associated with the outcome of physiotherapy for people with shoulder pain: a multicentre longitudinal cohort study. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*. 2018;52(4):269-275.
- 299. Kibler WB, Jacobs CA, Sciascia AD. Pain catastrophizing behaviors and their relation to poor patient-reported outcomes after scapular muscle reattachment. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2018:1-8.
- 300. Oliveira FACd, Almeida RSd, Santos WTd, Nogueira LAC. Pain intensity and functional limitation are not related with medical image findings in patients with shoulder pain. *Revista Dor.* 2014;15(3).
- Pecora JO, Malavolta EA, Assuncao JH, Gracitelli ME, Martins JP, Ferreira AA, Jr. Prognostic factors for clinical outcomes after rotator cuff repair. *Acta Ortop Bras.* 2015;23(3):146-149.
- 302. Brophy RH, Dunn WR, Kuhn JE, Group MS. Shoulder activity level is not associated with the severity of symptomatic, atraumatic rotator cuff tears in patients electing nonoperative treatment. *Am J Sports Med.* 2014;42(5):1150-1154.
- 303. Sims MT, Detweiler BN, Scott JT, Howard BM, Detten GR, Vassar M. Inconsistent selection of outcomes and measurement devices found in shoulder arthroplasty research: An analysis of studies on ClinicalTrials.gov. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(11):1-16.
- Hamada K, Yamanaka K, Uchiyama Y, Mikasa T, Mikasa M. A radiographic classification of massive rotator cuff tear arthritis. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2011;469(9):2452-2460.

- 305. Jain NB, Wilcox RB, 3rd, Katz JN, Higgins LD. Clinical examination of the rotator cuff. *PM R*. 2013;5(1):45-56.
- 306. Viola RW, Boatright KC, Smith KL, Sidles JA, Matsen FA. Do shoulder patients insured by workers' compensation present with worse self-assessed function and health status? *Journal Of Shoulder And Elbow Surgery*. 2000;9(5):368-372.
- 307. Henn RF, 3rd, Tashjian RZ, Kang L, Green A. Patients with workers' compensation claims have worse outcomes after rotator cuff repair. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2008;90(10):2105-2113.
- 308. Chung SW, Park JS, Kim SH, Shin SH, Oh JH. Quality of life after arthroscopic rotator cuff repair: evaluation using SF-36 and an analysis of affecting clinical factors. *Am J Sports Med.* 2012;40(3):631-639.
- 309. Razmjou H, Boljanovic D, Lincoln S, et al. Outcome of Expedited Rotator Cuff Surgery in Injured Workers: Determinants of Successful Recovery. *Orthop J Sports Med.* 2017;5(5):2325967117705319.
- 310. Ezzati A, Jiang J, Katz MJ, Sliwinski MJ, Zimmerman ME, Lipton RB. Validation of the Perceived Stress Scale in a community sample of older adults. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2014;29(6):645-652.
- 311. Styron JF, Higuera CA, Strnad G, Iannotti JP. Greater patient confidence yields greater functional outcomes after primary total shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2015;24(8):1263-1267.
- 312. Tokish JM, Kissenberth MJ, Tolan SJ, et al. Resilience correlates with outcomes after total shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2017;26(5):752-756.
- 313. Chmitorz A, Wenzel M, Stieglitz RD, et al. Population-based validation of a German version of the Brief Resilience Scale. *PLoS One.* 2018;13(2):e0192761.
- 314. Rodriguez-Rey R, Alonso-Tapia J, Hernansaiz-Garrido H. Reliability and validity of the Brief Resilience Scale (BRS) Spanish Version. *Psychol Assess.* 2016;28(5):e101-e110.
- 315. Soer R, Six Dijkstra M, Bieleman HJ, et al. Measurement properties and implications of the Brief Resilience Scale in healthy workers. *J Occup Health*. 2019;61(3):242-250.

# Curriculum Vitae Nicole Genevieve Cascia, MAT, LAT, ATC, CES

## I. EDUCATION

Years	Institution	Degree	Specialty
2017 – 2020 (expected)	University of Kentucky	PhD	Doctorate of Rehabilitation Sciences
2016 - 2017	Texas Health Resources	Residency	Rehabilitation Athletic Training Residency
2014 - 2016	University of Houston	MAT	Master of Athletic Training
2010 - 2014	University of Houston	BSc	Kinesiology – Exercise Science

#### II. PROFESSIONAL and CLINICAL EXPERIENCES/APPOINTMENTS Years Institution Role

2017 - 2020 2017 - 2020	UK HealthCare at Turfland – Orthopaedic Surgery & Sports Medicine, Lexington, KY Sports Medicine Research Institute, Lexington, KY	Research Assistant/Coordinator Research Lab Assistant
2016 - 2017	Texas Health Ben Hogan Sports Medicine Residency, Fort Worth, TX	Athletic Training Resident
2016 - 2017	Texas Christian University Sports Medicine, Fort Worth, TX	Assistant Athletic Trainer for Baseball team, Preceptor
2016 - 2017	Texas Health Ben Hogan Sports Medicine, Fort Worth, TX	Research Assistant for Upper Extremity 3D Lab, Clinical Assistant Athletic Trainer
2016 - 2017	Ben Hogan Sports Medicine Southwest Clinic, Fort Worth, TX	Research Assistant for Lower Extremity 3D Lab

2015 - 2016	Ironman Sports Medicine Institute – Memorial Hermann, Memorial City, TX	Assistant Athletic Trainer
2015 - 2016	Memorial Hermann Orthopeadic Medical Group, Sugar Land, TX	Assistant Athletic Trainer
2014 - 2016	Institute of Athletic Regeneration Ortho Manual Fellowship, Houston, TX	Fellow – Athletic Trainer
2014 - 2016	University of Houston Athletic Department, Houston, TX	Athletic Training Student, Baseball, Tennis, Basketball, Soccer, Football
2013 - 2014	Cole Health Rehabilitation, The Woodlands, TX	Physical Therapy Tech
2012 - 2013	The Woodlands Specialized Therapy and Rehab Services, St. Luke's Hospital, The Woodlands, TX	Physical Therapy Tech

# **III. TEACHING ACTIVITY**

# University of Kentucky:

Years	Course number	<b>Course Title</b>	Role	Number of students
Spring 2019	AT 690	Orthopedic Evaluation & Rehabilitation of the	Teaching Assistant	11
		Upper Extremity		

# Texas Christian University:

Years	Course number	Course Title	Role	Number of students
Fall 2016	KINE 30303	Orthopedic Assessment I	Teaching Assistant	12
Spring 2017	KINE 30313	Orthopedic Assessment II	Teaching Assistant	12

# University of Houston:

Years	Course number	Course Title	Role	Number of students
2014 - 2015	ATP 6101	Anatomical Basis of Athletic Injury - Cadaver Lab	Teaching Assistant	20

## IV. RESEARCH AND CREATIVE PRODUCTIVITY

## PUBLICATIONS

## Published Journal Articles: Citation

- 1. Cascia N, Picha K, Hettrich CM, Uhl T. Considerations of Conservative Treatment After a Partial Ulnar Collateral Ligament Injury in Overhead Athletes: A Systematic Review. *Sports Health*. 2019; 1-8
- 2. Silverson O, Cascia N, Hettrich CM, Hoch M, Uhl T. Reliability of Clinical Assessment Methods to Measure Scapular Upward Rotation: A Critically Appraised Topic. *J Sport Rehabil.* 2018; 1-21.
- **3. Cascia N**, Uhl T, Hettrich CM. Return to Play Following Non-Operative Management of Partial Ulnar Collateral Ligament Injuries in Professional Baseball Players: A Critical Appraisal Topic. *J Sport Rehabil.* 2018; 1-5

#### Referred Published Abstracts: Citation

- 1. Cascia N, Takashima H, Yellen J, Knoblauch M. Common Plantar Digital Nerve Pain Due To Lumbopelvic Dysfunction in a Collegiate Baseball Player: A Case Report. Southwest Athletic Trainers' Association Free Communications and Research Committee Research Supplement 2015.
- 2. Silverson OA, Cascia N, Hettrich CM, Heebner, NR, Uhl TL. Reliability of a Clinical Assessment Tool for Measuring Scapular Mobility *Journal of Athletic Training, Volume 54, Number 6, Supplement 2019.*
- **3. Cascia N**, Jacobs C, Ortiz S, Hettrich, CM, Wolf B. Poor Surgical Expectations for Patients with Shoulder Instability are Associated with Mental Health and Race. *Journal of Athletic Training, Volume 54, Number 6, Supplement 2019.*